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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 

To the Shareholders of 
FIRST BANK S.A. 
 
Report on the Audit of the financial statements   
 
Opinion 
 
1. We have audited the financial statements of FIRST BANK S.A. (the “Bank”), with registered office in Sos. Nicolae Titulescu 29-31, District 1, 

Bucharest, Romania, identified by the unique tax registration code RO 7025592 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2021, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, including a summary of significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements. 

 
2. The financial statements as at December 31, 2021 are identified as follows: 

 

• Equity        RON 797,110 thousand 

• Net Profit for the year      RON   57,071 thousand 
 
3. In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 

December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and National Bank of Romania Order no. 27/2010 for the approval of 
Accounting regulation in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, with 
subsequent amendments, (“Order 27/2010”). 

 
Basis for Opinion 
 
4. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European 

Parliament and the Council (forth named The “Regulation”) and Law 162/2017 (“the Law”). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code), in accordance with ethical requirements relevant for the audit of the financial statements in Romania including the Regulation and 
the Law, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Key Audit Matters 
 
5. Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements 

of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

http://www.deloitte.ro/
http://www.deloitte.com/ro/despre
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Nature of the area of focus How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Collective impairment of loans and advances to customers  

Following the adoption of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 
(“IFRS 9”), the Bank accounts for credit losses based on 
expected credit losses (ECL): for a period up to 12 month for 
credit exposures for which the credit risk did not increase 
significantly since origination and for credit life time for 
those with significant increase in credit risk, as detailed in 
impairment policy from Note 2.13 to the financial 
statements.  
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank's key financial 
statements lines with significant impact from the adoption 
of IFRS 9 are Loans and advances to customers amounting 
to RON 3,910,185 thousand (net of the related ECL 
allowances amounted to RON 202,764 thousand). 
The Bank exercises significant judgement using subjective 
assumptions over both when and how much to record as 
ECL for loans and receivables. Since determination of 
appropriate impairment allowances for expected credit 
losses on loans and receivables requires use of complex 
models (generally dependent on IT elements) and 
significant judgement from the Management, process of 
measuring expected credit losses may be exposed to 
management bias. Because loans and receivables form a 
major portion of the Bank's assets, and due to the 
significance of the Management professional judgments 
applied in classifying loans and receivables into various 
stages stipulated in IFRS 9 and determining related 
impairment requirements, this audit area is considered a 
key audit matter. 
 
Key areas of professional judgment exercised by the 
Management included:  
 
• The use of historic data in the process of determining 

risk parameters; 
 
• The interpretation of the requirements to determine 

receivables impairment under application of IFRS 9, 
which is reflected in the expected credit loss model;  

 
• Assumptions used in the expected credit loss models 

to assess the credit risk related to the exposure and 
the expected future cash flows of the customers;  

 
• Timely identification of exposures with a significant 

increase in credit risk and credit impairment; 
 
•  Potential impact on the assumptions used, increases 

in credit risk and impairments, and future cash flows 
as a result of the socio-economic consequences of the 
COVID-19 virus crisis, including the post public 
moratorium impact ; 

 
• The assessment of the forward-looking information. 
 

Based on our risk assessment and industry knowledge, with the support of 
our Credit risk experts, we have examined the impairment charges for loans 
and evaluated the methodology applied as well as the key assumptions and 
source data used by the Management according to the description of the key 
audit matter. 
 
Our procedures included the following elements:  
 

• Testing of key controls in respect of: 
 

- quality assurance of the source data used in developing 
professional judgements and ECL related models; 

- timely identification of impairment triggers, including significant 
increase in credit risk; 

- debtors’ financial performance assessment and estimation of 
future cash flow; 

- the governance processes in place for credit models, inputs and 
overlays, review of ECLs and post model adjustments approval. 

 

• Obtaining and analysing the information to support the assumptions 
used in:  

 
- Development of the models for computation of the key risk 

parameters (12 month Probability of default, Lifetime Probability 
of default and Loss Given Default), including procedures on the 
source data quality; 

- Development of the expected credit loss models;  

- Development and appropriateness of the stage allocation and 
criteria used for determination of significant increase in credit 
risk. 

- Development of models to reflect the potential impact of future 
economic conditions in the ECL computation; 

- Post-model adjustments for particular high-risk portfolios, 
captured in the expected credit loss model. As regards 
macroeconomic parameters, we assessed the analysis prepared 
by the Bank’s management as to the necessity to manually 
adjust macroeconomic and other parameters of the IFRS 9 
model to fairly reflect the expected degree of defaults and 
recoverability of loans in the future. We tested the 
completeness, accuracy and validity of qualitative adjustments 
made to model and assessed key changes in high-risk portfolios 
since last year in relation to industry standards and historical 
data; 
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Nature of the area of focus How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

For all of the above procedures, we involved credit risk specialists to review 
the ECL model development, forward-looking models and code to test 
whether these appropriately reflected the Bank’s policies and 
methodologies. 
 

• Verifying the accurate implementation of the ECL computation 
methodology into the IT computation systems, including:  

• Test the general IT controls related to the data sources and 
computations of ECL; 

• Assessment on a sample basis of the credit quality and stage allocation;  

• Test on a sample basis the ECL computations. 

Interest and Fee Income Recognition  

Refer to Note 25 and 26 of the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 the interest income 
represents RON 257,893 thousand and fee and commission 
income represents RON 113,476 thousand, the main source 
being loans to customers. These are the main contributors 
to the operating income of the Bank affecting the 
profitability. 
 
While interest income is accrued over the expected life of 
the financial instrument using the effective interest rate, 
the recognition of fee income depends on the nature of the 
fees as follows: 
 

• Fees that are directly attributable to the financial 
instrument are part of the effective interest rate 
and accrued over the expected life of such an 
instrument and are presented as interest income; 

 

• Fees for services provided are recognized when 
service is provided and are presented as fee and 
commission income;  

 

• Fees for the execution of an act are recognized 
when the act has been completed and are 
presented as fee and commission income.  

 
Revenue recognition specifics, a high volume of individually 
small transactions which depends on data quality of interest 
and fee inputs and on IT solutions for their recording, 
resulted in this matter being identified as a key audit 
matter. 

 
 

We have tested the design and operating effectiveness of the key internal 
controls and focused on: 
 

• Interest/fee inputs on customer loans and deposits from 
customers; 

 

• Recording/changes of fees and interest rates; 
 

• Management oversight and control on interest and fee income, 
including budget monitoring; 

 

• IT controls relating to access rights and change management of 
relevant automated controls with the assistance of our IT 
specialists.  

 
We performed also the following procedures with regard to interest and fees 
revenue recognition: 
 
- We evaluated the accounting treatment applied by the Bank in respect of 
fees charged to clients to determine whether the methodology complies 
with the requirement of the relevant accounting standard. We have focused 
our testing on challenging the correct classification of: 
 

• Fees that are identified as directly attributable to the financial 
instrument and are part of the effective interest rate; 

 

• Fees that are not identified as directly attributable to the financial 
instrument. 

 
- We assessed the completeness and accuracy of data used for the 
calculation of interest and fee income. 
 
- We evaluated the mathematical formula used for accruing the relevant 
income over expected life of the loan. 
 
- We have assessed the interest and fee income by building our own 
expectation on the revenue and compared with the actual results of the 
Bank. 
 
- We assessed the disclosures related to interest and fee income against the 
requirements of IFRS standards. 
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Other information – Administrator’s Report  
 
6. Management is responsible for preparation and presentation of the other information. The other information comprises the 

Administrator’ report which includes the non-financial information declaration, but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditors report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the  financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
With respect to the Administrator’s report, (“Administrator’s report”), we read and report if this has been prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the provisions of the National Bank of Romania Order no. 27/2010, articles 12-16. 
 
On the sole basis of the procedures performed within the audit of the financial statements, in our opinion:  
 
a) The information included in the administrator’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements have been prepared 

are consistent, in all material respects, with these financial statements; 

b) The administrator report has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the National Bank of 
Romania Order no. 27/2010, articles 12-16. 

 
Moreover, based on our knowledge and understanding concerning the Bank and its environment gained during the audit on the financial 
statements prepared as at 31 December 2021, we are required to report if we have identified a material misstatement of this 
Administrator’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  
 
7. Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Order 27/2010 and 

for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

8. In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

9. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
10. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 
11. As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.   

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
12. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 

13. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 

14. From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
  
Requirements for audits of public interest entities 
 
15. We have been appointed by the General Assembly of Shareholders on 4 May 2021 to audit the financial statements of FIRST BANK S.A. for 

the financial year ended December 31, 2021. The uninterrupted total duration of our commitment is 5 years, covering the financial year 
ended as of 31 December 2017, until 31 December 2021. 

 
We confirm that: 
 

• Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Committee of the Bank that we issued the same 
date we issued this report. Also, in conducting our audit, we have retained our independence from the Bank. 

• No non-audit services referred to in Article 5 (1) of EU Regulation No. 537/2014 were provided. 
 
The engagement Partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Claudiu Ghiurluc.  
 
Claudiu Ghiurluc, Audit Partner 
 

For signature, please refer to the  
original signed Romanian version. 

 
Registered in the Electronic Public Register of Financial  
Auditors and Audit Firms under no. AF 3113 
 
On behalf of: 
 
DELOITTE AUDIT S.R.L. 
 
Registered in the Electronic Public Register of Financial  
Auditors and Audit Firms under no. FA 25 
 
The Mark Building, 84-98 and 100-102 Calea Griviței, 9th Floor, District 1 
Bucharest, Romania 
4 May 2022 











 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(all amounts in RON thousand unless otherwise stated)  

Translation from the original Romanian version. 
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 Note  31 December 

 2021 
 31 December 

2020 
      
Cash flows from operating activities:      
Interest received   238,138  217,894 
Interest paid   (40,172)  (64,083) 
Fee and commission received   108,974  104,327 
Fee and commission paid   (21,483)  (20,459) 
Income received from financial derivatives   (2,890)  2,682 
Income received from trading in foreign currencies   14,386  14,936 
Income received from investment securities    14,237  242 
Other operating income/(expenses)   7,898  2,657 
Sales of loans and recoveries on loans previously written off   33,457  37,676 
Cash payments to employees    (124,025)  (157,473) 
Cash payments to third parties (suppliers)   (99,572)  (133,806) 
Income tax (paid)/received   (5,981)  - 
      
Net cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating 

assets and liabilities 
  122,967  4,594 

      
Change in operating assets:       
Decrease/(Increase) in due from other banks   56,455  (10,235) 
(Increase)/Decrease in loans and advances to customers   (241,710)  325,392 
(Increase) /Decrease in other assets    (18,343)  28,399 
      
Total changes in operating assets    (203,598)  343,557 
      
Change in operating liabilities:      
(Decrease)/Increase in deposits due to  other banks   (143,828)  52,562 
(Decrease) in amounts due to customers   (307,690)  (231,232) 
Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities    4,144  (12,132) 
      
Total changes in operating assets    (447,375)  (190,802) 
      
Net cash (used in) / from in operating activities    (528,006)  157,349 
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1 REPORTING ENTITY 
 
First Bank S.A. (the “Bank”) is registered in Romania since 1995 as a joint stock Company and is licensed by the National Bank of 
Romania to conduct banking activities. The accompanying financial statements are stated in Romanian leu (RON), the presentation 
currency of the Bank. All financial information presented in thousands RON has been rounded to the nearest thousand.  
 
The Bank provides retail and commercial banking services to companies and private individuals. These include: accounts opening, 
attracting deposits, domestic and international payments, foreign exchange transactions, working capital finance, medium and long 
term facilities, retail loans, bank guarantees and letter of credits. In addition, First Bank offers loan portfolio administration services. 
Currently, the Bank is servicing business and retail loans of two major Greek lenders. 
 
The Bank operates through its head office located in Bucharest and a network of 52 branches and offices (31 December 2020: 56) 
located in Romania. The Bank had 1,039 employees as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 1,061). 
The registered office of the Bank is: Sos. Nicolae Titulescu nr. 29-31, Bucharest, Sector 1, Romania. 
 
First Bank is directly controlled by JCF IV Tiger Holdings S.à r.l. (Luxembourg), with registered office in 5, rue Guillaume Kroll, L-1882 
Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. 
 
Up to 28th of June 2018, the Bank was part of Piraeus Bank Group (Piraeus Bank S.A., Greece), which is listed on the Athens Stock 
Exchange, having its registered office at 4, Amerikis Str, 10 364 Athens, Greece.  
 
An agreement for the sale and purchase of 99.99973% of Piraeus Bank Group’s shares in First Bank SA (former Piraeus Bank Romania 
SA) was signed on 21 December 2017 between Piraeus Bank S.A. and J.C. Flowers & Co. On 28th of June 2018, J.C. Flowers & Co. 
completed the acquisition process of First Bank SA having received the necessary approvals from the National Bank of Romania. In 
October 2018, the Bank changed its name from “Piraeus Bank Romania SA” to “First Bank SA”. 
 
J.C. Flowers & Co. is a leading private investment firm dedicated to investing globally in the financial services industry. Founded in 
1998, the firm has invested more than US$ 15 billion of capital in 53 portfolio companies in 18 countries, across a range of industry 
subsectors that include banking, insurance and reinsurance, securities firms, specialty finance, and services and asset management. 
With more than US$ 6 billion of assets under management, J.C. Flowers & Co. has offices in New York and London. 
 
The shareholding structure of the Bank is presented below: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
JCF IV Tiger Holdings S.a.r.l 99.98051%  99.98051% 
Individuals 0.01949%  0.01949% 
    
Total 100.00%  100.00% 

 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union (“IFRS”) and National Bank of Romania Order 27/2010, as amended (“NBR Order 27/2010”), under the 
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale investments (through other comprehensive income), 
trading securities and derivative transactions at fair value through profit and loss account. The principal accounting policies applied 
in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods 
presented, unless otherwise stated.  
 

2.2 Functional and presentation currency 
 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 
Functional currency of the Bank is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates. The financial statements 
are presented in Romanian Leu (“RON”) which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency, rounded to the nearest thousands, 
except when otherwise indicated. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2 Functional and presentation currency (continued) 
 
(b) Transaction and balances 
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the official exchange rate valid at the 
transaction date. Exchange differences resulting from the settlement of transactions denominated in foreign currency are included 
in profit or loss at the time of settlement using the exchange rate ruling on that date. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are expressed in RON as at the balance sheet date. At 31 December 
2021 the exchange rate used for translating foreign currency balances was EUR 1 = RON 4.9481 (31 December 2020: EUR 1 = RON 
4.8694), USD 1 = RON 4.3707 (31 December 2020: USD 1 = RON 3.9660) and CHF 1 = RON 4.7884 (31 December 2020: CHF 1 = RON 
4.4997).  
 
Foreign currency gains and losses arising from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are reflected in the profit or loss for 
the year. Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as fair value through other 
comprehensive income/available for sale are analysed by comparison between translation differences resulting from changes in the 
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences on non-monetary 
items, such as equities classified as available for sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in other comprehensive 
income. 
 

2.3 Use of estimates and judgments   
 
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in 
Note 3. 
 
The significant accounting methods and policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements. 
 

2.4 New Standards and Interpretations  
 
(a) Adoption of new/revised/amended IFRS 
 
The following new standards, amendments to the existing standards and new interpretation issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union (“EU”), applicable to the Bank, are effective for the current reporting 
period: 
 

• Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, IFRS 
7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” and IFRS 16 “Leases” - Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform — Phase 2 adopted by the EU on 13 January 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2021), 

 
• Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 adopted by the EU on 

30 August 2021 (effective from 1 April 2021 for financial years starting, at the latest, on or after 1 January 2021), 
 

• Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts “Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9” adopted 
by the EU on 16 December 2020 (the expiry date for the temporary exemption from IFRS 9 was extended from 1 
January 2021 to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

 
The adoption of these amendments to the existing standards has not led to any material changes in the Bank’s financial statements. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.4 New Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
 
(b) Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU but not yet effective 
 
At the reporting date, IFRSs as adopted by the EU do not significantly differ from regulations adopted by the IASB except for the 
following standards and amendments to the existing standards, which are applicable to the Bank and which were not endorsed as at 
the date of authorisation of these financial statements: 
 

• Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” - Proceeds before Intended Use adopted by the EU on 28 
June 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022),  
 

• Amendments to IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” - Onerous Contracts - Cost of 
Fulfilling a Contract adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2022), 
 

• Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” - Reference to the Conceptual Framework with amendments to 
IFRS 3 adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022), 

 
• IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” including amendments to IFRS 17 issued by IASB on 25 June 2020 - adopted by the EU 

on 19 November 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
• Amendments to various standards due to “Improvements to IFRSs (cycle 2018 -2020)” resulting from the annual 

improvement project of IFRS (IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41) primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and 
clarifying wording - adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (The amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9 and IAS 41 are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The amendment to IFRS 16 only regards an illustrative 
example, so no effective date is stated.). 

 
The adoption of amendments to the existing standards has not led to any material changes in the Bank’s financial statements. 
 
(c) New standards and amendments to the existing standards issued by IASB but not yet adopted by the EU 
 
At present, IFRS as adopted by the EU do not significantly differ from regulations adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) except for the following new standards and amendments to the existing standards, which were not endorsed for use in 
EU as at publishing date of these financial statements (the effective dates stated below is for IFRS as issued by IASB): 
 

• IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016) - the 
European Commission has decided not to launch the endorsement process of this interim standard and to wait for 
the final standard, 

 
• Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

• Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
• Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” - Definition of Accounting 

Estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

• Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
• Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture and further 
amendments (effective date deferred indefinitely until the research project on the equity method has been 
concluded), 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.4 New Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
 

• Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts” - Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative Information 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

 
The Bank did not early-adopt new or amended standards in 2021. 
 

2.5 Going concern 
 
The Bank’s management has assessed the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Bank has the resources 
to continue its business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis. 
 

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities 
 

2.6.1 Financial assets 
 
a) Classification 
 
In accordance with IFRS 9 classification, the Bank classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories based on the 
assessment of business model and SPPI characteristics, as follows:  
 

- Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and cash flows represent solely payments of 
capital and interest (SPPI) are classified and measured at amortised cost. In this category the Bank includes the loans 
granted to customers, deposits placed with banks and sub-portfolio of government bonds.  

- Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets and the contractual cash 
flows represent solely payments of capital and interest are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. In this category the Bank includes a sub-portfolio of government bonds.  

- Financial assets that are held for trading, regardless of the cash flow characteristics are measured at fair value through 
profit and loss. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.  

 
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets is generally based on the Bank’s business model to manage the assets 
and the cash flow characteristics of the assets.  
 
Before 1 January 2018, the Bank classified its financial assets as loans and receivables (amortised cost), FVPL or available-for- sale 
category based on:  
 

- intention to sell or repurchase in the near term;  
- designation upon initial recognition as at FVPL or as available-for-sale;  
- positive intention and ability to hold until maturity.  

 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
 
The Bank measures financial assets at amortised cost if the following conditions are cumulatively met:  
 

- the financial asset is held to collect the contractual cash flows; and 
- the contractual terms of the financial asset generate, at certain dates, cash flows that are exclusively principal 

payments and interest on the principal due.  
 
In order to verify these conditions, the Bank assesses loan agreements in respect of exclusive collections of principal and interest, 
hereinafter referred to as the SPPI test. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

2.6.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
a) Classification (continued) 
 
The purpose of the SPPI test is to determine whether an agreement signed between the parties generates cash flows that represent 
only principal repayments and interest payments calculated at the principal amount at the dates convened in the schedule agreed 
upon by the parties. The Bank considers that a financial asset can be measured at amortised cost only if it meets the conditions of 
the SPPI test. More complex agreements, which provide not only cash flows from principal and interest payments, should be 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
The above category is measured at amortised cost using effective interest method and is periodically assessed for expected credit 
losses. 
 
During the implementation of IFRS 9, financial assets measured at amortised cost under IAS 39 were classified as financial assets at 
amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9. 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  
 
In this category are classified the financial assets that satisfy both of the following criteria:  
 

- are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets,  

- the contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
The above category is periodically assessed for expected credit losses. 
 
Equity instruments that are not held for trading are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with no recycling 
of gains or losses to profit or loss on derecognition. Except for dividends, which are directly recognized in profit or loss, all other gains 
and losses arising from those instruments are directly recognized in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or 
loss.  
 
For those equity instruments there is no impairment assessment. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets included in this category are:  
 

- those acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term to obtain short term profit (held for trading).  
- those that do not meet the criteria to be classified into one of the above categories  
- Indemnification assets 
- those the Bank designated, at initial recognition, as at fair value through profit or loss; this classification option, which 

is irrevocable, is used when the designation eliminates an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise from 
measuring financial assets and liabilities on a different basis (i.e. amortized cost) in relation to another financial asset 
or liability (i.e. derivatives which are measured at fair value through profit or loss).  

 
As at the reporting date, the Bank recognized an indemnity asset as part of the purchase agreement with JCF IV Tiger Holdings S.a.r.l. 
in which the Bank acquired certain receivables under the indemnities provided in the SPA concluded between Piraeus Bank Greece 
and JCF IV Tiger Holding for the sale of shares in First Bank SA. For more information see note 6 Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
 
Indemnification assets are recognised and measured, separately from goodwill, as at the acquisition date as part of the recognition 
and measurement of identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
 
The Bank recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when, and only when, the Bank becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

2.6.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
b) Recognition, derecognition and initial measurement 
 
A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised using either trade date accounting or settlement date accounting. The 
Bank applies the same method consistently for all purchases and sales of financial assets having the similar classification.  
 
A contract that requires or permits net settlement of the change in the value of the contract is not a regular way contract. Such a 
contract is accounted for as a derivative in the period between the trade date and the settlement date. 
 
The trade date is the date that the Bank commits itself to purchase or sell an asset. Trade date accounting refers to: 
 

(i) the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and  
the derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the recognition of a receivable 
(ii) from the buyer for payment on the trade date. 

 
The settlement date is the date that an asset is delivered to or by the Bank. Settlement date accounting refers to:  
 

(i) the recognition of an asset on the day it is received by the Bank, and 
(ii) the derecognition of an asset and recognition of any gain or loss on disposal on the day that it is delivered by the 

Bank. 
 
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value minus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. 
 
The fair value of a financial asset at initial recognition is normally the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given). 
 
If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price, the Bank shall account for that 
instrument at that date as follows:  
 

(a) at fair value less transaction costs, if that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical 
asset or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets. The Bank will recognise the 
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price as a gain or loss.  

 
(b) in all other cases, at fair value less transaction costs, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial 

recognition and the transaction price. After initial recognition, the Bank will recognise that deferred difference as a 
gain or loss only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market participants would 
take into account when pricing the asset or liability. 

 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Bank has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. The transfer is considered to be effective only if the price of transferred 
financial assets is cashed by the Bank. The price will be recognised as income at the time of its encashment. 
 
When the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a financial asset (the ‘original asset’), but assumes a 
contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities (the ‘eventual recipients’), the Bank treats the transaction as 
a transfer of a financial asset if, and only if, all of the following three conditions are met: 
 

(a) The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it collects equivalent amounts from the 
original asset. Short-term advances by the Bank with the right of full recovery of the amount lent plus accrued interest 
at market rates do not violate this condition.  

 
(b) The Bank is prohibited by the terms of the transfer contract from selling or pledging the original asset other than as 

security to the eventual recipients for the obligation to pay them cash flows.  
 

(c) The Bank has an obligation to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material 
delay. In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or cash 
equivalents during the short settlement period from the collection date to the date of required remittance to the 
eventual recipients, and interest earned on such investments is passed to the eventual recipients. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

2.6.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
c) Subsequent measurement 
 
After initial recognition, the bank measures a financial asset in accordance with initial recognition, at:  

 
(a)  amortised cost;  
(b)  fair value through other comprehensive income; or  
(c)  fair value through profit or loss. 

 
The Bank applies the IFRS impairment requirements to financial assets that are measured at amortised cost and to financial assets 
that are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the financial asset is held within a 
business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and (b) the contractual terms of 
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 
 
A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the 
financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets and (b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows are 
measured at amortised cost and they are managed to realise cash flows by collecting contractual payments over the life of the 
instrument. That is, the Bank manages the assets held within the portfolio to collect those particular contractual cash flows (instead 
of managing the overall return on the portfolio by both holding and selling assets). In determining whether cash flows are going to be 
realised by collecting the financial assets' contractual cash flows, it is necessary to consider the frequency, value and timing of sales 
in prior periods, the reasons for those sales and expectations about future sales activity. However, sales in themselves do not 
determine the business model and therefore cannot be considered in isolation. Instead, information about past sales and expectations 
about future sales provide evidence related to how the Bank's stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and, 
specifically, how cash flows are realised 
 
The Bank holds financial assets in a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets. In this type of business model, the Bank made a decision that both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets are integral to achieving the objective of the business model. There are various objectives that may be consistent with 
this type of business model. For example, the objective of the business model may be to manage everyday liquidity needs, to maintain 
a particular interest yield profile or to match the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that those assets are 
funding. To achieve such an objective, the Bank will both collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets. 
 
Compared to a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, this business model will 
typically involve greater frequency and value of sales. This is because selling financial assets is integral to achieving the business 
model's objective instead of being only incidental to it. However, there is no threshold for the frequency or value of sales that must 
occur in this business model because both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets are integral to achieving its 
objective. Assets held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
A gain or loss on a financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except for impairment gains or losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised or 
reclassified. When the financial asset is derecognised the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. If the financial asset is reclassified out of the fair 
value through other comprehensive income measurement category, the Bank will account for the cumulative gain or loss that was 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income. Interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit 
or loss. 
 



 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(all amounts in “RON thousand”, unless otherwise stated) 

 

Translation from the original Romanian version. 
19 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

2.6.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
c) Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
If a financial instrument that was previously recognised as a financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss and its fair 
value decreases below zero, it is a financial liability. 
 
All investments in equity instruments and contracts on those instruments must be measured at fair value. However, in limited 
circumstances, cost may be an appropriate estimate of fair value. That may be the case if insufficient more recent information is 
available to measure fair value, or if there is a wide range of possible fair value measurements and cost represents the best estimate 
of fair value within that range. 
 
Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss if they are not held within a business model whose objective is to 
hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets. One business model that results in measurement at fair value through profit or loss is one in 
which the Bank manages the financial assets with the objective of realising cash flows through the sale of the assets. The Bank makes 
decisions based on the assets' fair values and manages the assets to realise those fair values. In this case, the Bank's objective will 
typically result in active buying and selling. 
 
At the end of each subsequent reporting period, the Bank measures an indemnification asset that was recognised at the acquisition 
date on the same basis as the indemnified liability or asset, subject to any contractual limitations on its amount and, for an 
indemnification asset that is not subsequently measured at its fair value, management’s assessment of the collectibility of the 
indemnification asset. The acquirer shall derecognise the indemnification asset only when it collects the asset, sells it or otherwise 
loses the right to it. 
 
d) Reclassification 
 
When the Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets it shall reclassify all affected financial assets. If the Bank 
reclassifies financial assets, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date.  
 
When the entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category and 
into the amortised cost measurement category, the financial asset is reclassified at its fair value at the reclassification date. However, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is removed from equity and adjusted against the 
fair value of the financial asset at the reclassification date. As a result, the financial asset is measured at the reclassification date as if 
it had always been measured at amortised cost. This adjustment affects other comprehensive income but does not affect profit or 
loss and therefore is not a reclassification adjustment. The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are 
not adjusted as a result of the reclassification. 
 
Both the amortised cost measurement category and the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category 
require that the effective interest rate is determined at initial recognition.  
Both of those measurement categories also require that the impairment requirements are applied in the same way. Consequently, 
when the Bank reclassifies a financial asset between the amortised cost measurement category and the fair value through other 
comprehensive income measurement category: 
 

(a) the recognition of interest revenue will not change and therefore the Bank continues to use the same effective 
interest rate.  

 
(b) the measurement of expected credit losses will not change because both measurement categories apply the same 

impairment approach. However, if a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through other comprehensive 
income measurement category and into the amortised cost measurement category, a loss allowance would be 
recognised as an adjustment to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the reclassification date. If a 
financial asset is reclassified out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value through other 
comprehensive income measurement category, the loss allowance would be derecognised (and thus would no longer 
be recognised as an adjustment to the gross carrying amount) but instead would be recognised as an accumulated 
impairment amount (of an equal amount) in other comprehensive income and would be disclosed from the 
reclassification date. 

 
When the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category, the effective interest 
rate is determined on the basis of the fair value of the asset at the reclassification date. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

2.6.1 Financial assets (continued) 
 
d) Reclassification (continued) 
 
If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value through profit or loss 
measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a difference between the 
previous amortised cost of the financial asset and fair value is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and into the amortised cost 
measurement category, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount.  
 
If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value through other 
comprehensive income measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a 
difference between the previous amortised cost of the financial asset and fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are not adjusted as a result of the reclassification.  
 
If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category and into 
the amortised cost measurement category, the financial asset is reclassified at its fair value at the reclassification date. However, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is removed from equity and adjusted against the fair 
value of the financial asset at the reclassification date. As a result, the financial asset is measured at the reclassification date as if it 
had always been measured at amortised cost. This adjustment affects other comprehensive income but does not affect profit or loss 
and therefore is not a reclassification adjustment.  
 
The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are not adjusted as a result of the reclassification.  
 
If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and into the fair value 
through other comprehensive income measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured at fair value.  
 
If the Bank reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category and into 
the fair value through profit or loss measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured at fair value. The cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment at the reclassification date. 
 
e) Fair value measurement principles 
 
The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices in case of bonds and mid prices in case of 
derivatives. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities and derivatives), the Bank establishes fair value 
by using valuation techniques and internally developed models.  
 

2.6.2 Financial liabilities 
 
The Bank classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:  
 

(a) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Such liabilities, including derivatives that are liabilities, shall be 
subsequently measured at fair value.  

 
(b) financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the 

continuing involvement approach applies. 
 
(c) financial guarantee contracts. After initial recognition, such a contract will be subsequently measured at the higher 

of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative 
amount of income recognised  

 
(d) commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate. Such a commitment will be subsequently measured 

at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance and (ii) the amount initially recognised, when appropriate, the 
cumulative amount of income recognised contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 
combination. Such contingent consideration shall subsequently be measured at fair value with changes recognised in 
profit or loss 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

2.6.2 Financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities  
 
The Bank derecognizes a financial liability (or part thereof) when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expires.  
 
In cases that a financial liability is exchanged with another one with substantially different terms, the exchange is accounted for as an 
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new one. The same applies in cases of a substantial 
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the 
debtor).  
In cases of derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the financial liability) 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.  
 

2.7 Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right 
to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 
 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or as gain and losses arising 
from a group of similar transactions such as those from the Bank’s trading activity. 
 

2.8 Derivative financial instruments  
 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The methods of estimating the fair values are represented by market approach. Derivatives are carried 
as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. 
 
The Bank has in portfolio the following types of derivatives: currency swaps and forward, interest rate swaps and currency options. 
 
Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics 
and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss.   
 
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the profit and loss. The Bank held no 
embedded derivatives as at the reporting date. 
 
The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Bank did not designate any derivative transaction as a hedging 
instrument during its existence and, consequently, did not use hedge accounting. The fair value gain or loss has been recognised by 
the Bank through profit or loss in the line “Gains less (losses) from derivatives”. 
 

2.9 Interest income and expense 
 
Interest income and expense is recognised on an accrual basis in the income statement for all interest bearing balance sheet items 
according to the effective interest rate method. 
 
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a 
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  
 
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points 
paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts.   
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.9 Interest income and expense (continued) 
 
Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are treated as an adjustment to the effective 
interest rate, unless the financial instrument is measured at fair value, with the change in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. 
In those cases, the fees are recognised as revenue or expense when the instrument is initially recognised. 
 
Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument include:  
 

(a) origination fees received by the Bank relating to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset. Such fees may include 
compensation for activities such as evaluating the borrower's financial condition, evaluating and recording 
guarantees, collateral and other security arrangements, negotiating the terms of the instrument, preparing and 
processing documents and closing the transaction. These fees are an integral part of generating an involvement with 
the resulting financial instrument.  

 
(b) commitment fees received by the Bank to originate a loan when it is probable that the Bank will enter into a specific 

lending arrangement. These fees are regarded as compensation for an ongoing involvement with the acquisition of a 
financial instrument. If the commitment expires without the entity making the loan, the fee is recognised as revenue 
on expiry.  

 
(c) origination fees paid on issuing financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. These fees are an integral part of 

generating an involvement with a financial liability.  
 
Transaction costs include fees and commission paid to agents (including employees acting as selling agents), advisers, brokers and 
dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and security exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt 
premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs. 
 
For a financial asset that is not purchased or originated credit-impaired, the Bank calculates interest revenue as follows: 
 

- Gross method — If the financial asset has not become credit-impaired since initial recognition, the Bank applies the 
effective interest rate method to the gross carrying amount. The gross carrying amount represents the amortised cost 
of a financial asset, before adjusting for any loss allowance. 
 

- Net method — If the financial asset has subsequently become credit-impaired, the Bank applies the effective interest 
rate to the amortized cost balance, which is the gross carrying amount adjusted for any loss allowance. 

 
In some cases a financial asset is considered credit-impaired at initial recognition because the credit risk is very high, and in the case 
of a purchase it is acquired at a deep discount. The Bank is required to include the initial expected credit losses in the estimated cash 
flows when calculating the credit-adjusted effective interest rate for financial assets that are considered to be purchased or originated 
credit impaired at initial recognition. 
 

2.10 Fee and commission income 
 
The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its customers. Fee and commission 
income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Bank expects to be entitled in exchange for providing 
the services. 
 
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  Loan origination fees for 
loans which are probable of being drawn down, are deferred and recognised as adjustments to the effective yield on the loan. 
 
Fee and commission income consists mainly of fees and commissions received for the transfers of money for customers, trading of 
securities and foreign exchange, issuance of guarantees and letters of credit and fees charged for current accounts. 
 
The Bank’s fee and commission income also comprises commission charged to insurance companies for insurance intermediation. 
The Bank’s fee and commission income also comprises fees for payments transactions and card transactions. Revenue from such 
services is recognised in the period the services are provided and revenue earned. 
 
The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the inception of the 
contract. The Bank’s revenue contracts do not typically include multiple performance obligations, as explained further below. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.10 Fee and commission income (continued) 
 
Performance obligations satisfied over time include asset management, custody and other services, where the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Bank’s performance as the Bank performs. The Bank’s fee and 
commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time include the following: 
 
Servicing income for transferred financial assets: The Bank receives fees for providing specific administrative tasks in relation to 
certain assets it has transferred and derecognised. These services include collecting cash flows from borrowers and remitting them 
to beneficial interest holders, monitoring delinquencies and executing foreclosures. These services represent a single performance 
obligation comprised of a series of distinct daily services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer over 
the contract period. As the benefit to the customer of the services is transferred evenly over the contract period, these fees are 
recognised as revenue evenly over the period, based on time elapsed. 
 
Certain loan agreements concluded by the Bank were transferred under funded participation and assignment agreements to Piraeus 
Bank S.A. - London Branch at a different moment, after concluding the loan agreement. All risks and benefits related to these loans 
were transferred and the loans were derecognised in the balance sheet. After the transfer, the Bank acts as an agent of Piraeus Bank 
London Branch servicing the transferred loans and repossessed collaterals. For the services provided the Bank receives commissions 
as management fee and performance based success fees. The remuneration structure was amended at the end of June 2018, when 
the Bank’s ownership changed.  
 
Loan commitment fees: These are fees paid by customers for loan and other credit facilities with the Bank, but where it is unlikely 
that a specific lending arrangement will be entered into with the customer and the loan commitment is not measured at fair value. 
The Bank promises to provide a loan facility for a specified period. As the benefit of the services is transferred to the customer evenly 
over the period of entitlement, the fees are recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis. 
 
Interchange fees: The Bank provides its customers with credit card processing services (i.e., authorisation and settlement of 
transactions executed with the Bank’s credit cards) where it is entitled to an interchange fee for each transaction (i.e., when a credit 
cardholder purchases goods and services from merchants using the Bank’s credit card). These services represent a single performance 
obligation comprised of a series of distinct daily services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer over 
the contract period.  
 
The fees vary based on the number of transactions processed and are structured as either a fixed rate per transaction processed or 
at a fixed percentage of the underlying cardholder transaction. The variable interchange fees are allocated to each distinct day, based 
on the number and value of transactions processed that day, and the allocated revenue is recognised as the entity performs. 
 

2.11 Dividends 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they are approved by the 
Annual General Meeting of shareholders.  
 
Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the end of the reporting period 
and before the financial statements are authorized for issue, are disclosed in the subsequent events note. The statutory accounting 
reports of the Bank are the basis for profit distribution and other appropriations. 
 

2.12 Sale and repurchase agreements 
 
Securities sold under such sale and repurchase agreements are not derecognised. The securities are reclassified as repurchase 
receivables in the statement of financial position if the Bank (the transferee) has the right by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge 
the securities. The corresponding liability is presented within amounts due to other banks or other borrowed funds.  
 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repo agreements”), which effectively provide a lender’s return to the Bank, 
are recorded as due from other banks or loans and advances to customers, as appropriate. The difference between the sale and 
repurchase price, adjusted by interest and dividend income collected by the counterparty, is treated as interest income and accrued 
over the life of repo agreements using the effective interest method. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.13 Impairment of financial assets 
 
Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments, letters of credit and letters of 
guarantee  
 
The Bank, at each reporting date, recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss as well as for off-balance sheet exposures (letters of guarantee, letters of credit, and 
undrawn loan commitments).  
 
The loss allowance for loans and off-balance sheet exposures is based on expected credit losses related to the probability of default 
within the next twelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from the date of initial recognition in which 
case expected credit losses are recognized over the life of the instrument. 
 
If the financial asset falls under the definition of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, a loss allowance equal 
to the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized. 
 

a) Default definition  
 
The Bank has adopted as default definition non-performing exposures (NPE), as defined in the EC Regulation 2015/227 of 9 January 
2015 amending Implementing Regulation (EU) No. 680/2014 of the Commission with subsequent modifications, the definition of 
default used for accounting purposes being harmonized with the one used for regulatory purposes. 
 
The Bank defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit- impaired, when it meets one 
or more of the following criteria: 
 

• The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments (also including the EBA new default definition 
which is referring to significant overdue amount); 

• The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria:  
o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
o The borrower is in nonperforming forbearance situation due to concessions that have been made by the Bank 

relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty; 
o The borrower is in insolvency status or bankruptcy (or other type of judicial reorganization) or is becoming 

probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy; 
o Legal procedures have started against the borrower (legal enforcement started by the Bank); 
o The borrower and/or the mortgage guarantor sent notification for “payment in kind”; 
o Write off (total/partial) or sale; 
o The borrower is in breach of a significant financial covenant(s); 

• An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties; 
• Financial assets are purchased or originated at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

 
Exposures which are considered to be in default for regulatory purposes (CRR art. 178) will always be considered stage 3 exposures. 
Further on, stage 3 exposure are fully aligned with non-performing exposure (the entire amount of the customer’s exposure is 
considered to be non-performing). 
 
The Bank has implemented at the end of 2020 the European Banking Authority’s (EBA) definition of default (GL 2016-07), also 
considering the significance threshold of overdue obligation established by National Bank of Romania in order to comply with art 178 
CRR. This new indicator is considered a new “add-on” to default definition applied by the Bank (we do not exclude/ eliminate the day 
past due indicator considering contractual payment schedules). 
 
During 2021, PD models on all segments were recalibrated with new DOD for update of the data input with new information related 
to 2021 figures. Thus, the risk parameter model it’s a mix between old and new DOD for which the Bank considers that it’s the best 
estimated for the end of 2021 figures. 
 
Threshold for assessing the material significance of a credit obligation, as provided for in Article 178 (1) (b) of Regulation (EU) No. 
575/2013, consists of an absolute component and a relative component: 
 

• The absolute component is expressed as the maximum value of the sum of all the overdues amounts that a debtor owes to 
the Bank; 

• The relative component is expressed as a percentage that reflects the ratio between the value of the overdues loan 
obligations and the total exposures to that debtor. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

a) Default definition (continued) 
 
For this indicator, it is considered that the debtor is in default when both the limit expressed as the absolute component of the 
significance threshold and the limit expressed as the relative component of the significance threshold are exceeded for 90 consecutive 
days. According to NBR Regulation 5/2018, the level of the relative component and the level of the absolute component of the 
significance threshold is as follows: 
 

• For retail exposures: 
o The level of the relative component of the significance threshold is 1%; 
o The level of the absolute component of the significance threshold is RON 150. 

 
• For other types of exposures than retail exposures: 

o The level of the relative component of the significance threshold is 1%; 
o The level of the absolute component of the significance threshold is RON 1,000. 

 
The above criteria have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with the definition of default 
used for internal credit risk management purposes. An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. has been “cured”) 
when it no longer meets any of the default criteria for a consistent period of time, depending on the main trigger of the default 
classification. 
 

b) Classification of exposures into stages based on credit risk (Staging)  
 
Financial assets are classified in Stage 1, Stage 2 or Stage 3 according to their absolute or relative credit quality with respect to the 
initial payments. Thus: 
 

• Stage 1: includes  
o newly initiated or acquired credit exposures; 
o exposures for which credit risk did not increase significantly since initial recognition;  

 
• Stage 2: includes credit exposures which, although performing, have registered a significant increase of credit risk since 

initial recognition; 
 

• Stage 3: includes impaired credit exposures (including loans acquired upon Subsidiary acquisition). 
 
As an exception to the above, for purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) exposures, lifetime expected credit losses are always 
recognized. Purchased or originated credit impaired exposures include:  
 

• Exposures that at the time of acquisition meet the criteria to be classified as non- performing exposures.  
 

• Exposures for which there has been a change in repayment terms, either due to financial difficulty or not, which 
resulted in derecognition and recognition of a new impaired asset (POCI).  

 
For Stage 1 exposures, the expected loss is calculated over a timeline of up to one year. For Stage 2 or 3 exposures, the expected loss 
is calculated over a timeline corresponding to the lifetime of the exposure. 
 

c) Significant increase in credit risk  
 
In determining significant increase in credit risk of an exposure since initial recognition and the recognition of lifetime expected credit 
losses instead of 12 months expected credit losses, the Bank assesses, at each reporting date, the risk of default compared to the risk 
of default at initial recognition for all its performing exposures including those with no delinquencies. 
 
The assessment of the significant increase in credit risk is based on the following:  
 

• Quantitative criteria: refers to comparison of the probability of default (PD) between the reporting date and the date 
of initial recognition.  
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

c) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 
 

• Qualitative criteria: refers to the qualitative information used which is not necessarily reflected in the probability of 
default, such as the classification of an exposure as forborne performing (FPL, according to EBA). Additional qualitative 
indicators, both for corporate and retail portfolios are also reflected through the Early Warning indicators where 
depending on the underlying assessment, an exposure can be considered to have a significant increase in credit risk or 
not. 

 
• Backstop Indicators: in addition to the above, and in order to capture cases for which there are no triggers reflecting 

the increase in credit risk, based on qualitative and quantitative indicators, the 30 days past due indicator is used as a 
backstop. 

 
d) Calculation of expected credit loss  

 
Calculation of the expected credit loss is made in accordance with the following principles:  
 

• The expected loss on a one-year horizon (financial assets in Stage 1) is calculated based on a portfolio approach, 
multiplying the exposure by the marginal conditional default probability and the estimated loss given default for a 
period of one year. 

 
• The expected loss for the residual life of the asset (financial assets in Stage 2) is calculated based on a portfolio 

approach, multiplying the exposure by the marginal conditional default probability and the estimated loss given 
default for the residual life of the asset. 

 
The expected loss on impaired financial assets is determined based on the following approach: 
 

• Individual approach, for loans with significant exposure, by deducting from the exposure the present value of cash 
flows expected to be derived from collateral and the present value of cash flows expected to be recovered by the 
Bank from the client's operational activity based on the scenarios analysed by the Bank in terms of probability of a 
credit loss; 

 
• Portfolio approach, for the rest of the impaired loans, multiplying the exposure by the loss given default. 

 
For portfolio evaluation, the use of relevant segmentation and risk factors allows the calculation of a probability of default (PD), which 
differs by segmentation level identified, and the expected credit loss (ECL). 
 
The loan portfolio is first segmented by client type: (i) private individuals and (ii) legal entities and secondly by specific variables 
depending on the client type: (i) product and client behaviour score in case of private individuals and (ii) client segment, months-on-
book (MOB) and days-past-due (DPD) in case of legal entities. 
 
In order to calculate the ECL, lifetime PDs are used in the calculation model, in case of loans classified in Stage 2 and 12-month PDs 
(or shorter if the remaining credit lifetime is lower), with the following characteristics: 
 

- the PD is estimated throughout the lifetime of the asset; 
- the PD is “Point in Time” (PiT); 
- the PD is conditional, defined as the probability for an exposure/customer to become in default at “t+1”, given that it 

has not become in default until “t”; 
- the PD includes expectations of future macroeconomic conditions, incorporating forward looking information. 

 
To predict the PD, the following macroeconomic variables are used in the calculation model: real GDP growth, unemployment rate, 
and consumer price index . 
 
The projected PD curve is determined by using 3 macroeconomic scenarios, each of which has an associated probability of occurrence, 
while the final macroeconomic forecast introduced in the model is a weighted average thereof (the percentage considered is 50% for 
basic, 20% for optimistic and 30% for pessimistic). 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

d) Calculation of expected credit loss (continued) 
 
 
Below are the macroeconomic indicators taken into account and the overall forecast level, based on the facts and circumstances 
applicable on 31 December 2021: 
 
 
Base scenario: 
 
 

Year GDP CPI Unemployment Rate 

2021 7.00 7.50 5.00 

2022 5.10 5.90 4.80 

2023 5.20 3.20 4.50 

2024 4.50 3.00 4.20 
 
 
Optimist scenario: 
 
 

Year GDP CPI Unemployment Rate 

2021 7.30 7.00 4.90 

2022 5.50 5.50 4.50 

2023 5.30 3.00 4.10 

2024 5.00 2.50 3.90 
 
 
Pesimist Scenario: 
 
 

Year GDP CPI Unemployment Rate 

2021 6.00 8.00 6.00 

2022 3.50 6.50 5.50 

2023 3.75 4.00 5.50 

2024 4.00 3.50 5.50 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

e) Calculation of expected credit loss (continued) 
 
Weighted average: 
 

Year GDP CPI Unemployment Rate 

2021 6.76% 7.55% 5.28% 

2022 4.70% 6.00% 4.95% 

2023 4.79% 3.40% 4.72% 

2024 4.45% 3.05% 4.53% 
 
The above assumptions were made considering the economic data available of 31 December 2021. 
 
For credit commitments, the Bank considers the changes in the risk of default that arise in the credit associated to the commitment. 
 
For credit commitments not drawn, the loss means the present value of the difference between:  
 

- the contractual cash flows due to the Bank if the commitment holder were to draw the credit/ loan; and 
- the cash flows that the Bank expects to collect if the loan is drawn. 

 
LGD (expected loss given default) is the percentage of expected loss and, therefore, the expected recovery rate at the time of 
occurrence of the event. The Bank distinguishes in terms of LGD computation secured from unsecured exposures. 
 
LGD for unsecured exposures summarizes all cash flows collected from the customer after default, while for secured exposure the 
existing collateral adjusted with the Bank observed realisation value is considered. 
 
The LGD include costs and amounts recovered during the recovery cycle, including those due to collateral and reflects the time value 
of money, calculated as the present value of recoveries. 
 
The Bank's estimate of expected credit loss for credit commitments must be in line with its expectations for the use of the credit 
commitment, which means that the Bank will consider the portion of the commitment expected to be drawn within 12 months from 
the reporting date, when estimated for a 12-month ECL, and the portion of the commitment that is expected to be drawn over the 
expected lifetime of the credit commitment, when estimated for an ECL lifetime. 
 
In order to calculate the expected credit loss for credit commitments, the Bank uses the CCF-related regulations mentioned in 
Regulation 575/2013, examining the applicability of the criteria on its portfolio of financial assets measured at amortized cost. 
 
Post-model adjustments 
 
Post-model adjustment (PMA) are used in circumstances where existing inputs, assumptions and model techniques may not capture 
all relevant risk factors. The emergence of new macroeconomic, microeconomic or political events, along with expected changes to 
parameters, models or data that are not incorporated in current parameters, or forward-looking information are examples of such 
circumstances. 
 
For the year ended 2021 the Bank implemented and kept three types of post model adjustments relevant up to this date and PMA 
considered for 2020 - COVID 19 was revised and adjusted for current situation of the clients and this PMA was released at the end of 
2021.  
 
CHF loans 
 
For loans in CHF that benefited of currency conversion with further possible haircuts on exposure in case of good post-conversion 
performance, the Bank calculates a post-model adjustment to account for possible future haircuts. The value of the PMA is calculated 
based on the exposure at the moment of the possible additional haircuts multiplied by the probability of additional haircuts and the 
value of the haircuts.  
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

d) Calculation of expected credit loss (continued) 
 
Non-performing loans 
 
For non-performing loans, the Bank calculate the following PMA to account for risk of possible lower recoverability either through 
the realization of the collaterals or by voluntary repayments, risks that may not be fully captured by either ECL models or individual 
assessment. In this context peer group and banking system data are used as reference. 
 
For datio in solutum 
 
To cover the additional risk associated with datio in solutum of real estate in order to settle the obligations undertaken through loans, 
the Bank is calculating a PMA for loans that potentially fulfil the eligibility criteria for such action. 
 
The PMA is calculated by adding to the existing PD of the loans fulfilling the eligibility criteria mentioned above (portfolio at risk) the 
show-up rate (probability of datio in solutum) corresponding to a certain LTV bucket (determined based on LTV of each individual 
loan). 
 

e) Presentation of expected credit losses in the financial statements 
 
Expected credit loss is recognized as follows:  
 

• Financial assets measured at amortised cost: loss allowance is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying 
amount of the assets.  

• Financial assets classified at fair value through other comprehensive income: through profit or loss against reserves 
accounts.  

 
f) Credit impairment losses on due from banks and bonds  

 
The Bank, at each reporting date, recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on due from banks and bonds not measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
The loss allowance is based on expected credit losses related to the probability of default within the next twelve months, unless there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk from the date of initial recognition in which case expected credit losses are recognized 
over the life of the instrument. In addition, if the financial asset falls under the definition of purchased or originated credit impaired 
(POCI) financial assets, a loss allowance equal to the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized. 
 
Written-off loans 
 
The primary requirement for a credit to be written-off is when the likely prospects of generating future cash flows from the loans 
have disappeared and therefore total related loan outstanding exposure was fully covered with provisions for impairment calculated 
in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Bank continues however the legal actions against the debtors in order to collect the outstanding loans. 
 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised in the period in which they occur and decrease the amount 
of the impairment charge for credit losses in profit and loss. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.14 Repossessed collateral 
 
Repossessed collateral represents financial and non-financial assets acquired by the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The assets 
are initially recognised at fair value when acquired and included in property, plant and equipment, other financial assets or inventories 
within other assets depending on their nature and the Bank's intention in respect of recovery of these assets and are subsequently 
re-measured and accounted for in accordance with the accounting policies for these categories of assets. 
 
Repossessed assets are classified in the statement of financial position as ‘non-current assets held for sale’ if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, including loss of control of a subsidiary holding the assets, within twelve 
months after the end of the reporting period. Assets are reclassified when all of the following conditions are met: (a) the assets are 
available for immediate sale in their present condition; (b) the Bank’s management approved and initiated an active program to locate 
a buyer; (c) the assets are actively marketed for sale at a reasonable price; (d) the sale is expected within one year and (e) it is unlikely 
that significant changes to the plan to sell will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Non-current assets or disposal groups 
classified as held for sale in the current period’s statement of financial position are not reclassified or re-presented in the comparative 
statement of financial position to reflect the classification at the end of the current period. 
 
If the Bank has classified the repossessed collateral as held for sale but the IFRS 5 criteria above are no longer met, the Bank ceases 
to classify the asset as held for sale. 
 
The proceeds from sale of repossessed collaterals are presented in statement of profit and loss in line Sales of repossessed assets 
from foreclosed loans contracts. The derecognition of the assets once the sales are completed together with any provision movement 
is presented in cost of sales of repossessed assets from foreclosed loans contracts. 
 
Repossessed collaterals are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  
 

2.15 Intangible assets 
 
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance which is expected to be used for a period longer 
than one year and from which economic benefits will flow to the entity.  
 
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense when incurred. Costs 
that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Bank, and that will 
probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognized as intangible assets. Direct costs include 
software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 
 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives. 
 
Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 
 
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, from the date 
that it is available for use. The typical useful life of the software is 3-5 years. 
 

2.16 Premises and equipment 
 
Cost 
 
Property and equipment is stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment in value. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as 
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
 
Costs of repairs and day-to-day maintenance are expensed when incurred. Cost of replacing major parts or components of premises 
and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.16 Premises and equipment (continued) 
 
Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Depreciation 
 
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of premises and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate their cost less their residual values over their estimated useful lives. 
 

 Useful lives in years 
  
Leasehold improvements over the term of the underlying lease 5 
Buildings  50 
Office equipment, fixtures and fittings   3-20 
Vehicles 5 

 
2.17 Investment property 

 
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the 
ordinary course of business, use in the supply of services or for administrative purposes. 
 
Investment property is initially recognised at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently re-measured at fair value updated 
to reflect market conditions at the end of the reporting period. Fair value of investment property is the price at which the property 
could be sold in an orderly transaction in the principal market. An orderly transaction is not a forced transaction or a distress sale. 
The best evidence of fair value is given by current prices in an active market for similar property in the same location and condition. 
In the absence of current prices in an active market, the Bank considers information from a variety of sources, including:  
 

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those 
differences; 

 
(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic 

conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices; 
 
(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of any 

existing lease and other contracts and (when possible) by external evidence such as current market rents for similar 
properties in the same location and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the 
uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows; 

 
The fair value of the Bank’s investment property is determined based on reports of independent appraisers, who hold a recognized 
and relevant professional qualification, and who have had recent experience of the valuation of property in similar locations and of 
similar category; and 
Earned rental incomes are recorded in profit or loss for the year within other operating income. Gains and losses resulting from 
changes in the fair value of investment property are recorded in profit or loss for the year and presented separately. 
 

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. The Bank didn’t hold 
such assets in the reporting period. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.19 Lease liabilities 
 
The Bank enters into lease contracts, predominantly for land and buildings, as a lessee. Other categories are company cars and 
technical/IT equipment. 
 
The Bank assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
 
The Bank applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of low value. As a lessee, at the lease commencement date, the Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset representing 
its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 
 
The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-
measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities, adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and 
remove the underlying asset or to restore the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
The lease liability is measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable and variable lease payments that depend 
on an index or a rate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses in the period in 
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date 
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount 
of lease liabilities is re-measured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term or a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes 
to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments). 
 
Right-of-use assets are assessed for any indication of impairment at each quarterly reporting date. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount, which is the fair value less costs of disposal, must be estimated and an impairment charge is recorded to the 
extent the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. As right-of-use assets do not have independently generated cash 
flows to calculate its value in use, the Bank considers any sublease income that could reasonably be earned. After the recognition of 
impairment of an asset, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to reflect the asset’s revised carrying amount. If an 
impairment is later reversed, the depreciation charge is adjusted prospectively. 
 
The Bank applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases, i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date. It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of 
technical/IT equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

2.20 Lease receivables 
 
Where the Bank is a lessor in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee, the 
assets leased out are presented as a finance lease receivable and carried at the present value of the future lease payments. Finance 
lease receivables are initially recognised at commencement (when the lease term begins) using a discount rate determined at 
inception (the earlier of the date of the lease agreement and the date of commitment by the parties to the principal provisions of the 
lease). 
 
The difference between the gross receivable and the present value represents unearned finance income. This income is recognised 
over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to negotiating and arranging the lease are included in the initial measurement of the finance lease 
receivable and reduce the amount of income recognised over the lease term. Finance income from leases is recorded within “interest 
income” in profit or loss for the year. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.20 Lease receivables (continued) 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss for the year when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that 
occurred after the initial recognition of finance lease receivables. The Bank uses the same principal criteria to determine whether 
there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred, as for loans carried at amortised cost.  
 
Impairment losses are recognised through an allowance account to write down the receivables’ net carrying amount to the present 
value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred), discounted at the interest rates implicit 
in the finance leases. The estimated future cash flows reflect the cash flows that may result from obtaining and selling the assets 
subject to the lease. 
 

2.21 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity 
from the date of acquisition: cash; non-restricted balances with central banks, including minimum mandatory reserves; treasury bills 
and other eligible bills; due from other banks and short-term government securities. 
 
Amounts subject to a potential significant change in value due to high credit risk or other reasons are not cash and cash equivalents 
unless whole or significant part of the balance have been used in subsequent period without any restrictions or change in the value. 
 

2.22 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than 
not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Where there 
are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the 
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in 
the same class of obligations may be small.  
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense 
 

2.23 Financial guarantees contracts 
 
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 
 
Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts 
and other banking facilities. 
 
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial measurement, less 
amortisation calculated to recognise in the profit and loss the fee income earned on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee 
and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising at the balance sheet date. 
 
These estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgment 
of management.  
 

2.24 Performance guarantees 
 
Performance guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if another party fails to perform a contractual obligation. Such 
contracts transfer non-financial performance risk in addition to credit risk. Performance guarantees are initially recognised at their 
fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is amortised on a straight line basis over the life 
of the contract. At the end of each reporting period, the performance guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of (i) the 
unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition and (ii) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the contract at 
the end of each reporting period, discounted to present value. Where the Bank has the contractual right to revert to its customer for 
recovering amounts paid to settle the performance guarantee contracts, such amounts will be recognised as loans and receivables 
upon transfer of the loss compensation to the guarantee’s beneficiary. 
 



 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(all amounts in “RON thousand”, unless otherwise stated) 

 

Translation from the original Romanian version. 
34 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.25 Employee benefits 
 

(a) Short-term benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits include wages, salaries and social security contributions. Short-term employee benefits are recognized 
as expense as the services are rendered. 
 

(b) Defined contribution plan 
 
In the normal course of business, the Bank makes payments to the Romanian public pension funds on behalf of their employees for 
retirement, healthcare and unemployment allowances. All the employees of the Bank are members and are also legally obliged to 
make specific contributions (included in the social security contributions) to the Romanian public pension plan (a State defined 
contribution plan). All relevant contributions to the Romanian public pension plan are recognized as an expense in the income 
statement as incurred. The Bank does not have any further obligations. 
 

(c) Other benefits 
 
On the basis of internal policies, the Bank has an obligation to pay to retiring employees a benefit equivalent of two care allowances 
as at retirement date. The debt related to this benefit scheme is calculated on an actuarial basis, considering the salary estimated at 
the retirement date and the number of activity years of each individual employee. 
 
The Bank’s net obligation in respect of the retirement benefit is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. 
 
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the bank is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of 
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the 
reporting date, than they are discounted to their present value.  
 
The Bank does not have any obligation to provide subsequent services to the former or current employees. 
 

2.26 Levies / Taxes 
 
The retail deposits and certain deposits of legal entities are guaranteed up to EUR 100,000 equivalent by the Bank Deposit Guarantee 
Fund (the “FGDB”) according to the regulations in force (Law 311/2015). 
 
Romanian banks are obliged to pay an annual contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund, in order to guarantee the clients’ deposits 
in case of the credit institution’s insolvency, as well as an annual contribution to the Resolution Fund. 
 
The Bank applies IFRIC 21 ”Taxes” recognizing in full these contributions as expenses at the time the generating events occur. 
 

2.27 Income taxes 
 
In recording both the current and deferred income tax charge for the year ended, the Bank has computed the annual income tax 
charge based on Romanian profits tax legislation enforced at the balance sheet date. The tax rate used to calculate the current and 
deferred tax position at 31 December 2021 is 16% (31 December 2020: 16%). 
 

(a) Current income tax  
 
The Bank records profit tax upon net income from these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union and Order 27/2010 issued by the National Bank of Romania and profit tax legislation. 
Romanian profits tax legislation is based on a fiscal year ending on 31 December.  
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.27 Income taxes (continued) 
 

(b) Deferred income tax 
 
Differences between financial reporting under International Financial Reporting Standards and Romanian fiscal regulations give rise 
to differences between the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities and income and expenses for financial reporting and income 
tax purposes. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
To report the unutilized fiscal losses, the deferred tax claims are recognized only to the extent to which it is probable to obtain taxable 
profit in the future after compensation with the tax loss from the previous years and with the recoverable tax on profit. Deferred tax 
claims are diminished to the extent to which the related tax benefits are unlikely to be achieved.  
 

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.  
 
The most significant use of judgments and estimates are as follows:  
 

a) Fair value of financial instruments  
 
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of financial position cannot be derived 
from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of various models. The inputs 
to these models are derived from observable market data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, 
judgment is required to establish fair values. The valuation of financial instruments is described in more detail in Note 35.  
 

b) Expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost and FVOCI  
 
The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the 
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in 
different levels of allowances. 
 
The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on a monthly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be 
recorded in the profit or loss, the Bank makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an 
individual loan in that portfolio.  
 
The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by 
more than 90 days, whether a severe alteration in the counterparty’s financial standing is observed, entailing a high probability that 
the debtor will not be able to fully meet its credit obligations, whether concessions in the form of restructuring were consented under 
the circumstances of financial hardship experienced by the debtor, whether legal procedures were initiated or the debtor was 
transferred to specialized recovery structures (regardless of the number of days past due).  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 
 

b) Expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost and FVOCI (continued) 
 
In IFRS 9, the Bank’s expected credit loss model (ECL) relies on several underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs 
and their interdependencies, which affect the level of allowances:  
 

- The criteria defined (both in relative and absolute terms) for the assessment of significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition and consequently the computation of allowances based on life time expected credit loss (LTECL);  

- The grouping of financial assets when their ECL is measured on a collective basis;  
- The development of ECL model, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs;  
- The macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings based on which ECL is derived.  

 
The Bank is closely monitoring any relevant developments to update the estimate of the effect on its financial statements in 
accordance with its accounting policies. 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, if the PD and LGD will shift for both performing and non-performing loans, the 
provisions will change according with the following table: 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

On balance sheet exposures Effect on profit or loss  
(+/- 5%) 

 Effect on profit or loss  
(+/- 5%) 

    
Credit cards and Overdrafts + 267 / -427  + 351 / - 537 
Consumer Loan + 2,624 / -3,239  + 1,869 / - 2,449 
Equity + 1,294 / - 2,103  + 1,740 / - 2,836 
Mortgage + 933 / - 1,507  + 1,108 / - 1,725 
Micro and SME + 1,671 / - 3,001  + 2,331 / - 4,862 
Corporate + 2,132 / - 3,329  + 1,717 / - 2,320 
    

TOTAL  + 8,921 / - 13,605  + 9,116 / - 14,729 
 

c) Risk provisions  
 
The Bank records provisions for potential liabilities derived from past commercial practice, for litigations, for indemnity receivables, 
for off balance sheet commitments and other provisions. 
 
The Bank developed a methodology to estimate the required provision amount making assumptions based on more recent history. 
The methodology also involves making assumptions about the number of future legal cases to be brought against the Bank, the likely 
outcome of current and possible future cases. The legal department assess all these lawsuit, taking into consideration the amount 
under litigation, the stage of the litigation and the risk of loss. These assumptions are inherently difficult to estimate, and the 
estimation uncertainty was higher. 
 
Details regarding risk provisions are presented in Note 20. 
 

d) Deferred tax 
 
On 10 July 2019, the Bank acquired Bank Leumi Romania S.A, recognizing a bargain purchase of RON 112,687 thousand in the 
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019, as a result of the business combination in accordance with IFRS 3. In the 
circumstances of the merger between the Bank and its subsidiary realised during 2020, the bargain gain has been transferred in retain 
earnings in the financial statements. More details are provided in Note 31. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 
 

e) De-recognition of financial assets 
 
The Bank derecognises an asset if it substantially transfers all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. The transfer of risks 
and rewards is evaluated taking into consideration the Bank’s exposure, before and after the transfer, the variability in amount and 
timing of the expected future cash flows. The Bank continues to recognise the asset if it retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset. The de-recognition criteria imply substantial changes to the transferor’s exposure towards the risks and 
rewards of ownership. 
 
The Bank determines whether it has retained control of the asset. Control is defined as the transferee’s ability to sell the asset. The 
transferee has this ability if it can unilaterally sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose further 
restrictions on the transfer. A transferee has the ability to sell the asset if it is traded in an active market because, should it need to 
return the assets to the transferor, the transferee could purchase it in the market. 
 
The asset is derecognised if the Bank has lost control over it. The Bank continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement and its retained control. 
 
Specifically, during 2018, the Bank transferred to Piraeus Bank S.A. – London Branch loans on the basis of the funded participation or 
assignment agreements, receiving cash in exchange. Management considers that all the risks and rewards related to those loans are 
substantially transferred to Piraeus Bank S.A. – London Branch and hence de-recognition criteria are met. For the year ended 31 
December 2021, the Bank has not transferred loans on the basis of funded participation or assignment agreements. 
 
Specific judgements have been made over the commission income received by the Bank from administration of transferred loans, 
disclosed in Note 27, which were considered by management to be both an adequate and expected compensation for the servicing 
of the transferred portfolio performed by the Bank as it covers the costs inherent to the servicing activities performed such as 
collection, accounting, monitoring, and other administrative tasks and ensure an appropriate return for the Bank.  
 
The sufficiency of the commissions received by the Bank from administration of the loans transferred to Piraeus Bank S.A. – London 
Branch for periods before the change in the Bank’s ownership was validated through the new commercial terms agreed in the context 
of control changing, as well as by the commissions received starting 2018 from the administration of the loan portfolio of another 
Greek lender (i.e. Eurobank). 
 

4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 
2020 

    
Cash on hand (Note 5) 203,968  196,798 
Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 5) 605,271  615,147 
Due from other banks (Note 7) 522,966  586,951 
Less collateral deposits (*) (24,524)  (72,004) 
    
Total Cash and cash equivalents 1,307,681  1,326,892 
    
Allowance for impairment (1,927)  (102) 
    
Total Cash and cash equivalents 1,305,754  1,326,790 

 
(*) The placements in amount of RON 24,524 thousand (31 December 2020: RON 72,004 thousand) represent collateral deposits for 
swap transactions and cards activity. 
 
The qualitative analysis regarding the placements with banks was based on the credit ratings issued by Moody’s, if available. For the 
Bank’s placements with counterparties that are not rated the sovereign rating was used.  
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4 ASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
At 31 December 2021 the credit quality of the placements of the Bank with the Central Bank and other banks based on Moody’s 
ratings may be summarised as follows: 

 

Cash balances, with 
the Central Bank, 

including 
mandatory 

reserves 

 Due from other 
banks: 

Correspondent 
accounts and 

overnight 
placements 

 

Due from other 
banks: Placements 

 

Total 

 -  -  -  - 
Aaa -  -  -  - 
Aa3 -  68,726  2,078  70,804 
A1 -  97,903  -  97,903 
A2 -  -  22,446  22,446 
A3 -  207,665  -  207,665 
Baa1 -  -  -  - 
Baa2 -  10,396  13,113  23,509 
Baa3 605,271  12,562  -  617,833 
B1 -  575  -  575 
B2 -  -  -  - 
B3 -  -  -  - 
Caa1 -  -  -  - 
Caa2 -  15,633  -  15,633 
Not rated -  1,937  69,932  71,869 
        
Total cash and cash 
equivalents, excluding 
cash on hand 

605,271 
 

415,397 
 

107,569 
 

1,128,237 

 
At 31 December 2020 the credit quality of the placements of the Bank with the Central Bank and other banks based on Moody’s 
ratings may be summarised as follows: 
 

 

Cash balances, with 
the Central Bank, 

including 
mandatory 

reserves 

 Due from other 
banks: 

Correspondent 
accounts and 

overnight 
placements 

 

Due from other 
banks: Placements 

 

Total 

        

Aaa -  -  49,496  49,496 
Aa3 -  69,422  10,469  79,891 
A1 -  93,678  -  93,678 
A2 -  -  12,039  12,039 
A3 -  192,289  -  192,289 
Baa1 -    -  - 
Baa2 -  47,404  13,881  61,285 
Baa3 615,147  8,812  -  623,959 
B1 -  1,976  -  1,976 
B2 -  -  -  - 
B3 -  -  -  - 
Caa1 -  -  -  - 
Caa2 -  3,416  -  3,416 
Not rated -  10,613  73,457  84,070 
        

Total cash and cash 
equivalents, excluding 
cash on hand 

615,147 
 

427,610 
 

159,342 
 

1,202,099 
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5 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK 
 

 31 December 
2021 

 31 December 
2020 

    
Cash 203,968  196,798 
Current account, out of which: 458,067  444,503 
-   in RON 328,287  303,118 
-   in Foreign currency 129,780  141,385 
Overnight deposits  147,127  170,567 

    
Total 809,162  811,868 

 
Current accounts are required to satisfy the mandatory minimum reserve requirements imposed by the National Bank of Romania. 
This reserve represents a minimum average deposit with a holding period of one month, computed based on resources held in the 
previous month. 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the minimum reserve requirement held with the National Bank of Romania was set at 8% (31 December 
2020: 8%) for funds denominated in RON and 5% (31 December 2020: 5%) for funds denominated in foreign currency. The minimum 
reserve balance may fluctuate on a daily basis. The minimum required reserve can be used by the Bank for daily activities as long as 
the average monthly balance is maintained within the required limits. 
 
All these balances were included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 4). 
 
The interest paid by the National Bank of Romania for the reserves held by the banks was in average 0.13% per year for the reserves 
in RON (2020: 0.13%) and 0.00% per year for reserves denominated in EUR (2020: 0.00%). The interest rate for overnight deposits 
with National Bank of Romania was at 1% for the year ended as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 1%). 
 

6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 

 31 December 
2021 

 31 December 
2020 

    
Indemnity receivables from Piraeus Bank S.A. 100,150  82,148 
    
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 100,150  82,148 

 
In 2019 the Bank purchased from its main shareholder, JCF IV Tiger Holdings S.a.r.l, an indemnity receivable of the latter against 
Piraeus Bank S.A. The receivable against Piraeus Bank S.A. arose in connection with the loss to be incurred by the Bank as result of 
court case related to past commercial practices, when Piraeus Bank S.A. was the shareholder of the Bank, pursuant to the terms of 
the share sale and purchase agreement entered into between the former and current shareholders for the sale of the shares of the 
Bank.  
 
The receivable purchased by the Bank is in amount of EUR 20.24 million as at 31 December 2021, as substantiated in the independent 
valuation report done for the year ended 2021. More details are provided in Note 2.6.1 
 
For the settlement of the indemnity receivables from Piraeus Bank S.A., the Bank has requested international arbitration from the 
London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA). Considering incipient status of the arbitration and inherent risk from this, the Bank 
recorded a provision for risk and charges, more details are provided in Note 20. 
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7 DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 
 

 31 December 
2021 

 31 December 
2020 

    
Current accounts  415,398  427,609 
Placements with banks with original maturity more than three months 22,446  72,004 
Placements with banks with original maturity less than three months 85,123  87,338 
 
Total gross amount 522,967  586,951 
    
Less credit loss allowance (1,851)  (25) 
    
Total Due from other banks 521,116  586,926 

 
During the year ended as at 31 December 2021 Bank’s interest rates for EUR placements ranged from -0.75% to 0%, while for RON 
they fluctuated from 0.75% to 2.3% (2020: EUR: between -0.75% and 0%, RON: between 1.5% and 2.9%). With respect to the USD 
placements the interest rate ranged between a low of -0.10% and a high of 0.10% (2020: between 0.01% and 1.5%). 
 
Current accounts, sight deposits and term deposits included in Due from other banks with an original maturity lower than 3 months 
were included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 4). 
 
The credit quality of the balances is presented in Note 4. 
 

31 December 2021 Stage 1 (12-
months ECL) 

 Stage 2 (lifetime 
ECL for SICR) 

 Total 

      
Current accounts  415,398  -  415,398 
Placements with banks of more than three months 22,446  -  22,446 
Placements with banks of less than three months 85,123  -  85,123 
Amounts in course of settlement -  -  - 
Less credit loss allowance (1,851)  -  (1,851) 
      
Total Due from other banks 521,116  -  521,116 
      
      

31 December 2020 Stage 1 (12-
months ECL) 

 Stage 2 (lifetime 
ECL for SICR) 

 Total 

       
Current accounts  427,609  -  427,609 
Placements with banks of more than three months 72,004  -  - 
Placements with banks of less than three months 87,338  -  159,342 
Amounts in course of settlement -  -  - 
Less credit loss allowance (25)  -  (25) 
      
Total Due from other banks 586,926  -  586,926 
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8 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 

 
 31 December 

2021 
 31 December 

2020 
    
Companies 2,363,169  2,259,431 
Individuals, out of which:  1,749,780  1,688,009 
  Individuals – consumer loans  392,900  401,622 
  Individuals – personal needs (secured) 311,608  309,785 
  Mortgage loans 996,181  923,078 
  Overdraft 29,763  33,086 
  Credit Cards 19,328  20,438 
    
Total gross value 4,112,949  3,947,440 
    
Less provision for impairment  (202,764)  (235,239) 
    
Total  3,910,185  3,712,201 

 
Analysis by sector      

 
31 December  

2021 
% of 
total 

 31 December 
2020 

% of  
Total 

Companies      
Trade 648,622 16%  560,423 14% 
Tourism 121,350 3%  125,728 3% 
Manufacturing 357,578 8%  345,537  9% 
Construction and Real Estate 720,974 18%  670,417 17% 
Transportation 121,564 3%  87,629 2% 
Agriculture 152,302 4%  130,652 3% 
Energy 21,915 1%  31,479 1% 
Other 218,864 5%  307,566 8% 

      
Total 2,363,169   2,259,431  
      
Individuals      
Mortgage loans 996,181 24%  923,079 23% 
Consumers loans, personal needs loans and overdrafts 734,271 18%  744,492 19% 
Credit cards 19,328 0%  20,438 1% 

      
Total 1,749,780   1,688,009  
      
Total portfolio before provision 4,112,949   3,947,440  
      
Less allowance for loan impairment (202,764)   (235,239)  
      
Total portfolio, net 3,910,185   3,712,201  

 
According to the Bank’s policy, each borrower is rated when their credit limit is initially determined and thereafter, they are 
systematically re-rated on at least an annual basis. The ratings are also updated in cases when there is updated available information 
that may have a significant impact on the level of credit risk. 
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8 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED) 
 
Information about credit risk assessment and collaterals. For stratification of credit risk please see also note 33.1. 
 
Corporate Credit 
 
All credit limits are reviewed at least once annually and the responsible approval authorities are determined, based on the size and 
the category of the total credit risk exposure assumed by the Bank for each debtor or group of interrelated debtors (one obligor 
principle). 
 
As far as Corporate Loans are concerned (both for large companies as well as for small and medium sized companies), the Bank applies 
the Moody’s Risk Advisor borrower credit rating system (MRA) in the underwriting process.  
 
The scoring is updated when the Bank receives new information about customers’ creditworthiness, and at least once a year. 
 
The credit ratings below 12 (of the 23 rating grades) or Risk Grade 1-3 correspond to Strong category. All the customers allocated to 
stage 1 which have not been identified into Strong category are presented as Satisfactory, while Watch list and Default categories are 
identified based on stage 2, respectively stage 3 classes. 
 
Retail Credit 
 
As far as retail loans are concerned, the Bank is focusing on the application of modern credit risk and fraud prevention measurement 
methods, using also scoring models, tailored to the profile of the Bank retail lending customer portfolio.   
 
The approval of a loan is possible only if the calculated Application score (A-score) for the applicant is above a certain threshold, 
established as to ensure that the performance of the retail lending portfolio is according to Bank’s risk strategy and profile. The 
specific score is calculated based on a set of characteristics, each characteristic having a weight correlated with its potentially triggered 
delinquency rate as resulting from the Bank’s actual portfolio. 
 
The monitoring of the existing retail exposures is done using a Behavioural Score (B-score). The B-score is calculated on a monthly 
basis taking into account the performance of the existing client within a time frame of 3-12M in terms of dpd buckets, restructurings, 
payments etc.  
 
The B-score is calculated at a client level, covering the behaviour of a specific client in respect to all of its exposures: Secured Loans, 
Unsecured Loans and Credit Cards. The B-score is back-tested and validated at least once per year with the support of the external 
provider. 
 
The credit ratings above 238 (of the 100-320 rating grades) or Risk Grade 1-3 correspond to Strong category. All the customers 
allocated to stage 1 which have not been identified into Strong category are presented as Satisfactory, while Watch list and Default 
categories are identified based on stage 2, respectively stage 3 classes. 
 
The disclosure below represents the lower of the carrying value of the loan or collateral taken; the remaining part is disclosed within 
the unsecured exposures. The carrying value of loans was allocated based on liquidity of the assets taken as collateral. 
 



 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(all amounts in “RON thousand”, unless otherwise stated) 

 

Translation from the original Romanian version. 
43 

8 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED) 
 
Information about collateral 
 
31 December 2021 
 

 Corporate 
entities 

 
Small medium 

entities 

 
Mortgages 

 
Consumer / 

personal loans 

 
Credit cards 

 
Overdraft 

 
Total 

              
Loans guaranteed by other banks 30,755  3,182  -  -  -  -  33,937 
Loans collateralised by:               

- residential real estate 48,701  130,139  872,421  261,396  -  -  1,312,657 
- other real estate 711,120  359,542  33,817  21,168  -  -  1,125,647 
- cash deposits 15,359  33,424  3,111  737  -  -  52,631 
- Guarantee Fund 33,456  289,900  58,843  1,267  -  -  383,466 

              
Total secured exposures 839,391  816,187  968,192  284,568  -  -  2,908,338 
              
Unsecured exposures 384,586  205,214  12,286  356,397  17,094  26,270  1,001,847 
              
Total loans and advances to customers (*) 1,223,977  1,021,401  980,478  640,965  17,094  26,270  3,910,185 

 
(*) Total loans and advances to customers are diminished by the fair value adjustments for the portfolio of loans taken over through acquisition of Leumi Bank, determined on the basis of the purchase 
price allocation report. 
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8 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED) 
 
Information about collateral 
 
31 December 2020 
 

 Corporate 
entities 

 
Small medium 

entities 

 

Mortgages 

 
Consumer / 

personal loans 

 

Credit cards 

 

Overdraft 

 

Total 

              
Loans guaranteed by other banks 49,861  778  -  -  -  -  50,639 
Loans collateralised by:               

- residential real estate 195,232  148,896  621,304  306,499  -  -  1,271,931 
- other real estate 572,767  315,088  13,201  8,862  -  -  909,918 
- cash deposits 27,324  13,195  -  -  -  -  40,519 
- Guarantee Fund 28,951  154,009  132,397  44  -  -  315,401 

              
Total secured exposures 874,135  631,966  766,902  315,405  -  -  2,588,408 
              
Unsecured exposures 380,129  230,705  134,608  333,907  18,912  25,532  1,123,793 
              
Total loans and advances to customers (*) 1,254,264  862,671  901,510  649,312  18,912  25,532  3,712,201 

 
(*) Total loans and advances to customers are diminished by the fair value adjustments for the portfolio of loans taken over through acquisition of Leumi Bank, determined on the basis of the purchase 
price allocation report. 
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8 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED) 
 
In the calculation of the allowance for impairment fair values of the collaterals have been used as presented in this note, and, where 
applicable, future cash flows estimated repayments were considered as well. 
 
The financial effect of collateral is presented by disclosing collateral values separately for (i) those assets where collateral and other 
credit enhancements are equal to or exceed carrying value of the asset (“over-collateralised assets”) and (ii) those assets where 
collateral and other credit enhancements are less than the carrying value of the asset (“under-collateralised assets”). 
 

 
31 December 2021 Over-collateralised assets  Under-collateralised assets 

  Carrying value of Fair value of  Carrying value   Fair value 
the assets  collateral   of the assets  of collateral  

      
Corporate entities 532,949 2,067,157  691,028 59,241 
Small medium entities 532,425 1,585,338  488,977 214,225 
      
Loans to individuals:      
   Mortgages 899,039 1,631,819  81,440 39,784 
   Consumer / personal loans 253,226 681,642  387,739 21,627 
   Credit card - -  17,094 - 
   Overdraft - -  26,270 - 
      
Total 2,217,639 5,965,956  1,692,548 334,877 
      
 
31 December 2020 Over-collateralised assets  Under-collateralised assets 

  Carrying value of  Fair value of   Carrying value   Fair value 
 the assets  collateral    of the assets  of collateral  

      
Corporate entities 767,102 1,642,646  487,162 205,849 
Small medium entities 540,225 1,856,523  322,446 180,756 
      
Loans to individuals:      
   Mortgages 640,106 1,004,094  261,404 214,572 
   Consumer / personal loans 196,718 448,225  452,594 87,412 
   Credit card - -  18,912 - 
   Overdraft - -  25,532 - 
      
Total 2,144,151 4,951,488  1,568,050 688,589 
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES  
 
By type of instrument:  
 

 
31 December 

2021 
 31 December 

2020 

    
Bonds FVOCI  577,769  1,302,081 
Bonds at amortised cost 702,543  522,835 
Equity investments – unlisted (i) 1,353  1,353 
Less allowance for bonds at amortised cost (75)  (44) 
    
Total amounts 1,281,590  1,826,225 

 
As at 31 December 2021, the bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified as Stage 1 and ECL impairment 
allowance in other comprehensive income amounts to RON 44.7 thousand for the Bank (December 31, 2020: RON 136.4 thousand). 
Presentation by category is presented in Note 33.6. 
 
(i) Investment securities include equity securities with a carrying value of RON 1,353 (2020: 1,353), representing investment in 

other equity securities which are not publicly traded. Due to the nature of the local financial markets, it is not possible to 
obtain current market value for the other equity securities.  

 
Analysis by credit quality of debt securities outstanding at period end is as follows: 
 

 
31 December  

2021 
 31 December  

2020 

 Investment  Investment 
 Securities  Securities 

    
BBB- 1,280,237  1,824,872 

    
Total 1,280,237  1,824,872 

 
The movement in the investment securities FVOCI is presented below: 
 

 
At 1 January 2021 1,302,081 

  
Additions 466,006 
Disposals (sold or matured) (1,146,862) 
Accrued interest 19,505 
Cashed interest (45,374) 
Foreign exchange impact (1,853) 
Net Reclassification from Repo transactions - 
Gains/ (losses) from changes in fair value (Note 25) (15,734) 

  
At 31 December 2021 577,769 
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9 INVESTMENT SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 

   
At 1 January 2020 1,243,887 

  
Additions 478,322 
Disposals (sold or matured) (481,010) 
Accrued interest 37,820 
Cashed interest (44,511) 
Foreign exchange impact 5,892 
Net Reclassification from Repo transactions 50,872 
Gains/ (losses) from changes in fair value (Note 25) 10,809 

  
At 31 December 2020 1,302,081 

 
 
The bonds classified by the Bank as fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2021 are issued by Ministry 
of Finance Romania, the EUR denominated ones having a nominal interest rate between 1% and 3.63%, RON Bonds having a nominal 
interest rate between 3.25% and 5.85% and USD denominated ones having a nominal interest rate between 4.38% and 6.75%. 
 

Financial assets held at amortized       
At 1 January 2021 522,835 
  
Additions 417,130 
Disposals (sold or matured) (234,899) 
Accrued interest 16,342 
Amortization of premium - 
Cashed interest (24,655) 
Foreign exchange impact 5,790 
  
At 31 December 2021 702,543 
   
At 1 January 2020 521,277 
  
Additions 294,766 
Disposals (sold or matured) (295,316) 
Accrued interest 18,824 
Amortization of premium - 
Cashed interest (22,025) 
Foreign exchange impact 5,309 
  
At 31 December 2020 522,835 

 
As at 31 December 2021, the bonds classified by the Bank at amortised cost consist in EUR bonds issued by Ministry of Finance 
Romania, having a nominal interest rate of 1%, and RON Bonds issued by Ministry of Finance Romania, having a nominal interest rate 
between 3.25% and 5.85%. 
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10 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

At 31 December 2021  Contract/ Fair values 

 
Notional  
amount Assets Liabilities 

Derivative held for trading    
      Currency swaps  64,165 1 586 
      Interest Rate Swaps 234,517 284 3,455 

    
Total  298,682 285 4,041 
 
At 31 December 2020 Contract/ Fair values 

 
Notional  
amount Assets Liabilities 

Derivative held for trading    
      Currency swaps 223,443 72 482 
      Interest Rate Swaps 237,664 - 11,183 

    
Total  461,107 72 11,665 

 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Bank has derivatives agreements only with Financial Institutions. 
 
The Bank uses derivative instruments for non-hedging purposes. 
 
The Bank systematically monitors and controls the exposure and duration of its net open positions in the derivative markets. Credit 
exposures from positions in the derivative markets are part of the overall credit limits set for any counterparty and are taken into 
consideration during the approval procedure. Usually, no guarantees or securities are taken against exposures in derivative products, 
except when the Bank demands the application of a safety margin from counterparty. 
 
Credit risk arises also from the settlement of trades in derivative products. The Bank has established and systematically monitors, 
daily settlement limits for derivative products transactions, which are included in the overall credit limit of any counterparty. 
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

    
Investment property at fair value at 1 January 29,220  30,948 

    
Fair value (loss) (1,762)  (1,728) 
Transfer to repossessed assets -  - 

    
Investment property at fair value 31 December 27,458  29,220 

 
The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:  
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

    
Not later than 1 year 3,511  3,240 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,859  12,811 
    
Total operating lease payments receivable 10,370  16,051 

 
 
The fair value of the investment property as at 31 December 2021 was assessed on the basis of a valuation carried out by an 
independent valuator, member of the Romanian Institute of Evaluators (ANEVAR), having appropriate qualifications in the valuation 
of properties in the relevant location. The fair value was determined based on the capitalisation of net income method, where the 
market rentals of all rentable units of the properties are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the rentable units as well 
as other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference to the yield rates 
observed by the evaluators for similar properties in the locality and adjusted based on the valuator’s knowledge of the factors specific 
to the respective properties. 
 
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. 
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12 PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 

 
31 December 2021       Furniture  Assets in   

 Buildings  Leasehold    and  course of   
 and land  improvements  Vehicles  equipment  construction  Total 

            
Opening net book amount 1,852  1,725  -  13,467  8,389  25,433 
            
Additions  -  155  -  656  3,848  4,659 
Transfers -  14  -  1,574  (1,589)  (1) 
Disposals -  (3,144)  -  (1,887)  -  (5,031) 
Depreciation charge (76)  (566)  -  (7,278)  -  (7,920) 
Accumulated depreciation for disposals and transfers -  3,117  -  1,724  -  4,841 
Impairment provision  -  -  -  317  -  317 
            
Closing net book amount 1,776  1,301  -  8,573  10,649  22,299 

            
At 31 December 2021            
Cost 3,013  58,222  1,817  154,188  10,649  227,889 
Accumulated depreciation    (1,237)  (56,921)  (1,817)  (144,932)  -  (204,907) 
Impairment provision -  -  -  (683)  -  (683) 
            
Net book amount 1,776  1,301  -  8,573  10,649  22,299 
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12               PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

 
31 December 2020       Furniture  Assets in   

 Buildings  Leasehold    and  course of   
 and land  improvements  Vehicles  equipment  construction  Total 

            
Opening net book amount 3,696  2,503  251  18,991  1,649  27,090 
            
Additions  -  52  -  4,634  8,518  13,204 
Transfers -  450  -  1,318  (1,768)  - 
Disposals (2,110)  -  -  (589)  (10)  (2,709) 
Depreciation charge (71)  (2,528)  (251)  (10,460)  -  (13,310) 
Accumulated depreciation for disposals and transfers 337  -  -  573  -  910 
Impairment provision  -  1,248  -  (1,000)  -  248 
            
Closing net book amount 1,852  1,725  -  13,467  8,389  25,433 

            
At 31 December 2020            
Cost 3,013  61,197  1,817  153,845  8,389  228,261 
Accumulated depreciation    (1,161)  (59,472)  (1,817)  (139,378)  -  (201,828) 
Impairment provision -  -  -  (1,000)  -  (1,000) 
            
Net book amount 1,852  1,725  -  13,467  8,389  25,433 
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13 LEASES 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 

31 December 2021 Property  Vehicles  Total 

      
      
Balance at 1 January 88,148  1,908  90,056 
      
Additions (*) 17,853  323  18,176 
Disposals (2,989)  (218)  (3,207) 
Depreciation charge  (21,201)  (1,307)  (22,508) 
      
Balance at 31 December 2021 81,811  706  82,517 

 
 
Lease liabilities 
 

 
31 December 

2021 

  
Maturity analysis – discounted contractual cash flows  
Less than one year  (325) 
One to five years 26,208 
More than five years 57,694 
  
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position 83,577 

 
 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
 

  
31 December 

2021 
   
Interest on lease liabilities  2,639 
Expenses related to short term leases and leases of low value assets  2,217 
 
Total  4,856 

 
Right-of-use assets 
 

 Property  Vehicles  Total 

      
31 December 2020      
      
Balance at 1 January 133,520  2,684  136,204 
      
Additions (*) 13,915  1,093  15,008 
Disposals (13,522)  (246)  (13,767) 
Depreciation charge  (45,765)  (1,623)  (47,388) 
      
Balance at 31 December 2020 88,148  1,908  90,056 
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13               LEASES (continued) 
 
Lease liabilities 
 

 
31 December 

2020 

  
Maturity analysis – discounted contractual cash flows  
Less than one year  1,727 
One to five years 27,641 
More than five years 60,849 
  
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position 90,217 

 
 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
 

  
31 December 

2020 
   
Interest on lease liabilities  3,804 
Expenses related to short term leases and leases of low value assets  2,390 
 
Total  6,194 

 

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

31 December 2021   Software      Computer  in course of  Customer    Software  construction  Contracts  Total 
        

        
Opening net book amount 46,189  3,418  -  49,607 

        
Additions  12,921  24,368  -  37,289 
Transfers 8,735  (8,735)    - 
Disposal -  -  -  - 
Amortisation charge (15,078)  -  -  (15,078) 
Accumulated depreciation for disposals and 
transfers - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

        
Closing net book amount 52,767  19,051  -  71,818 

        
At 31 December 2021        
Cost 212,923  19,051  523  232,497 
Accumulated amortization (160,156)  -  (523)  (160,679) 

        
Net book amount 52,767  19,051  -  71,818 
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

31 December 2020   Software      Computer  in course of  Customer   
 Software  construction  Contracts  Total 
        

        
Opening net book amount 39,167  15,281  436  54,884 

        
Additions  5,429  8,236  -  13,665 
Transfers 20,099  (20,099)  -  - 
Disposal -  -  -  - 
Amortisation charge (18,506)  -  (436)  (18,942) 
Accumulated depreciation for disposals and 
transfers - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

        
Closing net book amount 46,189  3,418   -  49,607 

        
At 31 December 2020        
Cost 191,267  3,418  523  195,208 
Accumulated amortization (145,078)  -  (523)  (145,601) 

        
Net book amount 46,189  3,418  -  49,607 

 

15 OTHER ASSETS  
 

15.1 Other financial assets 
 

 
31 December  

2021 
 31 December  

2020 

    
Guarantees-deposits 1,349  1,405 
Other assets and receivables (i) 18,793  15,581 
    
Total 20,142  16,986 
    
Less provision (3,489)  (2,371) 

    
Total other financial assets 16,653  14,615 

 
(i) Other assets and receivables of the Bank refers to claims to debtors for various services of RON 7,232 thousand (31 December 

2020: RON 7,798 thousand), overdue commissions of RON 2,907 thousand (31 December 2020: RON 2,850 thousand), other 
receivables related to cards operations of RON 4,606 thousand (31 December 2020: RON 3,083 thousand), amounts to be 
recovered from settlement services of RON 4,044 thousand (31 December 2020: RON 1,850 thousand). 
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15 OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

15.2. Other financial assets (continued) 
 
Movements in provision for other financial assets are as follows: 
 

 31 December  
2021 

 31 December  
2020 

    
Balance at beginning of the period 2,371  2,483 
    
Charge/(release) of provision (Note 30) 1,801  1,227 
Write-off of provisions (968)  (1,463) 
Foreign exchange differences  285  124 
 
Balance at end of the period 3,489 

 
2,371 

 
15.2. Other non-financial assets 

 
 31 December  

2021 
 31 December  

2020 
    

Prepayments (i) 12,006  8,424 
Inventory (ii) 3,151  3,469 
Receivable from the State 2,952  2,181 
Other non-financial assets (1)  (25) 

    
Total 18,108  14,049 

    
Less provision (iii) (2,587)  (2,060) 

    
Total other non-financial assets 15,521  11,990 

 
(i) Prepayments as at 31 December 2021 of the Bank include payments for the acquisition of computer licenses and 

maintenance during 2021. 
 

(ii) Inventories of the Bank contain mainly consumables related to cards activity and other equipment from closed branches 
that are intended to be used in the existing network and head office. 

 
(iii) Provision for non-financial assets for the Bank refers to impairment of inventory in amount of RON 2,587 thousand (31 

December 2020: RON 2,060 thousand). 

 
Movements in provisions for other non-financial assets are as follows: 
 

 31 December  
2021 

 31 December  
2020 

    
Balance at beginning of the period 2,060  2,060 
    
Charge of provision (Note 30) 537  - 
Write-off of provisions -  - 
Foreign exchange differences  (10)   
    
Balance at end of the period 2,587  2,060 
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16 REPOSSESSED ASSETS FROM FORECLOSED LOAN CONTRACTS 

 

  
31 December  

2021 
 31 December  

2020 
    

Opening gross book value 80,914  91,176 
    
Addition 2,315  6,364 
Disposals (18,530)  (16,626) 
    
Closing gross book value 64,699  80,914 

    
Accumulated provision  (52,315)  (59,918) 
    
Closing net book amount 12,384  20,996 

 
Movements in impairment provisions for repossessed assets from foreclosed loan contracts were as follows: 
 

 31 December  
2021 

 31 December  
2020 

    
Opening balance 59,918  62,091 

Charge for the period (Note 30) 1,787  4,684 
Sales of repossessed assets (9,390)  (6,857) 
 
Closing balance 52,315 

 
59,918 

 
The following table presents income and expenses from the sale of the repossessed assets from foreclosed loan contracts: 
 

  31 December 2021    31 December 2020 
    

Cost of sold repossessed assets from foreclosed loan contracts (10,400)  (7,196) 
Income from sale of repossessed assets from foreclosed loan contracts 12,616  8,993 
    
Result – repossessed assets from foreclosed loans contracts 2,216  1,797 

 
The following table presents the Bank’s repossessed assets from foreclosed loan contracts at their net book amounts, split by category 
type: 
 

  
31 December 

 2021 
 31 December 

 2020 
     
Residential real estate 9,680  16,943 
Commercial real estate 447  759 
Agriculture 523  673 
Industrial Area 1,490  1,490 
Hotel -  44 
Forestry 77  76 
Other 167  1,011 
  12,384  20,996 
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17 DUE TO OTHER BANKS 
 

 31 December 
 2021 

 31 December 
 2020 

    
Sight deposits (i) 244,852  262,784 
Term deposits (i) 248,056  85,008 
Borrowings from other banks (ii) -  289,491 

    
Total 492,908  637,283 

 
(i) During the year ended as at 31 December 2021, interest rates on sight and term deposits ranged from 0% to 3.5% for 

the Bank, while for the year ended 31 December 2020 from 0% to 3.5% for the Bank. 
 

(ii) Bank Leumi Le-Israel BM and Bank Leumi Romania signed a loan agreement on 19 December 2008, amended by 
Addendum No.1 signed on 22 September 2009 and Addendum No.2 signed on 2 July 2 2012, amounting to EUR 79,113 
thousand, from which the drawn part amounts to EUR 59,329 thousand. The maturity date for repayment of the drawn 
amount of EUR 59,329 thousand is on 9 July 2021, the loan was fully paid. 

 

18 CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS 
 

 31 December  
2021 

 31 December  
2020 

    
Current accounts 2,898,512  2,365,023 
Term deposits 2,157,358  3,032,887 
Collateral deposits 106,072  76,038 
Fiduciary deposits 1,042  3,580 
     
Total 5,162,984  5,477,529 

 
During the year ended as at 31 December 2021, on RON accounts the interest rates ranged from 0% to 3.75% for the Bank, while for 
EUR accounts the interest rates ranged between 0% and 1.5% for the Bank. 
 
Economic sector concentrations within customer accounts are as follows: 
 

 31 December 2021 

 Amount         % 
    
Agriculture 73,063  1% 
Construction and Real Estate 849,272  16% 
Energy 43,064  1% 
Financial Sector 241,033  5% 
Manufacturing 216,087  4% 
Education 19,996  0% 
Public sector 418  0% 
Tourism 79,333  2% 
Trade 327,673  6% 
Transport 57,597  1% 
Individuals 2,666,194  52% 
Other 589,254  12% 

    
Total customer accounts 5,162,984  100% 
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18 CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS (CONTINUED) 
 

 31 December 2020 

 Amount         % 
    
Agriculture 62,368  1% 
Construction and Real Estate 668,283  12% 
Energy 47,903  1% 
Financial Sector 369,436  7% 
Manufacturing 289,681  5% 
Education 50,542  1% 
Public sector 8,349  0% 
Tourism 44,328  1% 
Trade 337,578  6% 
Transport 48,918  1% 
Individuals 2,973,787  54% 
Other 576,355  11% 

    
Total customer accounts 5,477,529  100% 

 
 
As of 31 December 2021, the first 10 depositors of the Bank had balances of RON 388 million, representing 8% of total customer 
accounts (31 December 2020: RON 391 million representing 12% of total customer accounts).  
 

19 OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
19.1. Other financial liabilities 
  

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Pre-contracts for repossessed assets 620  1,952 
Payables to suppliers 19,988  16,836 
Payable for reorganization plans 5,427  4,846 
Payable to State 6,588  3,575 
Other payables 15,335  14,386 
    
Total  47,958  41,595 

 
19.2. Other non-financial liabilities 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Other taxes, Social contributions and payables 8,568  7,096 
Other accruals related to employees (i) 27,674  18,718 
Other liabilities 3,885  4,424 
    
Total  40,127  30,238 

 
(i) Other accrual related to employees refer to short term bonuses related to performance review to be paid in the first 

semester of 2022 and provision for untaken holiday. 
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20 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Provisions for litigations (i) 22,478  20,996 
Provisions for potential claims (ii) 52,980  33,438 
Provision for Indemnity receivables from Piraeus Bank S.A. (iii) 24,220  - 
Provisions for off balance sheet commitments (Note 32.1, 33) 3,069  2,609 
Other provisions (iv) 5,740  10,583 
 
Provisions for risks and charges 108,487  67,626 

 
The amount of the provisions for risk and charges is the best estimate of the amount required to settle an obligation, taking into 
account the associated risks.  
 
Provisions were recognised for all the situations when: a legal or implicit obligation as a result of a past event appeared, the possibility 
that an outflow of resources, embodying economic benefits required to settle the obligation was more likely than the possibility of 
not being required and a reliable estimation could be made for the amount of the obligation. 
 
(i) Provision for litigations 
 
Movements in provision for litigations are presented below: 
  

31 December 2021  31 December 2020  
   

Balance at beginning of the period 20,996  16,471 
    
Charge of provision to income statement (Note 30) 4,055  4,808 
Release of provision to income statement (Note 30) (2,573)  (283) 

    
Balance at end of the period 22,478  20,996 

 
(ii) Provision for potential claims related to past commercial practices of the Bank. 
 
Movements in provisions for potential claims are presented below: 
  

31 December 2021  31 December 2020  
   

Balance at beginning of the period 33,438  30,196 
    
Charge of provision to income statement (Note 30) 29,048  4,715 
Release of provision to income statement (Note 30) (9,506)  (1,473) 

    
Balance at end of the period 52,980  33,438 
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20          PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (CONTINUED) 
 
(iii) Provision for Indemnity receivables from Piraeus Bank S.A.  
 
Movements in provisions for indemnity receivable are presented below: 
  

31 December 2021  31 December 2020  
   

Balance at beginning of the period -  - 
    
Charge of provision to income statement (Note 30) 24,220  - 
Release of provision to income statement (Note 30) -  - 

    
Balance at end of the period 24,220  - 

 
(iv) Other provisions 
 
Movements in other provisions are presented below: 
  

31 December 2021  31 December 2020  
   

Balance at beginning of the period 10,583  9,085 
    
Charge of provision to income statement (Note 30) 5,154  1,901 
Release of provision to income statement (Note 30) (9,997)  (402) 

    
Balance at end of the period 5,740  10,583 

 
 
Net charge/ (release) of provisions for risks and charges by nature is presented in Note 31. 
 

21 SUBORDINATED DEBTS 
 

 
31 December  

2021 
 31 December 2020 

    
Subordinated debts 198,047  194,898 
 
Subordinated debts 198,047 

 
194,898 

 
In 2013, during the transfer of business from ATE Bank Romania the Bank took over two subordinated loans in amount of EUR 24,000 
thousand and EUR 40,000 thousand respectively. The subordinated loan in amount of EUR 24,000 thousand was converted in share 
capital during 2015. The remaining loan of EUR 40,000 thousand carries a variable interest rate (3M Euribor+6.2%, changed in June 
2018 from 3M Euribor+2.5%) and is repayable in 2023.  
 
The Bank is not subject to any covenants from the subordinated loan agreement. 
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22 TRANSFERRED FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 
The Bank enter into transactions by which it transfers financial assets directly to third parties. These transfers may give rise to the 
full, partial or no derecognition of the financial assets concerned. 
 
A. Transfers of financial assets not qualifying for de-recognition 
 
1. Sale and repurchase agreements   
 
The Bank sells, in exchange for cash, securities under an agreement to repurchase them (‘repos’) and assumes a liability to repay to 
the counterparty the cash received. 
 
The Bank has determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these financial assets and therefore has not 
derecognised them.  
 
The carrying amount of securities sold under repurchase agreements at 31 December 2021 for the Bank was null (31 December 2020: 
null) all being classified as investment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income. For more details, please refer to 
Note 10. 
 
The carrying amount of the associated liabilities under repurchase agreements at 31 December 2021 was null (31 December 2020: 
null). For more details, please refer to Note 18. 
 
B. Transfers of financial assets qualifying for de-recognition 
 
Transferred financial assets that are derecognized in their entirety and where the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards associated to the transferred assets. 
 
Funded participations: 
 
During the year ended as at 31 December 2021, the Bank has not sold, nor transferred loans under funded participation agreements. 
 

23 SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Subscribed share capital  1,195,856  1,195,856 
Minority 233  233 
Restatement for hyperinflation (IAS 29) 50,791  50,791 
    
Total 1,246,880  1,246,880 

 
At 31 December 2021, the registered share capital of the Bank consists of 11,960,886,950 allotted and fully paid ordinary shares of 
RON 0.1 each (31 December 2020: 11,960,886,950 ordinary shares of RON 0.1 each).  
 
Shareholder structure is presented in Note 1 to the financial statements. 
 
Restatement for hyperinflation (IAS 29) relates to the shares issued in 2004 for the revaluation reserve recognised only under the 
Romanian Accounting Standards (and not recognised under IFRS) and carried forward. 
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24 OTHER RESERVES 
 

 
31 December 

2021 
 31 December 

2020 

    
Statutory reserve (i) 29,632  27,412 
Statutory reserve transferred from ATE (i) 8,956  8,956 
General reserve for banking risks (ii) 10,992  10,992 
General reserve for banking risks transferred from ATE (ii) 2,661  2,661 
Other reserves transferred from ATE  32,165  32,166 
FVOCI reserve/ (deficit) * 580  13,810 
Other reserves from application of IAS 29 23,547  23,547 

    
Total 108,534  119,544 

 
In December 2013, in the context of the spin-off of ATE Bank Romania, the Bank transferred from the aforementioned entity reserves 
in a total amount of RON 43,783 thousand, as detailed above. 
 
In accordance with the Romanian law on banks and banking activities, banks must distribute the profit as dividends or make a transfer 
to retained earnings or reserves on the basis of the financial statements.  
 
Amounts transferred to reserves must be used for the purposes designated when the transfer is made. 
 
(i) Starting with 2004, under Romanian banking legislation, bank is required to create the statutory reserve, appropriated at the 

rate of 5% of the gross profit, until the total reserve is equal to 20% of the issued and fully paid up share capital. The statutory 
reserves are not distributable to shareholders. 

 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank transferred the amount of RON 2,200 to legal reserves (31 December 2020: null).  

 
(ii) The general banking risk reserve includes amounts set aside as profit reserves for future losses and other unforeseen risks or 

contingencies, in accordance with local banking regulations. The general banking risk reserve was allocated starting with 
financial year 2004 until the end of financial year 2006. The general banking risk reserve was allocated from the gross statutory 
profit at a rate of 1% applied on the balance of assets exposed to specific banking risks.  

 
The movement in the FVTOCI reserve is detailed below.  
 

 31 December 
2021 

 31 December 
2020 

    
FVOCI reserve/ (deficit)    
    
At the beginning of the period, net of tax 13,810  4,795 
Gains less losses arising during the year (1,497)  11,494 
Business combination -  (443) 
Gains less losses reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal (14,237)  (242) 
Income tax recorded directly in other comprehensive income (note 31) 2,504  (1,794) 

    
At the end of the period, net of tax 580  13,810 
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25 NET INTEREST INCOME 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    

Interest income    
Loans and advances to customers 220,956  246,425 
Current accounts and deposits due from banks 1,090  2,068 
Investment securities FVOCI 19,505  37,820 
Investment securities held at amortized cost 16,342  18,842 

    
Total 257,893  305,137 

    
Interest expense    
Deposits to other banks 4,320  7,015 
Customer deposits 25,812  48,988 
Borrowings from other banks -  - 
Subordinated debt 11,293  11,376 
Lease liabilities (Note 14) 2,639  3,804 

    
Total 44,064  71,183 

    
Net interest income 213,829  233,954 

 
Interest income on impaired financial assets (corresponding to stage 3) was RON 13,405 thousand for the Bank for the year ended 
31 December 2021 (RON 12,435 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2020).  
 
26 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 
 
Fee and commission income 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Administration fees (1)    

- sub-participated / sold loans – Piraeus Bank S.A. 35,840  25,331 
- sold loans – other parties 13,209  13,541 

Payments transactions 31,989  32,309 
Letters of guarantee 1,247  2,324 
Gold transactions  -  108 
Bank assurance  7,759  5,336 
Cards transactions 23,270  19,106 
Factoring -  107 
Leasing  162  215 

    
Total 113,476  98,377 
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26 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME (CONTINUED) 
 
(1) The commission income from administration fees includes mainly: 
 

- Fees related to loans transferred to Piraeus Bank S.A. London Branch, for which the Bank continues to render 
administration services. 

- Fees from administration services provided to Eurobank for loans originated by its former subsidiary (i.e. Bancpost 
S.A). 

 
Fee and commission expense  
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Payments transactions 5,833  5,186 
Cards transactions 13,707  11,053 
Funding commitment 148  1,211 
Factoring -  44 
Leasing  207  213 
Other commissions 1,588  2,752 
    
Total 21,483  20,459 

    
Net fee and commission income 91,993  77,918 
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26 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME (CONTINUED) 
 
The table below presents income from contracts per operating segment, that fall within the scope of IFRS 15: 
 

Fee and commission income 2021 Corporate & 
SME 

 Retail  Treasury  Others  Total 

          

Administration fees          

sub-participated / sold loans – Piraeus Bank S.A. -  -  -  35,840  35,840 
sold loans – other parties -  -  -  13,209  13,209 

Payments transactions 18,802  12,052  155  980  31,989 
Letters of guarantee 896  1  -  350  1,247 
Gold transactions -  -  -  -  - 
Bank assurance  5  7,516  -  238  7,759 
Cards transactions 8,418  14,841  11  -  23,270 
Factoring -  -  -  -  - 
Leasing  162  -  -  -  162 
          
Total 28,283  34,410  166  50,617  113,476 

 
 

Fee and commission expense 2021 Corporate & 
SME 

 Retail  Treasury  Others  Total 

 
Payments transactions 3,467  437  -  1,929  5,833 
Cards transactions 4,917  8,742  -  48  13,707 
Funding commitment -  -  148  -  148 
Factoring -  -  -  -  - 
Leasing  207  -  -  -  207 
Other commissions 11  1,264  22  291  1,588 
 
Total 8,602  10,443  170  2,268  21,483 
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26 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME (CONTINUED) 
 
The table below presents income from contracts per operating segment, that fall within the scope of IFRS 15: 
 

Fee and commission income 2020 Corporate 
& SME 

 Retail  Treasury  Others  Total 

          

Administration fees          

sub-participated / sold loans – Piraeus Bank S.A. -  -  -  25,331  25,331 
sold loans – other parties -  -  -  13,541  13,541 

Payments transactions 18,495  11,947  184  1,683  32,309 
Letters of guarantee 1,235  671  -  418  2,324 
Gold transactions -  -  108  -  108 
Bank assurance  82  5,254  -  -  5,336 
Cards transactions 6,941  12,156  9  -  19,106 
Factoring 107  -  -  -  107 
Leasing  215  -  -  -  215 
          
Total 27,075  30,028  301  40,973  98,377 

 

Fee and commission expense 2020 Corporate & 
SME 

 Retail  Treasury  Others  Total 

 
Payments transactions 3,040  732  -  1,414  5,186 
Cards transactions 4,511  5,674  -  868  11,053 
Funding commitment -  1,122  89  -  1,211 
Factoring 28  -  -  16  44 
Leasing  213  -  -  -  213 
Financial guarantees received -  -  -  -  - 
Other commissions 11  2,410  43  288  2,752 
 
Total 7,803   9,938  132  2,586  20,459 
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27 GAINS LESS LOSSES FROM FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December  
2020 

    
Foreign exchange derivatives (3,151)  4,900 
Interest rate swaps 8,098  (10,998) 
    

    
Total 4,947  (6,098) 

 
28 GAINS LESS LOSSES FROM TRADING IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December  
2020 

    
Foreign Exchange    
Gains less losses from spot transactions  31,910  28,491 

Gains less losses from revaluation of assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currency  849 

 
(840) 

    
Total 32,759  27,651 

 
29 OTHER OPERATING INCOME  
 

 31 December 
2021 

 31 December  
2020 

    
Dividend income (i) 785  725 
(Loss) on disposal of fixed assets (Note 13) (222)  (356) 
Other income (ii) 28,149  15,055 
    
Total 28,712  15,424 

 
(i) Dividend income is related to the Bank’s investments in Biroul de Credit, Transfond and Depozitarul Central SA – RON 

785 thousand for the year ended as at 31 December 2021 (RON 725 thousand for the year ended as at 31 December 
2020). 

 
(ii) In other income during 2021 there is a gain in amount of RON 16,660 (null for 2020) from financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, please see Nota 6.  
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30 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

 
31 December 

 2021 
 31 December  

2020 
Staff Expenses    
   Salaries 129,218  155,906 
   Social security and other contributions 3,778  4,607 
   Defined benefit contributions (15)  (35) 
   Other staff cost 2,655  8,331 
Administrative Expenses    
   Services from third parties (i)  18,448  20,795 
   Postal and telecommunication 8,521  6,607 
   Cards operations 6,623  7,831 
   Rent  2,217  2,458 
   Insurance premium 2,559  2,754 
   Physical Security expenses 5,583  5,968 
   Buildings Maintenance & Repairs 2,590  2,550 
   Utilities 4,665  5,390 
   IT Maintenance 18,873  15,936 
   Advertising expenses  6,941  10,390 
   Consumables 3,161  4,495 
   Other Administrative 19,571  28,695 
   Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 13, 14 and 15) 45,506  79,640 
Other operating expense    
   Contribution to Deposits Guarantee Fund and Resolution Fund 7,589  8,798 
   Other provisions (ii) 52,441  11,401 
   Other operating expenses (iii) 9,725  5,565 
    
    
Total administrative expenses and other operating expense 350,649  388,082 

 
(i) The fees paid by the Bank to the auditing firm Deloitte and other companies from their group, without VAT, were as follows: 

 
• audit and audit related services: RON 1,484 thousand (31 December 2020: RON 1,519 thousand); 
• other non-audit services: null (31 December 2020: RON null). 

 
(ii) Other provisions include: 
 

 2021  2020 

    
    
Provisions for off balance sheet credit commitments (Note 32.1, 33) 451  (893) 
Recoveries of written of debtors (670)  - 
Provisions for repossessed assets (Note 16) 1,413  4,684 
Provision for sundry debtors (Note 15.1) 1,801  1,226 
Short Term employee provisions (Note 19.2) 8,898  - 
Provisions for litigations (Note 20) 1,482  4,526 
Provisions for potential claims (Note 20) 19,542  3,242 
Restructuring Provision (Note 20) 1,848  1,548 
Other provisions (Note 20)  17,586  (2,932) 
 
Total 52,441 

 
11,401 

 
(iii) Other operating expenses of RON 9,724 for the Bank as at 31 December 2021 comprise mainly for lost litigations in relation 

to claims derived from loan contracts. 
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INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT 
 
The income tax consists of current and deferred income tax as follows: 
 

 31 December 
 2021  

31 December 
 2020 

    
Current tax expense (i) (4,293)  (1,423) 
Deferred income tax  16,947  13,569 

 
Deferred income tax 12,653  12,146 

 
The tax on Bank’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate as follows: 
 

 

31 December 
2021  

31 December 
2020 

    
Profit before income tax 44,418  (82,912) 

Theoretical tax credit /(charge) at the applicable statutory rate at 16% (7,148)  13,266 

Tax effect of:    

   Non-deductible expenses (18,779)  (9,488) 

   Income which is exempt of taxation (ii) 10,472  7,191 

   Legal reserve  355  - 

   Recognised other potential deferred tax assets 16,946  13,569 

   Other elements similar to revenues -  (2,290) 

   Corporate income tax (iii) 10,806  (10,102) 

    

Income tax credit for the period 12,653  12,146 

 
Current income tax is calculated by applying a rate of 16%. Deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary differences under the 
liability method using a profit tax rate of 16%.  
 
(i) As of December 31, 2021, the fiscal profit of the Bank was in amount of RON 91,753 thousands, and the cumulated fiscal loss 
carried forward are in amount of RON 64,915 thousands, which the Bank consumed in full resulting in a taxable profit of RON 28,838 
thousands for which an expense of RON 4,293 was incurred. 
 

(ii) During 2021, due to the high level of probability of loss for abusive claims, the Bank recognized the fiscal impact of the provisions 
for potential claims related to past commercial practices of the Bank. 
 
(iii) During 2021, the Bank generated a fiscal profit of RON 91,753 thousands RON, which lead to a theoretical income tax of RON 
15,100 thousands, which was diminished by the cumulated fiscal loss resulting an income tax of RON 4,293 thousands, the net of the 
two amounting to RON 10,806 thousands. 
 
On 10 July 2019, the Bank acquired Bank Leumi Romania S.A, recognizing a bargain purchase of RON 112,687 thousand in the 
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019, as a result of the business combination in accordance with IFRS 3. In the 
circumstances of the merger between the Bank and its subsidiary, the bargain gain has been recognised as income in the financial 
statements.  
 
In this respect, the Bank considers there are arguments to support the bargain gain as non-taxable income for the calculation of the 
comprehensive income, however the acceptability of such tax treatment cannot be known until the fiscal authority may decide in 
the future. Therefore, the Bank acknowledged the uncertainties and the probability of obtaining a negative opinion on the fiscal 
treatment of the bargain purchase from the fiscal authorities, and consequently, in accordance with IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments, recognized in its financial statements as of 31 December 2020 a deferred tax liability of RON 18,030 
thousand. 
 
The Bank continued to build its case relating the possibility of recycling the amount to the income statement and in this respect the 
Bank received from the external consultant a positive Anticipated Individual Tax Solution (SFIA) regarding the treatment of the 
bargain gain. Based on the new circumstances as of 31 December 2021 the Bank recognized the amount in the income statement. 
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31 INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/ CREDIT (CONTINUED) 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items: 
 

   Tax (expense)/  Tax (expense)/     

 31 December  
2021 

 credit 
recognized in income 

statement 

 credit 
recognized 
in equity 

 
Business Combination 

 31 December 
2020 

            
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary 
differences 

         

Other accruals 4,428  1,452  -  -  2,976 
Gain on fair value of instruments measured through 
OCI (101)  -  2,503  -  (2,604) 

Hyperinflation of fixed assets and equity 
investments   56  -  -  -  56 

          
Tax effect of deductible/   (taxable) temporary 
differences at acquisition date of Bank Leumi 66  (24)  -  -  90 

Fiscal Loss -  (10,386)  -  -  10,386 
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of Bank Leumi 
in accordance with the purchase price allocation 
report 

1,103 
 

(523) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

1,626 

Reserves on acquisition of Bank Leumi in accordance 
with the purchase price allocation report -  -  -  -  - 

Other temporary differences 8,397  26,427  -  -  (18,030) 
          
Net tax effect of temporary differences 13,949  16,946  2,503  -  (5,500) 
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31 INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/ CREDIT (CONTINUED) 
 

   Tax (expense)/  Tax (expense)/     

 31 December 2020 
 credit 

recognized in income 
statement 

 credit 
recognized 
in equity 

  
Business Combination 

 31 December 
2019 

            
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary 
differences 

         

Other accruals 2,976  823  -  -  2,153 
Gain on fair value of instruments measured through 
OCI (2,604)  -  (1,794)  -  (810) 

Hyperinflation of fixed assets and equity 
investments   56  -  -  -  56 

          
Tax effect of deductible/   (taxable) temporary 
differences at acquisition date of Bank Leumi 90  (1,504)  -  -  1,594 

Fiscal Loss 10,386  7,594  -  -  2,792 
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of Bank Leumi 
in accordance with the purchase price allocation 
report 

1,626 
 

1,093 
 

- 
 

57 
 

476 

Reserves on acquisition of Bank Leumi in accordance 
with the purchase price allocation report -  5,562  -  -  (5,562) 

Other temporary differences (18,030)  -  -  -  (18,030) 

          
Net tax effect of temporary differences (5,500)  13,568  (1,794)  57  (17,331) 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Financial risk management is intertwined with the Bank’s business activity. The management, aiming to maintain the stability and 
continuity of its operations, places high priority on the goal of implementing and continuously improving an effective risk management 
framework to minimize potential negative effects on the Bank’s financial results. 
 
The Bank’s Board of Directors is fully responsible for the development and supervision of the risk management framework. In order 
to coordinate and timely address all risks, a Risk Committee has been established at the level of Board of Directors. The Risk 
Committee is responsible for the implementation and supervision of the risk management policies and principles. 
 
Both the principles and the existing risk management policies have been created to identify and analyse on a timely basis the risks 
assumed by the Bank, establishing the appropriate limits and risk control systems, as well as systematically monitoring the risks and 
ensuring compliance with established limits.  
 
The Bank re-examines annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management framework in order to ensure that it keeps 
pace with market dynamics, changes in the banking products offered, and international good practices. 
 
The Bank’s Risk Division operates as an independent unit, entrusted with the responsibility for planning and implementing of the risk 
management framework, according to the directions of the Risk Committee. The Bank systematically monitors the following risks 
resulting from the use of financial instruments: credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk in banking book and operational 
risk. 
 

32.1 Credit risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is defined as the present or future risk of loss in returns or capital as a result of a borrower’s 
failure to repay a loan or otherwise meet a contractual obligation. The Bank recognizes and manages the intrinsic credit risk in all 
products and activities. It has appropriate and adequately defined credit-granting criteria, which reflect the market targets and include 
thorough evaluation of borrowers, counterparties, and guarantors, as well as the purpose, the type of funding, the type of collateral 
/ security and the source of repayment.  
 
The Bank has clearly defined policies and procedures of approving new credit as well as restructuring, renewal, refinancing of existing 
credit or write-offs, addressing possible exceptional deviations with the utmost attention.  
 
Impairment provisions are provided where there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due. 
Significant changes in the economy or in the health of a particular industry segment that represents a concentration in the Bank’s 
portfolio, could result in additional evidence apart from that provided for at balance sheet date. The Bank therefore carefully manages 
its exposure to credit risk. The Bank seeks to control credit risk through rigorous credit criteria, which necessarily include the 
repayment option (first way out), the provision of collaterals (second way out) and the evaluation of the customer. The process is 
supported by the use of internal rating systems with strong discriminating ability and systems for credit risk measurement and 
calculation of capital requirements. 
 
The Bank’s overall exposure to credit risk mainly results from the approved credit limits and financing of corporate and retail loans, 
from the Bank’s investment and trading activities, from trading activities in the derivative markets, as well as from the settlement of 
financial instruments. The level of risk associated with any credit exposure depends on various factors, including the general economic 
and market conditions prevailing, the debtors’ financial condition, the amount, type, and duration of the exposure, as well as the 
collateral/ guarantee coverage. 
 
The Bank mitigates credit risk using a limits structure that allows for grouping and comparison of credit limits for different types of 
risk exposure at various levels, such as borrower level (including connected borrowers), counterparty level, groups of interrelated 
borrowers level, sector level and product level. All credit limits are reviewed at least once a year.  Exposure to credit risk is monitored 
through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential debtors to meet interest and principal repayment obligations and 
through review of lending limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also mitigated through collateral, and corporate and 
personal guarantees.
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
The split of the total portfolio of Loans and advances to customers by industry is detailed in Note 8 (“Loans and advances to customers”). The bank’s exposure with Central Bank is shown in Note 5 
(see “Balances with Central Bank”). 
 
The net carrying amount per total stages is presented as follows: 
 

 Gross Exposure  Allowance 
31 December 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI TOTAL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI TOTAL 
           
Credit cards and Overdrafts 40,704 3,777 4,610 - 49,091 652 685 4,390 - 5,727 
Consumer Loan 298,409 73,126 21,295 70 392,900 4,515 14,090 19,690 23 38,318 
Equity 199,906 58,974 35,758 16,970 311,608 2,097 5,966 14,879 2,283 25,225 
Mortgage 876,041 97,594 18,261 4,285 996,181 1,578 4,366 9,424 335 15,703 
Micro and SME 981,770 35,675 40,539 5,611 1,063,595 13,211 876 26,466 4,641 42,194 
Corporate 1,050,094 144,469 101,869 3,142 1,299,574 13,549 1,058 60,247 743 75,597 
           
TOTAL: 3,446,924 413,615 222,332 30,078 4,112,949 35,602 27,041 135,096 5,025 202,764 

 
 Gross Exposure Allowance 
31 December 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI TOTAL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI TOTAL 
           
Credit cards and Overdrafts 37,707 10,115 5,702 - 53,524 601 3,151 5,328 - 9,080 
Consumer Loan 311,096 64,541 18,920 7,065 401,621 4,718 9,411 17,939 447 32,515 
Equity 165,569 87,334 46,188 10,694 309,785 1,658 6,991 20,586 344 29,579 
Mortgage 795,530 100,037 22,520 4,991 923,078 4,251 6,375 10,122 820 21,567 
Micro and SME 799,238 72,147 34,662 17,867 923,914 22,638 6,486 24,003 8,117 61,242 
Corporate 1,020,413 236,012 75,486 3,606 1,335,517 25,485 10,649 44,119 1,000 81,256 
           
TOTAL: 3,129,553 570,186 203,478 44,223 3,947,440 59,351 43,063 122,097 10,728 235,239 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
Total net carrying amount allocated to collaterals: 
 

31 December 2021  Total net amount  
at amortised cost  

  Value of  
collateral  

    
Credit cards and Overdrafts  43,364  - 
Consumer Loan  354,582  1,847 
Equity  286,383  282,720 
Mortgage  980,478  968,192 
Micro and SME  1,021,401  817,742 
Corporate  1,223,977  839,391 

    
Total 3,910,185  2,909,892 

    

31 December 2020  Total net amount 
at amortised cost 

 Value of 
collateral 

    
Credit cards and Overdrafts  44,445  - 
Consumer Loan  369,106  38,090 
Equity  280,206  259,224 
Mortgage  901,510  864,974 
Micro and SME  862,671  753,553 
Corporate  1,254,264  951,905 

    
Total 3,712,201  2,867,746 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
Net carrying amount of loans and receivables by quality criteria is presented as follows: 

31 December 2021 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total as of 
31 December 2021  Total as of  

31 December 2020 

Credit cards and Overdrafts            
Strong 16.955  -  -  -  16.955  12,230 
Satisfactory 23.749  -  -  -  23.749  25,477 
Watch list (higher risk) -  3,777  -  -  3,777  10,115 
Default -  -  4,610  -  4,610  5,702 
Total gross amount 40,704  3,777  4,610  -  49,091  53,524 
Loss allowance 652  685  4,390  -  5,727  9,080 
Carrying amount 40,052  3,092  220  -  43,364  44,444 
Collateral held for credit impaired assets -  -  -  -  -  - 
            
Consumer Loan            
Strong 131,160  -  -  -  131,160  129,073 
Satisfactory 167,248  -  -  -  167,248  182,022 
Watch list (higher risk) -  73,126  -  45  73,171  67,877 
Default -  -  21,295  25  21,320  22,649 
Total gross amount 298,408  73,126  21,295  70  392,899  401,621 
Loss allowance 4,514  14,090  19,690  23  38,317  32,515 
Carrying amount 293,894  73,126  21,295  70  354,582  369,106 
Collateral held for credit impaired assets 1,824  22  -  -  -  38,090 
            
Equity            
Strong 123,469  -  -  -  123,469  98,531 
Satisfactory 76,437  -  -  -  76,437  67,038 
Watch list (higher risk) -  58,974  -  10,441  69,415  92,848 
Default -  -  35,758  6,529  42,287  51,268 
Total gross amount 199,907  58,974  35,758  16,970  311,609  309,785 
Loss allowance 2,097  5,966  14,879  2,283  25,225  29,579 
Carrying amount 197,810  53,008  20,879  14,687  286,384  280,206 
Collateral held for credit impaired assets 197,721  49,479  20,878  14,642  282,720  259,224 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
Net carrying amount of loans and receivables by quality criteria is presented as follows: 
 

31 December 2020 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI  Total as of  
31 December 2021  Total as of  

31 December 2020 
Mortgage            
Strong 644,464  -  -  -  644,464  597,987 
Satisfactory 231,577  -  -  -  231,577  197,542 
Watch list (higher risk) -  97,594  -  2,607  100,201  103,214 
Default -  -  18,261  1,679  19,940  24,334 
Total gross amount 876,041  97,594  18,261  4,286  996,182  923,077 
Loss allowance 1,578  4,366  9,424  335  15,703  21,567 
Carrying amount 874,463  93,228  8,837  3,951  980,479  901,510 
Collateral held for credit impaired assets 873,973  81,430  8,838  3,951  968,192  864,974 
            
Micro and SME            
Strong 175,395  -  -  -  175,395  255,389 
Satisfactory 806,374  -  -  -  806,374  543,848 
Watch list (higher risk) -  35,675  -  3,691  39,366  77,230 
Default -  -  40,539  1,921  42,460  47,446 
Total gross amount 981,770  35,675  40,539  5,612  1,063,596  923,913 
Loss allowance 13,212  876  26,466  1,641  42,195  61,242 
Carrying amount 968,558  34,799  14,073  3,971  1,021,401  862,671 
Collateral held for credit impaired assets 768,875  30,919  14,001  3,947  817,742  753,553 
            
Corporate            
Strong 222,730  -  -  -  222,730  310,004 
Satisfactory 827,364  -  -  -  827,364  710,412 
Watch list (higher risk) -  144,469  -  -  144,469  236,012 
Default -  -  101,869  3,142  105,011  79,092 
Total gross amount 1,050,094  144,469  101,869  3,142  1,299,574  1,335,520 
Loss allowance 13,549  1,058  60,247  743  75,597  81,256 
Carrying amount 1,036,545  143,411  41,622  2,399  1,223,977  1,254,264 
Collateral held for credit impaired assets 669,666  125,875  41,451  2,399  839,391  951,905 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
Gross carrying amount of loans and receivables by type of product, ageing criteria and stages is presented as follows: 
 

 
Total amount of 

L&As 
 Total amount of 

forborne L&As 
 Forborne Loans and 

Advances (%) 
31 December 2021      
Stage 1 3,446,924  -  0% 
Stage 2 413,615  103,115  25% 
Stage 3 222,332  100,240  45% 
POCI 30,079  12,724  42% 
 
Exposure before impairment 4,112,950 

 
216,079 

 
5% 

Stage 1 Allowance 35,602  -  0% 
Stage 2 Allowance 27,041  1,722  6% 
Stage 3 Allowance 135,097  57,920  43% 
POCI Allowance 5,025  2,379  47% 
 
Total impairment 202,765 

 
62,021 

 
31% 

 
Total Net Amount  3,910,185 

 
154,058 

 
4% 

Value of collateral  2,909,892  136,632  5% 
      
31 December 2020      
Stage 1 3,129,553  -  0% 
Stage 2 570,186  85,482  15% 
Stage 3 203,478  43,624  21% 
POCI 44,223  19,363  44% 
 
Exposure before impairment 3,947,440 

 
148,469 

 
4% 

Stage 1 Allowance 59,351  -  0% 
Stage 2 Allowance 43,063  5,253  12% 
Stage 3 Allowance 122,097  24,917  20% 
POCI Allowance 10,728  1,791  17% 
 
Total impairment 235,239 

 
31,961 

 
14% 

 
Total Net Amount  3,712,201 

 
116,508 

 
3% 

Value of collateral  2,954,534  130,996  4% 
 
Below is presented the reconciliation between credit risk incurred by the Bank and total amounts presented in the Statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
 

 
 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

    
Impairment losses on loans charge (219,167)  (187,609) 
Impairment losses on loans release 193,848  105,943 
Net Impairment losses on other financial assets  (1,710)  78 
Recoveries of written off loans  35,167  37,599 
 
Net (charge) / release of provision for loan impairment 

 
8,137   

(43,990) 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
The movements of the Banks’ loss allowances of financial assets are summarized as follows: 
 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage   POCI 
         
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020  59,351  43,063  122,097  10,728 
         
Changes in loss allowancet         
Transfer to stage 1  (4,357)  3,209  1,109  39 
Transfer to stage 2  12,320  (20,685)  8,216  149 
Transfer to stage 3  2,871  3,169  (7,747)  1,707          
New financial assets originated or purchased  16,547  14,826  8,227  - 
Financial Assets that have been derecognized  (12,978)  (7,217)  (16,802)  - 
Changes due to modification that did not result in 
deerecognition 

 (38,859)  (6,421)  54,749  14,249 
         
Writteoffs  -  (2,092)  (41,633)  (22,179) 
Foreign exchange differences and other 
movements 

 385  511  6,880  332 
         
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021  35,602  27,041  135,096  5,025 

 
 

  Stage 1   Stage   Stage 3  POCI 
         
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019  30,992  20,225  97,886  8,697 
         
Changes in loss allowancet         
Transfer to stage 1  3,233  (2,928)  (305)  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (1,578)  3,610  (2,032)  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (331)  (3,025)  3,356  -          
New financial assets originated or purchased  40,636  22,969  52,054  2,061 
Financial Assets that have been derecognized  (19,511)  (7,165)  (61,466)  66 
Changes due to modification that did not result in 
deerecognition 

 5,683  9,383  41,678  (68) 
         
Writteoffs  (5)  (227)  (10,111)  (153) 
Foreign exchange differences and other 
movements 

 232  221  1,037  125 
         
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020  59,351  43,063  122,097  10,728 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
The movements for the Banks’ loss allowances for off balance exposures is summarized as follows: 

 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI 

        
 
Balance 01.01.2021 1,277  730  602  - 
        
Transfer to stage 1 2,068  (897)  (1,171)  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (59)  273  (214)  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (28)  (79)  107  - 
        
Impairment losses on loans (Note 31) (1,750)  554  1,650  - 
Write-offs  -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange differences and other movements 14  3  (12)  - 

        
Balance 31.12.2021 1,522  584  962  - 

 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  POCI 

        
Balance 01.01.2020 1,646  137  1,715   
        
Transfer to stage 1 179  (40)  (139)  - 
Transfer to stage 2  (117)  143  (26)  - 
Transfer to stage 3  (3)  (1)  4  - 
        
Impairment losses on loans (note 31) (429)  491  (955)  - 
Write-offs  -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange differences and other movements 1  -  3  - 
        
Balance 31.12.2020 1,277  730  602  - 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.1. Credit risk (continued) 
 
The movements of on balance exposures of the Bank’s financial assets are summarized as follows: 
 

  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage   POCI 

         
Gross amount at 31 December 2020  3,129,553  570,186  203,478  44,223 
         
Changes in Gross Amount         

Transfer to stage 1  (161,769)  135,140  25,794  835 

Transfer to stage 2  139,507  (240,837)  101,105  225 

Transfer to stage 3  6,895  9,413  (19,033)  2,725          
New financial assets originated or purchased  1,196,135  99,224  9,639  - 
Financial Assets that have been derecognized  (643,103)  (96,170)  (39,471)  - 

Changes due to modification that did not result in 
deerecognition 

 (271,116)  (42,066)  (21,405)  4,291 
         
Writteoffs  -  (2,103)  (42,642)  (23,094) 

Other Changes  25,344  6,306  4,867  873 
         
Gross amountat 31 December 2021  3,446,924  413,615  222,332  30,078 

         

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021  (35,602)  (27,041)  (135,096)  (5,025) 

         

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2021  3,411,322  386,574  87,236  25,053 

 
 
 
 

32.2 Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk of incurring on-balance and off-balance sheet losses due to adverse market movements in prices (such as, for 
example, the share prices, the interest rates and the foreign-exchange rates). 
 
The Bank has clearly defined policies and procedures in order to ensure active market risk management. The Bank has the appropriate 
systems in order to measure and assess market risk while keeping up with current regulatory and banking environment challenges. 
 
The Bank applied generally accepted techniques for the measurement of market risk, such as Sensitivity Indicators and GAP analysis 
and VaR (Value-at-Risk) measures. 
 
Sensitivity calculation parameters 
 
Interest Rate Sensitivity: calculation is based on IR Gap report equivalent duration measures and translated in potential impact on 
capital. Based on the last year interest rate fluctuation and Treasury Division forecasts analysis the interest rate can vary between 100 
± bps.  
 
FX Rates Sensitivity: calculations based on open foreign currency positions. 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.2. Market risk (continued) 
 
IBOR reform  
 
On 31 December 2021 publication of the CHF, GBP, JPY LIBOR rates for all tenors and USD LIBOR rates for 1-week and 2-month tenors 
was ceased. Remaining USD LIBOR rates representing the more liquid tenors (overnight, 1-month, 3-month, 6-month, 12month) will 
be ceased on 30 June 2023. 
 
ARRs replacing LIBOR are overnight rates. There are significant differences between the LIBOR and ARRs. LIBOR is a ‘term rate’ 
published at a start of a borrowing period with certain tenor (such as 3 months), i.e. it is ‘forward-looking’. ARRs are generally 
overnight ‘backward-looking’ rates resulting from actual transactions. Following ARRs are in place for the respective currencies: 

· SOFR (Secured Overnight Financing Rate) for USD; 
· SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average) for GBP; 
· SARON (Swiss Average Rate Overnight) for CHF; 
· TONAR (Tokyo Overnight Average Rate) for JPY. 

 
In view of the global benchmark reforms and the introduction of free-risk rates (IBOR Transition), the Bank is exposed to limited 
interest rate coming from USD exposures (with USD assets representing less than 4% of total assets), as it borrows funds in principle 
at fixed rates and grants loans at both fixed and floating interest rates. 
 
32.3 Currency risk 
 
The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the main foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. 
The Bank sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.   
 
Regarding the foreign exchange rate risk, Bank has established a limit system monitored on a daily basis by the Risk Management 
Division. The limit scheme includes: 
 

- an intraday net aggregate position limit; 
- an intraday position limit for each authorized currency; 
- an overnight net aggregate position limit; 
- an overnight position limit for each authorized currency; 
- a daily loss notification & stop loss limit; 
- a monthly loss notification & stop loss limit. 

 
In order to quantify the foreign exchange risk, the Bank uses a VaR methodology. The Value-at-Risk (VaR) measure represents an 
estimation of the potential maximum loss for a pre-specified time horizon with a given statistical confidence level. These two VaR 
parameters are chosen as 10 days - time horizon and 99% - confidence level. 
 
According to VaR (Value-at-Risk) risk indicator, as of December 2021, the maximum loss for a time horizon of 10 days due to exchange 
rate volatility is of RON 0.352 million under normal conditions and RON 0.784 million under stress conditions (December 2020: RON 
0.352 million under normal conditions and RON 0.784 million under stress conditions. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 

 Effect on  Effect on 
          profit or loss           profit or loss 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

    
EUR +3,332 / -3,332  -1,947 / +1,947 
USD -7,891 / +7,891  -10,792 / +10,792 
CHF +31,531 / -31,531  +36,066 / -36,066 
OTH +393 / -393  +867 / -867 
 
TOTAL Foreign exchange (± 20%) +27,364 / -27, 364 

 
+24,194 / -24,194 

 
At 31 December 2021, if RON had weakened by 20% against other relevant currencies (all other variables held constant) net profit 
for the year would have been RON 27,364 thousand higher (31 December 2020: RON 24,194 thousand higher). The majority of 
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are in EUR.  
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.3. Currency risk (continued) 
 
The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at reporting dates. Included in the table are the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by 
currency. 
 

31 December 2021      RON        EUR       USD     CHF     Other        Total 
 

           
Cash and balances with Central Bank 478,016  313,114  11,559  4,538  1,935  809,162 
Derivative financial assets 285  -  -  -  -  285 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -  100,150  -  -  -  100,150 
Due from other banks 13,877  254,744  213,636  4,460  34,399  521,116 
Investments in debt securities  879,775  374,717  27,098  -  -  1,281,590 
Loans and advances to customers 2,470,194  1,249,241  5,323  185,044  383  3,910,185 
Other financial assets 14,849  1,542  -  262  -  16,653 
 
Total assets 3,856,996 

 
2,293,508 

 
257,607 

 
194,304 

 
36,717 

 
6,639,141 

            
31 December 2021            
            
Derivative financial liabilities 4,041  -  -  -  -  4,041 
Due to other banks 267,373  213,722  5,308  6,477  28  492,908 
Customer accounts 2,949,041  1,859,326  290,171  30,065  34,381  5,162,984 
Subordinated debts -  198,047  -  -  -  198,047 
Other financial liabilities 40,569  5,361  1,592  91  345  47,958 
 
Total liabilities 3,261,024 

 
2,276,456 

 
297,071 

 
36,633 

 
34,754 

 
5,905,938 

            
Net on-balance sheet position 595,972  17,052  (39,455)  157,671  1,963  733,203 
            
Net off-balance sheet position (9,899)  92,187  (10,148)  (95,841)  -  (23,701) 
            
Net currency position 586,073  109,239  (49,603)  61,830  1,963  709,502 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.3. Currency risk (continued) 
 

31 December 2020 RON  EUR  USD  CHF  Other  Total 

            
Cash and balances with Central Bank 435,271  351,287  11,288  8,139  5,883  811,868 
Derivative financial assets 72  -  -  -  -  72 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -  82,148  -  -  -  82,148 
Due from other banks 19,534  272,126  277,625  7,472  10,169  586,926 
Investments in debt securities  1,258,237  542,225  25,763  -  -  1,826,225 
Loans and advances to customers 2,092,174  1,407,876  7,475  204,672  4  3,712,201 
Other financial assets 11,909  2,259  225  222  -  14,615 
 
Total assets 3,817,197 

 
2,657,921 

 
322,376 

 
220,505 

 
16,056 

 
7,034,055 

 
           

31 December 2020            
            
Derivative financial liabilities 11,665  -  -  -  -  11,665 
Due to other banks 228,376  397,327  4,299  7,274  7  637,283 
Customer accounts 2,999,804  2,062,556  370,758  32,722  11,689  5,477,529 
Subordinated debts -  194,898  -  -  -  194,898 
Other financial liabilities 36,619  6,106  1,264  186  29  44,204 
 
Total liabilities 3,273,855 

 
2,660,887 

 
376,321 

 
40,182 

 
11,725 

 
6,362,970 

            
Net on-balance sheet position 543,342  (2,966)  (53,960)  180,300  4,331  671,085 
            
Net off-balance sheet position 115,945  (15,609)  82,501  (192,697)  9,725  (135) 
            
Net currency position 659,287  (18,575)  28,556  (12,374)  14,056  670,950 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.4 Interest rate risk in banking book 
 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Bank is exposed to the effects of market fluctuations of the main interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow. 
Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements 
arise. The Bank sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored daily. 
 
The Bank quantifies and monitors the interest rate risk by calculating a set of risk measures such as: PV01 for bonds portfolio classified 
as FVOCI, PV100, PV100 for on and off-Balance Sheet, Earning at Risk (EaR) and Duration Gap (DGap) for Banking book portfolio.  
 
PV01 is a sensitivity coefficient that quantifies the market value variation of a financial instrument due to a small change of interest 
rates by one basis point. The Bank uses it to measure the interest rate risk of the bond portfolio. In order to control this risk, the bank 
has established a boundary level for the portfolio’s PV01 that is monitored within the limit system. 
 
In addition to the risk measures, the Risk Management Division also monitors a set of limits imposed internally to its bond portfolio. 
These limits refer to the maximum open position by currency, the maximum maturity, and sensitivity (portfolio’s modified duration) 
and also daily and monthly stop loss notifications. 
 
PV100 is a sensitivity coefficient that measures the impact of a parallel shift of the yield curves by 100 bps on the present value of the 
bank’s assets and liabilities. As of 31st of December 2021, PV100 was RON 17.98 million at Bank’s, within the internal limit of EUR 8 
million in equivalent RON (46% internal limit usage). 
 
EaR (Earning at Risk) shows the effect of interest rate changes on net interest income (over one year). As of 31st of December 2021, 
EaR was RON 2.4 million at Bank level, representing 16% internal limit usage (with nominal value of EUR 3 million in equivalent RON).  
 
DGap (Duration GAP) – measures the potential change of the economic value of the bank due to interest rates fluctuations (200bps). 
As of 31st of December 2021, the potential loss was of RON 24.9 million, representing 4.7% of Own Funds.  
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 

 Effect on  Effect on 
          profit or loss            profit or loss 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

    
RON +22,354 / -22,354  +21,653 / -21,653 
EUR +11,777 / -11,777  +12,335 / -12,335 
USD +47 / -47  +76 / -76 
CHF +2,069 / -2 ,069  +2,290 / -2,290 

    
TOTAL Interest rate (± 100 b.p.) +36,247 / -36,247  +36,354 / -36,354 

    
    

  
Effect on  

Other comprehensive income 
 Effect on  

Other comprehensive income 
 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
     

Effect on FVTOCI  +15,152 / -15,152 
 

+29,485 / -29,485 
 
At 31 December 2021, if market interest rates had been 100 basis points higher and with all other variables held constant, the Bank’s 
net profit for the year would have been RON 15,152 thousand higher (31 December 2020: RON 36,354 thousand higher). 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.4. Interest rate risk in banking book (continued) 
 
The tables below summarise the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the tables below are the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual 
repricing or maturity dates.  
 

 Up to  1 month to  3 months  1 year to  Over 5  Non-interest   
At 31 December 2021 1 month  3 months  to 1 year  5 years  years  Bearing (*)  Total 

              
Assets              
 
Cash and balances with Central Bank 607,011 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
202,151 

 
809,162 

Due from other banks 506,620  -  -  -  -  14,496  521,116 
Loans and advances to customers 891,799  2,343,246  449,978  170,431  4,315  50,416  3,910,185 
Derivative financial assets -  -  -  -  -  285  285 
Other financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
100,150 

 
100,150 

Investment in debt securities -  236,087  321,389  710,165  -  13,949  1,281,590 
Repurchase receivables -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other financial assets -  -  -  -  -  16,653  16,653 
 
Total financial assets 2,005,430 

 
2,579,333 

 
771,367 

 
880,596 

 
4,315 

 
398,100 

 
6,639,141 

              
Liabilities              
 
Due to other banks 455,777 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
37,131 

 
492,908 

Deposits due to customers 3,703,774  595,423  772,631  75,040  6,721  9,395  5,162,984 
Derivative financial liabilities -  -  -  -  -  4,041  4,041 
Subordinated debts -  -  -  197,924  -  123  198,047 
Other financial liabilities -  -  -  -  -  47,958  47,958 
 

Total financial liabilities 4,159,551 

 

595,423 

 

772,631 

 

272,964 

 

6,721 

 

98,648 

 

5,905,938 

              

Total interest rate gap (2,154,121)  1,983,910  (1,264)  607,632  (2,406)  299,452  733,203 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.4. Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

 Up to  1 month to  3 months  1 year to  Over 5  Non-interest   
At 31 December 2020 1 month  3 months  to 1 year  5 years  years  Bearing(*)  Total 

              
Assets              
 
Cash and balances with Central Bank 617,240 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
194,628 

 
811,868 

Due from other banks 566,354  10,001  -  -  -  10,571  586,926 
Loans and advances to customers 891,543  2,339,061  332,658  120,643  5,294  23,002  3,712,201 
Derivative financial assets -  -  -  -  -  72  72 
Other financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
82,148 

 
82,148 

Investment in debt securities -  319,331  287,585  1,188,761  -  30,548  1,826,225 
Repurchase receivables -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other financial assets -  -  -  -  -  14,614  14,614 
 
Total financial assets 2,075,137 

 
2,668,393 

 
620,243 

 
1,309,404 

 
5,294 

 
335,583 

 
7,034,055 

              
Liabilities              
 
Due to other banks 347,780 

 
- 

 
288,900 

 
- 

 
- 

 
603 

 
637,283 

Deposits due to customers 3,329,412  773,774  1,313,707  43,782  5,829  11,025  5,477,529 
Derivative financial liabilities -  -  -  -  -  11,665  11,665 
Subordinated debts -  -  -  194,776  -  122  194,898 
Other financial liabilities -  -  -  -  -  41,595  41,595 
 
Total financial liabilities 3,677,192 

 
773,774 

 
1,602,607 

 
238,558 

 
5,829 

 
65,010 

 
6,362,970 

              
Total interest rate gap (1,602,055)  1,894,619  (982,364)  1,070846  (535)  290,573  671,084 

 
(*) The value includes exposures to clients in insolvency or bankruptcy for which, according to law, nominal interest is not charged any longer. 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.5 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the current or future risk of negative impact on profits and capital, determined by the Banks inability to meet its 
obligations when they become due. The consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil 
commitments to lend. 
 
The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts, maturing deposits, loan 
draw-downs and guarantees. The Bank does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs, as experience shows that a 
minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a sufficient level of certainty. 
 
The Bank sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet such calls and on the minimum level of inter-
bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. 
 
The liquidity risk is also monitored as per Central Bank’s regulatory framework and the reported liquidity indicators were in 
compliance with NBR requirements as of 31 December 2021 as follows: 
 
- Liquidity indicator - 1.66 for the Bank, while the limit set up by the Central Bank is of 1; 
- LCR 1M – 2.25 for the Bank, well above the limit of 1 set up by the Central Bank; 
- NSFR 1Y – 1.75 for the Bank, compared with limit of 1; 
- Quick liquidity – 41.87% for the Bank, above the internal limit of 27%; 
- Net interbank liabilities – RON -321.9 million for the Bank and RON, compared with internal limit of <485m. 
 
The Bank's liquidity management process, as carried out within the Bank and monitored by a team from Treasury and Financial 
Markets Division and Risk Management Department includes: 
 
- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows in various currencies and in total to ensure that requirements 

can be met. These include replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Bank maintains an 
active presence in global money markets to enable this to happen; 

- Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen 
interruption to cash flow; 

- Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements;  
- Performing periodic stress tests on liquidity; 
- Establishing funding plans to be applied in case of a liquidity crisis and testing them periodically; 
- Monitoring the cost of funds of the bank and the factors that lead to it decreasing/increasing; and 
- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.5. Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
a) Non derivative cash flows 

 
The table below presents, the undiscounted cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities on their remaining contractual maturities.  
 

At 31 December 2021            
 Up to    3 months    Over 5   
 1 month  1 - 3 months  to 1 year  1 - 5 years  years  Total 

Financial Liabilities            
Due to other banks 492,908  -  -  -  -  492,908 
Customer Accounts 3,492,492  812,624  760,481  76,572  8,977  5,151,146 
Subordinated debts 123  2,652  8,328  203,476  -  214,579 
Other financial liabilities 22,736  11,551  15,728  646  45  50,706 
Credit commitments 41,534  4,491  21,431  999  735  69,190 
Letters of guarantee and letters of credit 12,647  27,114  46,424  58,123  1,013  145,321 
 
Total financial liabilities 4,062,440 

 
858,432 

 
852,392 

 
339,816 

 
10,770 

 
6,123,850 

 
Total financial assets 2,221,317 

 
369,222 

 
1,212,494 

 
2,076,734 

 
951,188 

 
6,830,955 

 
Net position (1,841,123) 

 
(489,210) 

 
360,102 

 
1,736,918 

 
940,418 

 
707,105 

 
Cumulated liquidity (gap)/surplus (1,841,123) 

 
(2,330,333) 

 
(1,970,231) 

 
(233,313) 

 
707,105 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.5. Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
a) Non derivative cash flows (continued) 
 

At 31 December 2020            
 Up to    3 months    Over 5   
 1month  1-3months  to 1year  1-5years  years  Total 
Financial Liabilities            
Due to other banks 347,819  -  291,441  -  -  639,260 
Customer Accounts 3,330,415  793,334  988,892  395,969  14,350  5,522,960 
Subordinated debts 1,027  1,782  8,306  211,237  -  222,352 
Other financial liabilities 20,421  13,510  10,273  -  -  44,204 
Credit commitments 5,493  17,890  60,412  43,031  15  126,841 
Letters of guarantee and letters of credit 103,756  6,497  5,411  -  -  115,664 
 
Total financial liabilities 3,808,931  833,013  1,364,735  650,237  14,365  6,671,281 
 
Total financial assets 1,232,293  490,190  1,039,085  2,687,373  2,095,517  7,544,458 

 

Net position (2,576,638)  (342,823)  (325,650)  2,037,136  2,081,152  873,177 

 

Cumulated liquidity (gap) / surplus (2,588,546)  (2,919,461)  (3,245,111)  (1,217,975)  873,177  - 
 
The Bank has a short net position less than 3 months due to the short maturity of liabilities to customers. The Bank does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience shows 
that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty; based on the history of prolongation of clients’ deposits the Bank considers these sources of 
funding to be reasonable stable. Furthermore, the Bank has sufficient transactional limits in place with other banks that allow it to properly manage the short term gap. 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.5. Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
b) Derivative cash flows 
 
The table below analyses, at balance sheet date, the derivative financial liability instruments that will be settled on a gross basis (i.e. 
currency forward and swaps) based on their remaining period according to the contract. 
 
The total pay leg (outflow) and receive leg (inflow) and for each type of derivative and for each maturity group are disclosed at their 
contractual undiscounted amounts. 
 
Derivatives held for trading 
 
Foreign exchange derivatives and interest rate swaps 
 

  Up to  1 - 3  3 - 6  > 6    
  1 month  months  months  months  Total 
31 December 2021               
Gross settled swaps and 
forwards:   

    
  

 
  

 
  

   Outflow (66,081)  -  -  (286,096)  (352,177) 
   Inflow 65,510  -  -  -  65,510 
          
          
  Up to  1 - 3  3 - 6  > 6    
  1 month  months  months  months  Total 
31 December 2020          
Gross settled swaps and 
forwards:  

   
 

 
 

 
 

   Outflow -  (49,089)  -  (237,664)  (286,753) 
   Inflow 39,099  -  -  -  39,099 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.6 Financial instruments by measurement category 
 

At 31 December 2021 
FVTPL 

(mandatory) 

 
FVTPL 

(designated) 

 
Debt instruments 

at FVOCI 

 Equity 
instruments at 

FVOCI 

 
Amortised  

Cost 

 

Total 

   -         
Cash and balances with Central Bank -  -  -  -  809,162  809,162 
Due from other banks -  -  -  -  521,116  521,116 
Investments securities -  -  577,769  1,353  702,468  1,281,590 
Loans and advances to customers -  -  -  -  3,910,185  3,910,185 
Derivative financial assets 285  -  -  -  -  285 
Financial assets FVTPL 100,150  -  -  -  -  100,150 
Other financial assets -  -  -  -  16,653  16,803 
 
Total financial assets 100,435 

 
 

 
577,769 

 
1,353 

 
5,959,584 

 
6,639,141 

            
Due to other banks -  -  -  -  492,908  492,908 
Customer Accounts -  -  -  -  5,162,984  5,162,984 
Derivative financial liabilities 4,041  -  -  -  -  4,041 
Financial liabilities FVTPL -  -  -  -  198,047  198,047 
Subordinated debts -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other financial liabilities -  -  -  -  47,958  47,958 
 
Total financial liabilities 4,041 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
5,901,897 

 
5,905,938 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.6. Financial instruments by measurement category (continued) 
 

Investments in debt securities                  
               

31 December 2021 

Debt securities 
mandatorily 
measured at 

FVTPL 

 Debt securities 
designated as at 

FVTPL at initial 
recognition 

 

Debt securities at 
FVOCI 

 

Equity 
investments FVOCI 

 

Debt securities at 
AC 

 

Total 
 
Romanian Government Bonds - 

 
- 

 
577,768 

 
- 

 
702,544 

 
1,280,312 

 - in RON -  -  302,301  -  576,336  878,637 
 - in EUR -  -  248,368  -  126,208  374,577 
 - in USD -  -  27,098  -  -  27,098 
            
Equity instruments -  -  -  1,355  -  1,355 
 - in RON -  -  -  1,198  -  1,198 
 - in EUR -  -  -  157  -  157 
            
Total investments in debt securities at 31 
December 2021 (fair value or gross carrying 
value) - 

 

- 

 

577,768 

 

1,355 

 

702,544 

 

1,281,667 
            
Credit loss allowance  -  -  -  -  (75)  (75) 
 - in RON -  -  -  -  (59)  (59) 
 - in EUR -  -  -  -  (16)  (16) 
            
Total investments in debt securities at 31 
December 2021 (carrying value) - 

 
- 

 
577,768 

 
1,355 

 
702,469 

 
1,281,592 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.6. Financial instruments by measurement category (continued) 
 

At 31 December 2020 
FVTPL 

(mandatory) 

 
FVTPL 

(designated) 

 
Debt instruments 

at FVOCI 

 Equity 
instruments at 

FVOCI 

 
Amortized  

Cost 

 

Total 

            
Cash and balances with Central Bank -  -  -  -  811,868  811,868 
Due from other banks -  -  -  -  586,926  586,926 
Investments securities -  -  1,302,081  1,353  522,791  1,826,225 
Loans and advances to customers -  -  -  -  3,712,201  3,712,201 
Derivative financial assets 72  -  -  -  -  72 
Financial assets FVTPL 82,148  -  -  -  -  82,148 
Other financial assets -  -  -  -  14,615  14,615 
 
Total financial assets 82,220 

 
- 

 
1,302,081 

 
1,353 

 
5,648,401 

 
7,034,055 

            
Due to other banks -  -  -  -  637,283  637,283 
Customer Accounts -  -  -  -  5,477,529  5,477,529 
Derivative financial liabilities 11,665  -  -  -  -  11,665 
Financial liabilities FVTPL -  -  -  -  -  - 
Subordinated debts -  -  -  -  194,898  194,89 
Other financial liabilities -  -  -  -  41,595  41,595 
 
Total financial liabilities 11,665 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
6,351,305 

 
6,362,970 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.6. Financial instruments by measurement category (continued) 
 

Investments in debt securities                  
               

31 December 2020 

Debt securities 
mandatorily 
measured at 

FVTPL 

 Debt securities 
designated as at 

FVTPL at initial 
recognition 

 

Debt securities at 
FVOCI 

 

Equity 
investments FVOCI 

 

Debt securities at 
AC 

 

Total 
 
Romanian Government Bonds - 

 
- 

 
1,302,081 

 
- 

 
522,835 

 
1,824,916 

 - in RON  -  -  906,672  -  350,406  1,257,078 
 - in EUR -  -  369,646  -  172,429  542,075 
 - in USD -  -  25,763  -  -  25,763 
            
Equity instruments -  -  -  1,353  -  1,353 
 - in RON  -  -  -  1,199  -  1,199 
 - in EUR -  -  -  154  -  154 
            
Total investments in debt securities at 31 
December 2020 (fair value or gross carrying 
value) - 

 

- 

 

1,302,081 

 

1,353 

 

522,835 

 

1,826,269 
            
Credit loss allowance  -  -  -  -  (44)  (44) 
 - in RON  -  -  -  -  (41)  (41) 
 - in EUR -  -  -  -  (3)  (3) 
            
Total investments in debt securities at 31 
December 2020 (carrying value) - 

 
- 

 
1,302,081 

 
1,353 

 
522,791 

 
1,826,225 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.6. Financial instruments by measurement category (continued) 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Gold Accounts (E-Gold) -  1 
    
Total other financial assets/liabilities at  
fair value through profit or loss - 

 
1 

 
32.7 Capital adequacy 
 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital of the Bank are on a regular basis monitored by the Bank and are filed, on a monthly 
basis, with the supervisory authorities namely the NBR. 
 
The supervisory authority requires each bank to hold a minimum level of the regulatory capital according to the sum of risk which the 
institution undertakes. 
 
The Bank’s main objectives which determine the use of the regulatory capital are: 
 
- The preservation of the Bank’s ability to continue unhindered its operations, thus to continue to provide returns and benefits 

to its shareholders; 
 
- To retain a vigorous and stable capital base in order to be able to support the Bank’s business strategy. 
 
In order for the regulatory capital to be determined, own share capital must undergo some regulatory adjustments, such as the 
deduction of intangible assets, the deduction of the reserve related to financial assets measured through other comprehensive 
income, the deduction of the proposed distribution of dividend etc. 
 
The prudential indicators as at 31 December 2021, were presented as included in the regulatory reporting to the National Bank of 
Romania. 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

    
Tier I capital 738,888  749,273 
 
Share capital 

 
1,246,880 

  
1,246,880 

 (94)  (94) 
Reserves (adj. for fiscal impact assoc. to reserves utilization) 103,588  114,866 
Retained earnings (615,281)  (542,295) 
Current profit/(loss) 57,071  (70,766) 
IFRS 9 impact (Transitional measures) 18,542  50,289 
Deductions (71,818)  (49,607) 

   
 

Tier II Capital 59,150  97,121 

    
Total capital 798,038  846,394 

    
Risk - weighted assets:    
On - balance sheet 3,363,627  3,590,675 
Off - balance sheet 84,589  59,836 

    
Total risk - weighted assets 3,448,216  3,650,511 

    
Total Capital Adequacy ratio (Basel II) 23.14%  23.19% 
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
32.7. Capital adequacy (continued) 
 
Starting January 2014, the Bank calculates the capital adequacy according to Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and according to the 
Regulation 5/20.12.2013 of the National Bank of Romania on prudential requirements for credit institutions.  
 
The Bank has adopted a conservative approach in respect with the impact of IFRS 9 by applying for transitional arrangements, phasing 
the impact over 5 years.  

 
For the period ended 31 December 2021, the Bank had to maintain on an individual basis a total capital adequacy ratio of 17.52%, a 
Tier 1 capital ratio of 14.27% and a Common Tier 1 capital ratio of 11.82%, as these ratios are defined in Regulation (EU) no 575/2013. 
 
The minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 11.82% includes: 
 

(i) the minimum Common Equity Tier 1 ratio required to be maintained to all times in accordance with Article 92(1)(a) of 
EU Reg. no. 575/2013; 

 
(ii) (ii) the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio required to be held in excess in accordance with Article 16(2)(a) of EU Reg. no. 

1024/2013; 
 

(iii) the capital conservation buffer required under Article 129 Dir. 2013/36/EU as implemented in the national law of 
Romania; and 

 
(iv) the systemic risk buffer required under Article 131 Dir. 2013/36/EU as implemented in the national law of Romania. 

 
32.8 Taxation risk 
 
The Romanian taxation system has just undergone a process of consolidation and harmonisation with European Union legislation. 
However, there are still different interpretations of the fiscal legislation. In various circumstances, the tax authorities may have 
different approaches to certain issues, and assess additional tax liabilities, together with late payment interest and penalties. In 
Romania, tax periods remain open for 7 years. The Bank’s management considers that the tax liabilities included in these financial 
statements are fairly stated, and they are not aware of any circumstances which may give rise to a potential material liability in this 
respect. 
 
Starting August 2017 Piraeus Bank Romania SA was subject to a tax audit performed by the Romanian Tax Authority that was closed 
in December 2018. The scope of the tax audit covered the corporate income tax and the transfer pricing file for the period 01.01.2011 
– 31.12.2016. The fiscal audit ended with a significant additional tax liability for the Bank. The main impact was related to 
derecognition of the fiscal loss carried forward from ATE Bank Romania, in the context of the spin-off transaction which was 
performed in 2013. Following a very careful assessment of the practical chances of winning, the Bank has decided to challenge the 
outcome of the tax audit. Subsequently, in line with the provisions of IAS 12, the Bank recognized an uncertain tax asset of RON 
41,7million, for which there is an ongoing litigation and as of 31 December 2021 it is not finished. 
 
Transfer pricing 
 
Romanian tax legislation includes the arm's length principle according to which transactions between related parties should be carried 
out at market value. Local taxpayers engaged in related party transactions have to prepare their transfer pricing documentation file. 
Failure to present the transfer pricing documentation file, or presenting an incomplete file, may lead to non-compliance penalties; 
additionally, notwithstanding the contents of the transfer pricing documentation, the tax authorities may interpret the facts and 
transactions differently from management and impose additional tax liabilities resulting from transfer price adjustments.  
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33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Credit related commitments 
 
The Bank grants loans that were not fully drawn by the clients. The validity period of these commitments does not exceed the 
contractual maturity. 
 
The Bank has commitments for loan granting. These commitments take the form of approved loans and credit line facilities. The 
amounts reflected in the commitments for loan granting are based on the assumption that all the amounts may be withdrawn without 
restrictions. 
 
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.  
 
Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that 
a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans.  
 
Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorizing a 
third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the 
underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.  
 
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters 
of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to 
the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most 
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to 
maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term 
commitments. 
 
Credit related commitments 

 
31 December  

2021 
 31 December  

2020 

    
Unused credit facilities, out of which: 892,501  773,580 
Committed credit facilities 69,160  126,841 
Uncommitted credit facilities 823,341  646,739 
Financial guarantees 115,248  86,943 
Letters of credit 139  461 
Less Provisions (Note 20) (2,790)  (2,289) 
Less cash collateral -  (1,745) 

    
Net credit related commitments 1,005,098  858,950 

 
Movement in provisions for credit related commitments 
 

 
31 December 

2021  31 December 
2020 

    
Opening provision 2,288  1,713 
    
New provisions charged in PL (Note 30) 6,948  1,647 
Unused amounts reversed (Note 30) (6,358)  (1,072) 
FX (88)  - 
 
Closing provision 2,790 

  
2,289 

 
 



 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(all amounts in “RON thousand”, unless otherwise stated) 

 

Translation from the original Romanian version. 
98 

33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Performance guarantees 
 
The performance guarantees breakdown as of 31 December 2021, respectively 31 December 2020 is as follows: 
 

 
31 December  

2021 
 31 December  

2020 
    
Letter of Guarantees –Executions 26,084  24,791 
Letter of Guarantees –Auctions 3,478  3,104 
Letter of Guarantees –Other 371  365 
Letter of Guarantees – Comfort Letter -  - 
Less Provisions (Note 20) (279)  (320) 
Less cash collateral (7,115)  (1,362) 
    
Net performance guarantees 22,539  26,578 

 
Movement in provisions for performance guarantees 
 

 
31 December  

2021 
 31 December  

2020 

    
Opening provision 317  1,785 
    
New provisions charged in PL (Note 30) 630  482 
Unused amounts reversed (Note 30) (766)  (1,950) 

FX 98  - 
 
Closing provision 279 

  
320 

 
Assets pledged/restricted 
 
The securities pledged represent RON 24,812 thousand (31 December 2020: RON 25,168 thousand) - guarantees for the Bank’s 
operations through Clearing House and Transfond. 
 
The placements in amount of RON 24,524 thousand (31 December 2020: RON 72,004 thousand) represent collateral deposits for 
swap transactions and for cards activity. 
 
Commitments rent contracts not measured under IFRS 16 
 
In the committed rent contracts for ATM and branches not measured under IFRS 16 pursuant to the practical expedients applied by 
the Bank, and where the Bank is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under the rent contracts are as follows: 
 

 31 December  
2021 

 31 December  
2020 

    
No later than 1 year 595  626 
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 18  19 
    
Total 613  645 
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34 FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES 
 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Analysis by fair value hierarchy of financial instruments carried at fair value  
 
Level 1: includes instruments quoted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Quoted prices must be readily and regularly 
available from an exchange or active index/market location and prices must represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
 
Level 2: includes instruments whose fair value is determined using inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. Derived from prices); and  
 
Level 3: includes instruments whose fair value is determined using inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 
 
Analysis by fair value hierarchy of financial instruments carried at fair value 
 

 31 December 2021 

     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     
Treasury bills and bonds  - 577,769 - 577,769 
Derivative financial assets - 285 - 285 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 100,150 100,150 
Equity investments FVTOCI - - 1,353 1,353 
 
Total assets - 578,054 101,503 679,557 

     
Derivative financial liabilities - 4,041 - 4,041 
 
Total liabilities - 4,041 - 4,041 

 
 31 December 2020 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     
Treasury bills and bonds  - 1,302,081 - 1,302,081 
Derivative financial assets - 72 - 72 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 82,148 82,148 
Equity investments FVTOCI - - 1,353 1,353 
 
Total assets - 1,302,153 83,501 1,385,654 

     
Derivative financial liabilities - 11,665 - 11,665 
 
Total liabilities - 11,665 - 11,665 
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34 FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial instruments not carried at fair value 
 
The following table summarizes the fair values and the carrying amounts of those financial assets and liabilities not presented on the 
Bank’s balance sheet at their fair value. 
 

 31 December 2021 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     
Cash and balances with Central Bank 809,162 - - 809,162 
Investment Securities - 696,326 - 696,326 
Due from other banks - 521,116 - 521,116 
Loans and advances to customers - - 4,153,799 4,153,799 
Other financial assets - - 16,653 16,653 
 
Total assets 809,162 1,217,442 4,170,452 6,197,056 

     
Due to other banks - 492,908 - 492,908 
Customer Accounts - - 5,162,984 5,162,984 
Subordinated debts - - 198,047 198,047 
 
Total liabilities - 492,908 5,361,031 5,853,939 

 
 
 

 31 December 2020 

     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3        Total 
     
Cash and balances with Central Bank 811,858 - - 811,858 
Investment Securities - 522,791 - 522,791 
Due from other banks - 586,926 - 586,926 
Loans and advances to customers - - 3,935,190 3,935,190 
Other financial assets - - 14,614 14,614 
 
Total assets 811,858 1,109,717 3,949,804 5,871,389 

    0 
Due to other banks - 637,283 - 637,283 
Customer Accounts - - 5,477,529 5,477,529 
Subordinated debts - - 194,898 194,898 
 
Total liabilities - 637,283 5,672,427 6,309,710 
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34 FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
a. Due from other banks 
 
Due from other banks includes inter-bank placements and items in the course of collection. 
 
The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is their carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest 
bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and 
remaining maturity. 
 
b. Loans and advances to customers 
 
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted 
amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to 
determine fair value.  
 
c. Deposits and borrowings  
 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable 
on demand. The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings without quoted market price is based 
on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. 
 
There are no significant differences between the fair value of deposits from customers and their carrying amount, and their amortized 
cost is considered to approximate their respective fair values, since a significant part of these items have short maturities (please 
refer also to Note 33.5 for the maturity structure of deposits from customers) and carry interest rates reflecting current market 
conditions. 
 
The subordinated borrowing is also priced based on variable interest rates and there are no significant differences between fair value 
and carrying value. 
 
d. Investment securities at FVOCI 
 
Fair value of investment securities is established by using valuation techniques and internally developed models. These include the 
use of discounted cash flow analysis after developing a theoretical zero yield curve and applying a spread to quantify liquidity risk. 
The theoretical zero yield curve is calculated by using market prices from Reuters (bid prices for bonds), determining by a recursive 
procedure the yield curve with 9 nodes for RON denominated financial instruments and 4 nodes for EUR denominated financial 
instruments that would minimize the difference between results obtained and market prices. 
 
e. Derivative financial assets and liabilities 
 
As of 31 December 2021 the present value of the derivative financial instruments is computed using Euribor/Libor interest rates for 
foreign currencies as published on Reuters. Interest rates for the local currency are determined based on Euribor/Libor interest rates 
and on the EUR/RON swap points that are taken from Reuters as mid-market of the arithmetic average of two of the largest banks in 
Romania. 
 
The management of the Bank considers the rates published by these two banks as reliable, given their size, importance for the 
Romanian banking system and active presence on the market. Using the average of the two banks’ quotes alleviates the effect of 
possible outliers. The two banks are important counterparties of the Bank. 
 
By using these swap points, the EUR/RON spot exchange rate and the Euribor/Libor for EUR/RON the implied rate is extracted and 
consequently used to calculate swap points for USD/RON, CHF/RON, GBP/RON. 
 
Further these interest rates and CCY/RON spot exchange rates published by NBR are used to determine the forward/swap points that 
are considered in the valuation of currency swaps and forwards. 
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34 FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
f. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 
 
The indemnity receivable against Piraeus Bank S.A is evaluated by an independent valuation report using ANEVAR standard SEV 430 
“Valuation for Financial Reporting purposes” (ANEVAR Standards issued in 2020) and IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” as “the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date”. According to ANEVAR valuation standards, the fair value concept defined in IFRS is in line with the market value 
concept defined by the valuation standards. According to the International Valuation Standards, the market value is defined as “the 
estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in 
an arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently, and without 
compulsion”. 
 
g. Equity investments  
 
Investment securities at FVOCI include equity securities at FVOCI with a carrying value of RON 1,353 thousand (31 December 2020: 
RON 1,353 thousand) which are not publicly traded. Due to the nature of the local financial markets, the current market value for 
these investments is not available. 
 
Management could not reliably estimate the fair value of the Bank’s investment in shares of Biroul de Credit SA, Transfond SA, Casa 
de Compensare Bucuresti SA, Fondul de Compensare a Investitorilor S.A., SWIFT, Depozitarul Central. The investments are carried at 
cost of RON 46 thousand, RON 326 thousand, RON 3 thousand, RON 2 thousand, RON 150 thousand, respectively RON 398 thousand. 
The investees have not published recent financial information about their operations, their shares are not quoted and recent trade 
prices are not publicly accessible.  
 
The management does not intend to dispose the investments in the foreseeable future. 
 
35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties with whom the bank entered into significant transactions or 
had significant balances outstanding at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed below.   
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
The Bank’s management is defined according to regulatory frame (OUG 99/2006 modified & Regulation no. 5/30.12.2013) and identified as: Members of management body in its supervisory function 
(BoD), Members of management body (ExCo), Senior management, Middle management for significant activities and Key function holders.  
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 Key Management Group entities Parent  Key Management Group entities Parent 

        
Assets          
Current accounts at banks - - -  - - - 
Placements with banks - - -  - - - 
Loans to management 2,935 - -  2,886 - - 
Derivative instruments - - -  - - - 
Investment securities - - -  - - - 
Other assets - - -  - - - 
        
Total assets 2,935 - -  2,886 - - 

     
   

Liabilities     
   

Current accounts and due to other banks - - -  - - - 
Asset management liabilities (principal and interest) - - -  - - - 
Due to customers - - -  - - - 
Subordinated debt - - -  - - - 
Deposits from management 7,191 - -  10,478 - - 
Derivative instruments - - -  - - - 
Other liabilities - - -  - - - 
        
Total liabilities 7,191 - -  10,478 - - 
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 Key Management Group entities Parent  Key Management Group entities Parent 

        
Revenues          
Interest on loans  99 - -  70 - - 
Interest on money market Placements - - -  - - - 
Gains less losses related to swaps - - -  - - - 
Other commission income - - -  4 -  
Other income - - -  - - - 

        
Total revenues 99 - -  74 - - 

     
   

Expenses     
   

Interest on deposits from customers (24) - -  (85) (61) - 
Interest on deposits from banks - - -  - - - 
Expense with management salaries (24,143) - -  (25,300) - - 
Fees and third parties expenses - - -  - - - 
Commission expense - - -  - - - 
Other expenses - - -  - - - 
        
Total liabilities (24,167) - -  (25,385) (61) - 
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36 COVID 19 IMPACT 
 
On 11 March 2020 the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a pandemic, and the Romanian government 
declared a state of emergency on 16 March 2020. Responding to the potentially serious threat the COVID 19 presents to public health, 
the Romanian government authorities have taken measures to contain the outbreak, including introducing restrictions on the cross-
borders movement of people, entry restrictions on foreign visitors and the ‘lock-down’ of certain industries, pending further 
developments. In particular, airlines suspended international transport of people to and from certain countries affected by the COVID 
19 outbreaks, schools, universities, restaurants, cinemas, theatres and museums and sport facilities, retailers excluding food retailers, 
grocery stores and pharmacies were closed. In addition, major manufacturers in the automotive industry decided to shut-down their 
operations in both Romania and other European countries. 
 
During 2020, the Governing Council of the European Central Bank (ECB) has decided a number of measures to ensure that its directly 
supervised banks can continue to fulfil their role in funding the real economy given the economic effects of the Covid-19.  
 
As well, the European Banking Authority (EBA) issued several statements to explain a number of interpretative aspects on the 
functioning of the prudential framework in relation to the classification of loans in default, the identification of forborne exposures, 
and their accounting treatment. These clarifications help ensure consistency and comparability in risk metrics across the whole EU 
banking sector, which are crucial to monitor the effects of the current crisis.  
 

(a) Measures taken by ECB, EBA and NBR 
 
During 2020 and 2021, the Board of Directors of the European Central Bank (ECB) has decided a number of measures to ensure that 
its directly supervised banks can continue to fulfil their role in funding the real economy given the economic effects of the Covid-19. 
 
As well, the European Banking Authority (EBA) issued several statements to explain a number of interpretative aspects on the 
functioning of the prudential framework in relation to the classification of loans in default, the identification of forborne exposures, 
and their accounting treatment. These clarifications help ensure consistency and comparability in risk metrics across the whole EU 
banking sector, which are crucial to monitor the effects of the current crisis. 
 
These measures are detailed in the transparency report (Pillar 3 report), published on the Bank's website in the Financial Reports 
section. 
 
In 2021 the NBR additionally took the following measures: 

- After cutting the monetary policy rate by one percentage point (pp) in total during 2020 year, the NBR completed the 
relaxation cycle in January 2021 by a last cut with 0.25 pp to 1.25%; 

- As result of decrease of uncertainties regarding economic and financial developments, the NBR Board of Directors 
announced in March that it approved the calendar of meetings on monetary policy issues for 2021, after it was suspended 
during the previous year, and monetary policy meetings were held whenever necessary.  

 
(b) Measures taken by the Government 

 
The Emergency Governmental Ordinance 37/2020 requiring banks to provide moratorium to all customers impacted by Covid-19 was 
passed on 30 March 2020, while its Application Norms were passed on 6 April 2020; it covered a maximum period of 9 months of 
payment postponement, but not later than 31 December 2020, upon request from customers.  
 
The moratorium was extended beyond the end of 2020, until March 31st, 2021 (Government Emergency Ordinance no. 
227/30.12.2020) and the clients could postpone their reimbursements up to March 31st, 2021 but having a total maximum period of 
postponement of 9 months (cumulated with the installments postponed during the first moratorium).  
 
Interest accruing during the moratorium for all loans except mortgage loans to private individuals was capitalized and its payment 
were spread over the duration of the loan. For private individuals’ mortgage loans, the interest deemed during the suspension period 
was treated as an individual claim, to be recovered in maximum 5 years after the suspension ends with no interest applied to it, having 
100% guarantee from Ministry of Finance, while the principal was spread over the extended duration of the loan.  
 
Accounting wise, the Covid-19 related moratorium did not determine the derecognition of the credit exposures, due to the fact that 
the net present value of the loan is not materially impact by this restructuring. Furthermore, considering that interests will accrue on 
the payment delayed, no modification loss is generally expected, with the exception of mortgage loans for individuals due to the 
different rules related to accrual of interest. 
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1. Macroeconomic Environment 
 

Economic Growth: 
In 2021, GDP increased by 5.9% compared to 2020 (when it decreased by 3.9%), below the market expectations of 6-
7% growth forecasted at the beginning of the year. The main cause of the slowdown of the economy in the last three 
months of 2021 was the reintroduction of restrictions in Q4 which triggered a decrease in the YtD economic growth.  
 
At the end of 2021, Romania reached a GDP of 1,190 bn lei, (€240 bn), a historical record. Despite the biggest crisis in 
recent decades, Romania's GDP has increased in 2021 by €17 bn compared to 2019 (when GDP was €223 bn). GDP in 
2021 is €21 bn higher than last year (€218.9 bn) when it was at the height of the economic crisis caused by the 
pandemic. 
 
Retail sales, the main component of GDP, increased by 7% in 2021. The increase was due to sales of non-food products 
(+ 7.8%) and sales of food, beverages and tobacco (+ 4.7%), and sales of motor fuels by 7.4%.  
 
Industrial production increased in 2021 by 7.1% compared to the previous year, due to the increases recorded by the 
production and supply of electricity and heat, gas, hot water and air conditioning (+11.3%) and the manufacturing 
industry (+7.0%), while the extractive industry decreased by 2.3%. 
 

Current Account: 
Romania ended 2021 with a current account deficit of €16.95 bn, 55% above the level of €10.98 bn in 2020, most of 
which came from the international exchange of goods that recorded a deficit of €23 bn with €4.1 bn over the previous 
year.  
 
Romania's trade deficit increased to €2.34 bn in December 2021 from €1.96 bn in the same month of last year. Exports 
increased by 28.7% in 2021, to €6.53 bn, while imports increased by 26.2% to €8.87 bn. 
 
Romania's total external debt, public and private, increased by €7.44 bn in 2021 to a total of €134.2 bn. Of the total 
volume, on 31.12.2021 the long-term external debt amounted to €97 bn (72.3% of the total external debt), increasing 
by 3.7% compared to December 2020, and the short-term external debt was of €37.2 bn (27.7% of total external debt), 
up 11.9%. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, direct public debt was €57.9 bn, up €679 mn from the end of last year, when it stood at €57.3 
bn. The short-term external debt coverage, calculated at the residual value, with foreign exchange reserves of the NBR 
on December 31, 2021 was 82.3%, compared to 90.3% on December 31, 2020.  
 
Foreign direct investment increased by 141.66% in 2021, to €7.25 bn, compared to €3.0 bn in the previous year. Of the 
total foreign direct investment, equity investments (including estimated net reinvested earnings) amounted €5.77 bn 
and the intragroup loans recorded a negative net value of €1.47 bn.  
 
The number of newly established foreign capital companies in Romania increased in 2021, by 43.8%, compared to the 
similar period in 2020, to 5,871 units. The 5,871 new companies had a subscribed share capital in the total amount of 
€42.4 mn, with 85.1% higher than that of the companies registered in 2020, of €22.9 mn. As of 31.12.2021, there were 
236,847 companies with foreign participation in the share capital in Romania. The value of the subscribed capital was 
€57.1 bn. 
 

Fiscal Policy: 
The consolidated budget ended 2021 with a deficit of 6.72% of GDP, below the initial estimate of over 7% of GDP. The 
deficit was lower than in 2020, when it was 9.6% of GDP, driven by the pandemic related expenses. 

  

GDP increase 
5.9% 

C/A Deficit 
7.05% of GDP 

Budget Deficit 
6.72% of GDP 
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The evolution of the budget deficit was determined by: the increase of budget revenues by 1.4% of GDP, mainly 
influenced by the dynamics of VAT and profit tax revenues and by the reduction of budget expenditures by 1.5 % of 
GDP (y/y), mainly due to the declining share of GDP in wages and social assistance. 
 
During 2021, budget revenues increased by 17.7% to 379.6 bn lei (almost 32% of GDP). This favourable development 
was influenced both by the low revenues from the previous year - as a result of measures to support taxpayers 
(postponement of payment terms, bonuses and exemptions) and by the recovery of economic indicators, respectively 
the partial recovery of some income categories (VAT, insurance contributions, income and profit tax). 
 
Public expenditures amounted to 459.6 bn lei, an increase of 8.3% compared to the previous year. Expressed as a 
percentage of GDP, expenditures fell from 40.1% of GDP in 2020 to 38.6% of GDP in 2021. At the same time, at the end 
of 2021, investment expenditures were 6.1 bn lei higher than in 2020 and the exceptional payments generated by the 
COVID-19 epidemic were 14.76 bn lei. 
 
For 2022, the budget was built on a budget deficit target estimated at 5.8% of GDP, while the National Strategy and 
Forecast Commission revised its economic growth forecast for 2022 to 4.3%, down from 4.6% as initially estimated. 
 

Inflation: 
The annual inflation rate was on an upward trend in 2021 increasing to 8.19% from to 2.06% the previous year and 
over the BNR projection of 7.5%. 
 
The main increase was recorded for natural gas 51.57% and electricity 28.10%. Foods also recorded price increases, 
reported in December 2020: oil by 27%, meat and meat preparations 4.41%, milk and dairy products 4.93%, alcoholic 
beverages 3.56%. 
 
For the year 2022, NBR estimates an inflation rate of 9.6%, below the peak estimated for the second quarter of 2022 
of 11.2%. 
 

Interest Rates: 
In 2021, as a result of the impact that the COVID pandemic had on the Romanian economy, the NBR Board of Directors 
reduced in January 2021 the level of the monetary policy interest rate by 25bps to 1.25% from 1.50%. Starting with 
October, NBR increased the monetary policy interest rate from 1.25% to 1.50%, and in November from 1.50% to 1.75%, 
when it also extended the symmetrical corridor formed by the interest rates of permanent facilities around the rate of 
monetary policy interest rate to ± 0.75%, from ± 0.50% and the interest rate for the credit facility (Lombard) was thus 
increased to 2.50% per annum, from 2% while the rate interest on the deposit facility remained at 1.00%. 
 
ROBOR recorded increases during 2021 for 3M, 6M and 12M maturities. 
 
The quotations of ROBOR 3M-12M had an average upward trend, which lasted until the end of the 4th quarter: in the 
case of ROBOR 3M 3.01% at the end of the year, compared to 2.01% in January 2021 (increase of 49.75 %), in the case 
of ROBOR 6M at 3.13% on December 31, compared to 2.09% at the beginning of the year (increase of 49.76%) and in 
the case of ROBOR 12M at 3.23% at the end of the year, compared to 2, 12% in January 2021 (increase of 52.35%). 
 

Exchange Rates: 
During 2021, the Romanian leu depreciated by 1.61% against the Euro in the context of a relatively low volatility (4.9481 
as of 31.12.2021 compared to 4.8694 as of 04.01.2021), while in the case of parity USD/RON national currency 
registered a depreciation of 10.20% (4.3707 at EOY compared to 3.9660 on  January 2021). For the CHF/RON parity, a 
depreciation of 6.41% was recorded and for GBP/RON the national currency depreciated by 8.84%. 
 
 

2. Banking Market 
 
Loans expanded by 14% y/y to RON 312.9bn. Local currency denominated loans grew by 19% y/y up to RON 230bn, 
while FCY loans increased by 2% y/y to RON 82.8bn. 
 
Deposits increased by 14% y/y to RON 459.2bn. Retail deposits increased by 11% y/y to RON 283.9bn, while companies’ 
deposits expanded by 19% y/y to RON 175.3bn. 
 
The capital adequacy indicators for the system were lower than in 2020, but still at comfortable levels, well above 
minimum requirements. Loans to deposits ratio just under 69%, on an upward trend compared to 2020 (<66%), as a 
result of change in consumer behaviour due to confidence in the evolution of COVID-19 pandemic.  

  

Inflation 
8.19% 

3M ROBOR 
1.82% (avg.) 

RON/EUR 
4.9481 (eoy) 

Loans 
+14% y/y 
Deposits 
+14% y/y 
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The rate of the non-performing loans has followed a downward trend to its lowest level (3.35%). High aggregated ROA 
(1.38%) and ROE (13.45%) in 2021 mostly as a result of lower cost of risk compared to 2020. Total assets increased by 
14% up to almost RON 640bn. 
 

3. The Bank and its shareholders 
 
First Bank is a fully-licensed banking entity in Romania, being headquartered in 29-31 Nicolae Titulescu Street, 1st 
district, Bucharest. The Bank is registered to Trade Commerce Registry with J40/1441/1995 while its fiscal registration 
number is 7025592.  
 
First Bank offers a wide range of products and services for the local and international clients, including retail, SMEs and 
corporate banking. In addition, First Bank offers loans portfolio administration services. Currently, FB is servicing 
business and retail loans of two major Greek lenders (i.e. Piraeus Bank and Eurobank).  
 

Shareholders: 
The main shareholder of the Bank is JCF IV Tiger Holdings S.a.r.l having the registered office in 5, rue Guillaume Kroll, L-
1882 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. 
 
J.C. Flowers & Co. is a leading private investment firm dedicated to investing globally in the financial services industry. 
Founded in 1998, the firm has invested nearly US$ 16 billion of capital, including co-investment, in 60 portfolio 
companies in 18 countries, across a range of industry subsectors that include banking, insurance and reinsurance, 
securities firms, specialty finance, and services and asset management. Because J.C. Flowers & Co. is focused solely on 
the financial services sector, the extent of J.C. Flowers’ relevant expertise and experience is unique among private equity 
investors and this gives J.C. Flowers the ability to add significant value to its investee companies, and in particular to 
First Bank. Among other valuable investments in financial sector, the portfolio of J.C. Flowers & Co includes:  HSH 
Nordbank, OneSavings Bank UK, BTG Pactual Brazil, One West Bank US, Sehinsei Bank Japan, NIBC Netherlands, 
Hamburg Commercial Bank Germany. With approximately US$ 6 billion of assets under management, J.C. Flowers & Co. 
has offices in New York and London. 
 
Minority shareholders (individuals and legal entities) hold 0.019487% of Bank’s share capital. 
 

Share Capital: 
The registered share capital of the Bank consists of 11,960,886,950 nominal shares with a nominal value of RON 0.1. 
 

4. Corporate Governance 
 
The corporate governance of First Bank represents an on-going process in which integrity, responsibility and 
transparency are fundamental elements in taking correct decisions and setting goals that contribute to increasing the 
confidence of shareholders in the company economic efficiency, sustainable growth and financial stability. At First Bank, 
all the involved parties understand the critical importance of effective corporate governance for the safe and sound 
functioning of the Bank. 
 

General Shareholders Meeting:  
General shareholders meetings are ordinary and extraordinary. The Ordinary General Shareholders Meeting meets at 
least once a year, within no more than 130 days from the end of the financial year, while the Extraordinary General 
Shareholders Meeting meets whenever necessary. 
 
The Bank makes the best efforts, in compliance with the legal provisions in the field, to facilitate the shareholders’ 
participation in the General Shareholders Meetings, as well as the full exercise  
of their rights. 
 
The Ordinary General Meeting decides on the annual financial statements (based on the reports presented by the 
Board of Directors and by the financial auditor), the dividend, election/ revocation of the members of the Board of 
Directors, Audit Committee and of the financial auditor, the remuneration of the Board members, discharging the 
Board members of their liability with respect to the previous fiscal year activities, the budget for the following financial  
year. 
 
The Extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting decides on: change in the legal form of the Bank, the relocation of 
the headquarters, change of the object of activity, change the duration of the Bank, the early dissolution of the Bank, 
opening of insolvency proceedings of the Bank, increase or reduce the share capital, merge with another company or 
spin-off, split or de-merge the Bank, establishment, modification or dissolution of subsidiaries, any potential 
acquisition, alienation, lease, exchange or setting guarantees on the assets owned by the Bank, whose value exceeds 
half of the carrying amount of the Bank’s assets, any amendment to the Articles of Association. 

Ordinary GSM 
31.12.2021: 2 

Extraordinary 
GSM  

31.12.2021: 1 

J.C.Flowers & Co.

Minorities
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During 2021, there were 3 General Shareholders Meetings: 2 Ordinary General Shareholders Meetings (held on: March 
11 and May 4,) and 1 Extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting (held on: March 11). 
 

Administration and Management of the Bank 
First Bank adopted a unitary management system that is fully consistent with the principles of good corporate 
governance, transparency of relevant corporate information, protection of shareholders and other stakeholders, as 
well as of an efficient operation. 
 
The Board of Directors and the Executive Committee promote high ethical and professional standards and a strong 
internal control culture. Their composition, the size and the skills of their members are well suited for the size and the 
complexity of the Bank's activity. 
 
The members of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee: 

- Have a good reputation and the necessary expertise to carry out their responsibilities in compliance with the 
rules of prudent and healthy banking practices; 

- Have the professional experience that implies theoretical and practical knowledge adequate to the nature, 
extent and complexity of the banking business and of the entrusted responsibilities; 

- Ensure the conditions of the collective competence of the management bodies for an efficient and highly 
performing administration of the Bank; 

- Commit enough time to their responsibilities, showing commitment and involvement in exercising their 
responsibilities. 

 
The exercise of the responsibilities by members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee is subject of 
obtaining the approval of the National Bank of Romania. 
 

Board of Directors: 
The structure of the Board of Directors ensures a balance between executive and non-executive members. The Board 
of Directors meets whenever necessary, but at least quarterly. 
 
The composition of the Board of Directors as at 31.12.2021 was as follows: 
 

- Mrs. Ilinca Rosetti, Chairman (non-executive member)  
- Mr. Hendricus Charles Hubertus Paardekooper (executive member)  
- Mr. Andrea Secci, Member (non-executive member)  
- Mr. Bogdan Ciobotaru, Member (non-executive member) 
- Mr. Richard Carrion, Member (non-executive member) 
- Mr. Paul Nabavi, Member (non-executive member) 
- Mrs. Oana Petrescu (independent non-executive member) 
- Mr. Richard Wilson (independent non-executive member, approved by National Bank on 8th of February 

2021) 
- Mr. Nicholas Tesseyman (independent non-executive member, approved by National Bank of Romania on 

1st of March 2021). 
 
In order to develop and maintain good practices of business administration, the Board of Directors set up six 
committees that assist it in performing its attributions: Audit Committee, Board Risk Committee, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, Board Credit Committee, Transformation Committee and Executive Committee.  
 

Executive Committee: 
The management and the coordination of the current activity of the Bank is delegated by the Board of Directors to the 
executive officers. The executive officers of the Bank are elected by the Board of Directors, among directors or from 
outside the Board, and act together in the Executive Committee. The meetings of the Executive Committee are held at 
least once per week, or any time the activity of the Bank requires it. There are 17 committees that assist the Executive 
Committee in performing its attributions. 
 
The composition of the Executive Committee as at 31 Dec 2021 was as follows: 
 

- Mr. Hendricus Charles Hubertus Paardekooper, President 
- Mrs. Madalina Otilia Teodorescu, Vice-President 
- Mrs. Anca Mihaela Petcu, Vice-President 
- Mr. Nikolaos Chaniotis, Vice-President 
- Mr. Cosmin Ciobanu, Vice-President 
- Mr. Razvan Filcescu, Vice-President 

  

Executive Committee

Board of Directors
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Since the reporting date, the following changes have occurred in the structure of the Executive Committee: on 28 
January 2021 the Board of Directors appointed Mrs. Anca Mihaela Petcu as Vice-president, member of the Executive 
Committee, starting with 24 March 2021. Mrs. Anca Mihaela Petcu was approved by National Bank of Romania on 
28.05.2021. 
 

5. December 2021 Financial Results 
 

Highlights: 
2021 represented a challenging and unpredictable year for First Bank as well as for the whole banking market. The 
COVID-19 pandemic accelerated the digitalization and automation process that had already started before the 
pandemic, aiming increases in efficiency and long-term sustainability. 
 
The focus for the period was on the transformation processes aiming to reposition the bank as an agile and efficient 
business platform.  

 
December 2021 Financial Position: 

The below analysis of the financial position of the Bank is performed based on the financial statements prepared 
according to the International Financial Reporting Standards, for the period ended December 31, 2021 and the 
comparative period 2020. 

 
Assets: 

The total Bank’s assets as of December 31, 2021 decreased ytd by 5% reaching RON 6,935 million (2020: RON 7,310 
million).  
 
The assets’ structure is presented below: 

 

 
  

Bank’s Assets 

RON 6.9bn 

-5% ytd 
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Loans and advances to customers: 
The net loans portfolio reached, at December 31, 2021, an outstanding balance of RON 3,910 million (2020: RON 
3,712 million), increased compared to the end of the previous year due to a strategic focus on Mortgage loans and 
aided by participating in the state funded lending program “SME Invest”. The upward evolution was also sustained 
by a solid aggregated demand across segments.  
 
The Bank’s loans portfolio has a balanced mix, companies’ segments representing 57% of total portfolio (2020: 57%), 
while individuals’ loans contribute by 43% to the total loans (2020: 43%).  
 
The composition of the loan portfolio is presented in the next table: 

  
 

The good quality of the Bank’s loans portfolio was maintained during 2021 with the level of NPLs remaining flat at 
4.5% (2020: 4.5%). The NPL coverage with provisions increased compared to last year reaching 59.7% (2020: 57.7%). 

 
Liquid Assets 

During 2021 liquidity stood at comfortable levels, all liquidity metrics being positioning well above the regulatory 
requirements. The evolution of the liquid assets is in line with the deposits trend and remains under a cautious 
management in view of the liquidity and efficiency objectives. 

 
 
Liquidity  

The Bank’s Liquidity Coverage Ratio was 225% as of December 31, 2020 (2020: 294%), while the Net Stable Funding 
Ratio positioned at 1.75 (2020:1.69). Gross loans to deposits ratio increased compared to 2020 from 72% to 80% as 
of December 31, 2021. 
The unencumbered bonds (bearing Romanian sovereign risk) decreased from 25% to 18% of total assets. 

  

Loans 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

(RON thousands)

Companies, out of which: 2,363,169 57% 2,259,431 57%

Corporate 1,299,574 32% 1,335,517 34%

SMEs 880,680 21% 754,767 19%

Micro 182,915 4% 169,147 4%

Individuals, out of which: 1,749,780 43% 1,688,009 43%

  Individuals – consumer loans 392,900 10% 401,622 10%

  Individuals – personal needs 

(secured)
311,608 8% 309,785 8%

  Mortgage loans 996,181 24% 923,078 23%

  Overdraft 29,763 1% 33,086 1%

  Credit Cards 19,328 0% 20,438 1%

Total gross value 4,112,949 100% 3,947,440 100%

Less provision for impairment -202,764 -5% -235,239 -6%

Total net value 3,910,185 3,712,201

% of 

total

% of 

total

Liquid assets 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

(RON thousands)

Cash 203,968 8% 196,798 6%

Placements with Central Bank 605,195 23% 615,070 19%

Mandatory reserve 458,067 18% 444,503 14%

Overnight deposits 147,128 6% 170,567 5%

Due from other banks 521,116 20% 586,926 18%

Unencumbered Bonds 1,281,590 49% 1,826,225 57%

Total Liquid assets 2,611,869 100% 3,225,019 100%

% of 

total

% of 

total

Loans 

RON 3.9bn 

+5% ytd 

Liquid Assets 

RON 2.6bn 

-19% ytd 

LCR 
225% 

LtD ratio 
80% 
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Tangible and intangible assets 
The tangible and intangible assets account for 1.4% of Bank’s total assets (2020: 1%). The total value of investments 
(additions of Property, Plant and Equipment, and Intangible assets) amounted to almost RON 42 million as of 
December 31, 2021 up by 56% compared to previous year (2020: almost RON 27 million). 
 
Starting with 2019, according to IFRS16 an asset was recognized for the present value of all future payments related 
to rental contracts consisting in 1.2% of Bank’s total assets. Part of the RON 82.5 million right of use assets is related 
to the rental of the Titulescu head office building.   
 

Tax assets 
As of December 31, 2021, the Bank has tax assets in amount of RON 42.4 million following the tax audit ended in 
2018. The Bank challenged the outcome of the tax audit and recorded an uncertain tax asset based on a very 
rigorous assessment of its chances of winning the respective litigation.  
 

Other financial assets 
The largest item is represented by an indemnity asset bought from the main shareholder (arm’s length transaction) 
for receivables related to operational risk which are indemnified by the former parent, Piraeus Bank (RON 100 
million). 
 

Liabilities 
During 2021, the Bank continued to enjoy a stable and solid funding base.  
The comparative statement of liabilities, for December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 

Customers’ Accounts 
Customer accounts represent 84% of total liabilities and fund 74% of Bank’s total assets. 
The tables below present the structure and the evolution of customers’ accounts: 
 

           

Customers' Accounts 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

(RON thousands)

Current accounts & Sight Deposits 2,898,512 56% 2,365,024 43%

Term deposits 2,157,358 42% 3,032,887 55%

Collateral deposits 106,072 2% 76,038 1%

Fiduciary deposits 1,042 0% 3,580 0%

Total 5,162,984 100% 5,477,529 100%

Customers' Accounts 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

(RON thousands)

Companies 2,496,790 48% 2,503,742 46%

Individuals 2,666,194 52% 2,973,787 54%

Total 5,162,984 100% 5,477,529 100%

% of 

total

% of 

total

% of 

total

% of 

total

Liabilities 

RON 6.1 bn 

-6% ytd 

Deposits 

RON 5.2bn 

-6% ytd 
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Interbank funding 

As of December 31, 2021, the amounts attracted from other banks represented 8% of Bank’s funding mix (7% of 
total assets), as compared to 10% at the end of 2020 (9% of total assets). 

 

 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Bank held a subordinated debt in amount of €40 million granted by the former 
parent (Piraeus Bank S.A. – Greece). The subordinated debt will mature in June 2023. 
 

Provisions 
As of December 31, 2021, the Bank held provisions in amount of RON105 million (+62%) covering the legal risk 
associated mainly to past commercial practices.  
 

 
 

Equity 
Shareholders’ equity increased by 6%, positively influenced by RON 57.1 million net profit, partially 
counterbalanced by RON 13 million decrease in securities valuation due to gains less losses reclassified to profit 
or loss upon disposal of part of the AFS T-Bills portfolio. 
 
The structure of the shareholders’ equity is presented in the table below. 

  
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Bank reported a total capital adequacy ratio of 23.14% (31 December 2020: 23.19%) 
and a CET1 ratio of 21.43% (31 December 2019: 20.53%), well over regulatory limits. The ratios include the 2021 
net profit. 
 

Income Statement 
During 2021, the Bank recorded a net profit of RON 57.1 million driven by the, higher net fee and commission 
income, higher trading income as a result of revaluation of derivatives, FX with clients and recycling of FVOCI 
reserve, release of provisions for loans impairment while important savings were made in administrative and 
operating expenses. 
The total comprehensive income of RON 43.8 million was influenced by the gains less losses reclassified to profit 
or loss upon disposal of part of the AFS T-bills portfolio. 

  

Due to other banks 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

(RON thousands)

Sight deposits 244,852 50% 262,784 41%

Term deposits 248,056 50% 85,008 13%Sale and repurchase agreements with 

banks 0 0% 0 0%

Borrowings from other banks 0 0% 289,491 45%

Total 492,908 100% 637,283 100%

% of 

total

% of 

total

Provisions 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

(RON thousands)

Provisions for litigations 22,478 21% 20,996 32%

Provisions for potential claims 52,980 50% 33,438 51%

Other Provisions 29,960 28% 10,583 16%

Total 105,418 100% 65,017 100%

% of 

total

% of 

total

Shareholders' Equity 31 Dec. 2021 31 Dec. 2020

(RON thousands)

Share capital 1,246,880 0% 1,246,880

Share premium -94 -94

(Accumulated loss) / Retained earnings -558,210 -9% -613,061

Current Profit / Loss 57,071 -181% -70,766

Loss carried forward -615,281 13% -542,295

Other reserves 108,534 -9% 119,544

Total shareholders’ equity 797,110 6% 753,269

ytd 

change

Due to Banks 

RON 0.5bn 

-23% ytd 

Equity 

RON 0.8bn 

+6% ytd 

CAR 
23.14% 

Net Profit 
RON 57.1m 

Sub Debt

RON0.2bn

+2% ytd
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The table below presents the comparative income statement for 2021 and 2020: 

 
 

Elements that influenced Bank’s result in 2021 
Net interest income decreased by 9% y/y reflecting the unfavourable interest rates environment. On the income 
side, the interest income related to loans declined y/y by 10% influenced by low ROBOR rate (1.82% on average 
compared to 2.39% in 2020). A decline in interest income from investment securities was also recorded (-37%) 
due to lower volumes and lower market yields. On the funding side, the interest paid on customer accounts 
decreased y/y by 47% reflecting the improved pricing competitiveness and excess liquidity on the market, while 
costs on wholesale funding decreased y/y by 38% due to low interest rates in interbank money market as a result 
of high liquidity. 
 
Net Fees and Commission Income, other than assets administration fees, increased y/y by 10%, positively 
influenced by higher Cards transactions and higher income from bancassurance. Income from assets 
administration increased y/y (+26%) due to good performance in collections for the assets under management. 
 
Bank’s Net Trading Income strongly increased y/y by 130% due to strong gains from interest rate swaps (+8.1 
million in 2021 compared to a loss of 11 million in 2020), while the gains from trading foreign currency improved 
(+12%). A gain from disposal of FVOCI securities in amount of 14 million was booked in the first part of 2021 
contributing to the overall result. 
 
Bank’s operating costs have strongly reduced y/y by 22% as a result of an increase in operating efficiency after 
the measures taken in the past as well as concentrated efforts in cost containment, while some projects that 
incurred high costs in 2020 have ended (Leumi integration, launch of mobile banking app, etc). 
  

Bank NII 
-9% y/y 

Bank NFC 
(non-AA) 
+10% y/y 

Bank Costs 
-22% y/y 
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The cost of credit risk decreased in 2021 by 67% compared to 2020 as the risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic 
did not materialize and part of the provisions booked in 2020 were released during the year. This evolution did 
not impact NPLs coverage ratio which further increased from 57.7% up to 59.7%, closer to the market average. 
 
Recoveries from written off loans remained an important contributor to the overall profitability despite the slight 
decrease y/y. 
 

 

6. Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
The internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of the Bank’s financial statements for external reporting purposes, in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The internal control over financial reporting includes the disclosure 
controls and procedures designed to prevent misstatements. 
 
The main risks in financial reporting are that either financial statements do not present a true and fair view due to 
inadvertent or intentional errors (fraud) or the publication of financial statements is not done on a timely basis. These risks 
may reduce shareholders confidence or cause reputational damage and may have legal consequences. A lack of fair 
presentation arises when one or more financial statement amounts or disclosures contain misstatements (or omissions) 
that are material. 
 
Misstatements are deemed material if they could, individually or collectively, influence economic decisions that users make 
based on the financial statements. To confine those risks of financial reporting, the Bank has established specific internal 
controls with the aim of providing reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatements in its financial 
statements. 
 
Controls within the system of internal control over financial reporting are performed by all business functions and 
infrastructure functions with an involvement in reviewing the reliability of the books and records that underlie the financial 
statements. However, the internal controls over financial reporting involve staff based mainly in the following functions: 
Finance, Data Management, IT, Operations and Risk. 
 
Finance function is responsible for the periodic preparation of the financial statements and operates independently from 
the business units. Finance function has control responsibilities which contribute to the overall preparation process: 
 

- Finance specialists are responsible for reviewing the quality of financial data by performing validation and control. 
They are in close contact with business and employ their specific knowledge to address financial reporting issues 
arising on products and transactions, as well as validating reserving and other adjustments based on judgment. 

- Finance is responsible for activities which include the preparation of financial and management information, 
forecasting and planning, and financial regulatory reporting. Finance sets the reporting timetables, performs the 
aggregation processes, effects the elimination entries for inter and intra group activities, controls the period end 
and adjustment processes, compiles the Bank financial statements. 

- Finance is responsible for consistent interpretation and application of International Financial Reporting Standards 
within the Bank. Finance provides accounting advice to business units and is responsible for the timely resolution 
of specific accounting issues. 

- Finance is responsible for providing guidance for valuation methodologies, undertaking in the same time the 
valuation control work, challenging valuation results.  

- Tax function is responsible for producing income tax related financial data. 

- The internal controls over the financial reporting is also importantly supported by data Management, IT, 
Operations and Risk Management. Although these functions are not directly involved in the financial preparation 
process, they contribute significantly to the production of financial information:  

- Data Management and IT ensure that sub-ledger information and general ledger postings are properly 
supported by robust data management framework and appropriate infrastructure. 

- Operations structure is responsible for confirming transactions with bank counterparties and performs 
reconciliations of nostro account balances. 

- Risk Management is responsible for developing policies and procedures for managing significant risks. Risk 
Management develops procedures for the identification of impairment and calculation of provisions for 
credit and operational risks and assesses their adequacy. 
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7. Risk Management  
 
An efficient risk management is considered vital for the Bank in order to achieve its strategic objectives and to ensure 
quality returns to its shareholders. The Bank places particular emphasis on the effective monitoring and management of 
risk, with a view to maintaining stability, financial soundness and continuity of its operations. In this context, the risk 
management framework includes the sum of all strategies, policies, procedures, governance and systems that the Bank 
develops and implements in order to adequately identify, measure, monitor, control and mitigate risks deriving from its 
operations, while maintaining their level within the risk appetite and risk-bearing capacity of the Bank. 
 
In addition to the effective risk management objective, the risk management activity and internal control system have 
been developed to meet external requirements and in particular, regulatory requirements. 
 
The Risk Strategy is the way to identify and manage significant risks of the Bank, which would occur in the normal business 
conditions and to formalize a robust framework for managing and controlling their conformity with the objectives of the 
general business strategy. 
 
The main objectives of the Risk Strategy are the following: 

- Strong liquidity base, maintenance of capital adequacy and NPEs resolution are key objectives in this context. 

- Constant enhancement of the Risk Management Framework and monitoring of control implementation and 
effectiveness. 

- Developing and maintaining the risk awareness and culture across all levels (strategic, tactical and 
operational) of the Bank.   

- Compliance with the current regulatory framework, supervisory requirements on risk management and 
adherence to the international best practices. 

- Establishment of limits that maintain risks within acceptable levels according to the risk appetite of the Bank.  

- Implementation of best practices in risk management that correspond to the size, the risk profile, the business 
strategy of the Bank and the continuous alignment and compliance with the regulatory requirements. 

- Contribution in the improvement of the Bank’s Internal Control System and Corporate Governance models.  

- Constant monitoring and improvement of control mechanisms of the Bank’s operations, in terms of risk 
management.  

- Support of optimal capital allocation and the risk adjusted yield per business unit/customer.  
 
The Risk Strategy is based on three main dimensions: risk appetite, risk tolerance and risk profile. 
 
The risk appetite is expressed as the absolute level of risks that the Bank is ready to incur a priori given current business 
conditions for ensuring the achievement of Bank’s strategic objectives. 
 
Risk tolerance represents the maximum level of risk that may be undertaken by the Bank, given its capital base, available 
liquidity and regulatory restrictions. 
 
The risk profile is defined as the level of risk exposure, at a given point in time, per risk type, as identified by the Bank. The 
risk profile, assessed through the risk matrix, is not a mere static measure, but must provide a dynamic assessment of the 
evolution of risks. The purpose of the risk profile is to determine the dimension of each significant risk and the total risk 
level, based on key risk indicators.  
 
The internal risk management framework covers the following:  

- The identification, assessment/measurement, management, monitoring and reporting of risks. 
- The establishment, allocation and monitoring of risk limits (including regulatory) in collaboration with the 

responsible Business Units (risk owners), as well as the escalation process regarding breaches.  
- The development and implementation of methodologies for supporting the risk management framework, including 

early warning systems, credit models and risk adjusted pricing.  
- Guidelines and tools/methodologies for risk management purposes. 
- The stress testing framework employing scenarios adjusted to the current business environment, across the range 

of activities and risk types of the Bank.  
- The estimation of capital distribution across different business units. 
- The implementation of risk management reporting requirements (internal and external). 
- The process of assessing the Bank’s capital adequacy against risks, in accordance with both idiosyncratic factors, 

such as Business Plan, risk profile and appetite, as well as systemic factors, e.g. macroeconomic environment, 
market expectations. 

- The disclosure of information regarding capital adequacy and the risks undertaken and managed, in order to ensure 
valid public disclosures and compliance with the regulatory requirements.  

- The risk data aggregation capabilities and the risk reporting practice.  
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The main risk categories to which the Bank is exposed are: credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, 
reputational risk, strategic risk, interest rate risk in the banking book, leverage risk, compliance risk and capital adequacy. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation or the risk that the counterparty to a transaction could default before the final settlement of the 
transaction's cash flows. 
 
The Bank recognizes and manages the intrinsic credit risk in all products and activities. The Bank has appropriate and 
adequately defined credit-granting criteria, which reflect the market targets and include thorough evaluation of borrowers, 
counterparties, and guarantors, as well as the purpose, the type of funding, the type of collateral / security and the source 
of repayment.  
 
The Bank has clearly defined policies and procedures of approving new credit as well as restructuring, renewal, refinancing 
of existing credit or write-offs while handles possible exceptional deviations with the utmost attention. The Bank has limits 
structure that allows for grouping and comparison of credit limits for different types of risk exposure at various levels, such 
as borrower level (including connected borrowers), counterparty level, sector level and product level.  
 
Regular stress testing and scenario analysis are performed, in order to identify possible events or future changes in 
economic conditions that could have unfavourable effects on a Bank’s credit exposures. 
 
The Bank’s concentration risk is monitored both at the level of economic activity of the business portfolio (on and off-
balance sheet exposures) under primary classification NACE 2, and at the individual level, examining exposures to larger 
customers. For concentration risk assessment at individual level, the concentration index Herfindahl-Hirschman (HHI) is 
used. 
 
Proactive and efficient management of non-performing credits and cases that require special handling in a timely and 
efficient manner, including corrective actions as required.  
 
The Bank’s credit risk strategy considers the following characteristics: type of exposure, economic sector, ownership type, 
counterparty category, residence, geographic area, currency, initial maturity and special exposures.  

- Type of exposure - the Bank intends to lend on short (below 1 year), medium (1-5 years) and long term (above 5 
years). 

- Economic sector – the Bank particularly aims to channel the lending to financially sound companies in sectors 
with increased potential.  

- Ownership type: – the Bank will grant loans to private and public entities. 

- Counterparty category – The Bank will place equal focus towards Corporate, Mid-Market, Small & Medium 
Enterprises and Households. 

- Residence – The Bank will grant loans to residents and non-residents.  

- Currency – The bank will only offer loans in the main currencies (exotic currency operations are forbidden). The 
Bank can also grant multi-currency loans. 

- Initial maturity – loans to Corporates and SME’s can be granted on 12 months up to 15 years, while loans to 
individuals can be granted on 6 months up to 30 years, depending on the facility type.  

- Exposures to related parties. Specific limits are set within the procedure on related parties. 

- Large exposures - Specific limits are set within the procedure on the identification, monitoring and reporting of 
large exposures. 

 
In order to diminish and control credit risk, the Bank takes the following measures: 

- Activities such as loan analysis and approval, loan disbursement, loan follow-up and collection/workout, are 
treated separately, so that each activity is taken over by a distinct structure of the Bank;  

- Internal activities are mapped to business lines, while identifying the organizational structures involved in those 
activities; 

- In order to cover all the risks that can appear in the operational lending flows, the Bank issued policies and 
detailed procedures for different loan categories;  

- Lending and risk management activities are performed by specialized personnel; 
- The personnel are accordingly allocated to specific areas of lending: analysis, follow-up, collection etc.;  
- Regular training is provided to people involved in specific areas of lending;  
- Large exposures (exposures above 10% of tier 1 own funds) are approved by the appropriate level of 

competence, in accordance with the internal regulatory framework and the governance principles of the Bank; 
- For the management, control and mitigation of credit risk, the Bank uses credit limits.  
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Moreover, the Bank implemented specific processes for the measurement, assessment and monitoring of credit risk, based 
on the following: 

- The credit risk profile, using key indicators and adequate limits; 
- The credit risk indicators to assess the evolution and quality of credit portfolio; 
- The dimension and evolution of credit risk minimum capital requirements; 
- The dimension and evolution of credit risk internal capital; 
- The methodology for stress testing on credit risk. 

 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk of incurring on-balance and off-balance sheet losses due to adverse market movements in prices 
(such as, for example, share prices, interest rates, and foreign-exchange rates). 
 
The Bank has clearly defined policies and procedures in order to ensure the active management of market risk. The Bank 
has the appropriate systems in order to measure and assess market risk while keeping up with current regulatory and 
banking environment challenges. 
 
Every activity that exposes the Bank to market risk is adequately captured in the systems while any new product is reviewed 
in advance. The Bank regularly assesses the horizon that allows any material market risks being hedged or the relevant 
positions to be liquidated (regular assessment of market liquidity). 
 
The Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA) framework of the Bank clearly addresses the procedure followed for CVA 
calculation on derivatives portfolios from all involved desks, their roles and responsibilities. The Bank has adequate 
arrangements in place for active monitoring and managing CVA for both accounting and regulatory purposes.  
 
Exchange rate risk strategy takes into consideration the following:  

- An indicator to commensurate the decrease of income caused by adverse movements in exchange rates: the 
level of potential loss; 

- Trading limits, according to the risk profile such as: intraday, O/N, daily and monthly stop-loss, and limits 
monitored by Back-Office Department and Risk Management Division;  

- Stress test scenarios for stressed market conditions to assess the impact on returns of potential extreme 
volatilities of exchange rates; 

- Internal VaR –type model under the internal capital adequacy assessment process;  
- Regular reports to the management body on limit observance or limit breaches, as well as on the evolution of 

the risk profile.  
 
Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book 
Interest Rate risk in the Banking Book is the risk of a potential loss of value that may arise due to an adverse change in the 
absolute level of interest rates, in the spread between two rates, in the shape of a yield curve on any other interest rate 
relationship. Subject to this risk are primarily all interest-bearing assets and liabilities, while non-interest-bearing assets 
and liabilities may also be affected to the extent their value is correlated to the level of interest rates. 
 
Interest rate risk strategy includes the following: 

- An indicator to quantify the change in net interest income as a result of interest rate fluctuations (i.e. Earning at 
Risk);  

- An indicator to quantify the impact of a parallel shift of the yield curves by 100 bps on the present value of the 
bank’s assets and liabilities, for both Trading and Banking book (i.e. PV 100); 

- An indicator to quantify the potential change of the economic value of the bank due to interest rates fluctuations 
by 200bps (i.e. Duration Gap – DGap); 

- Limits monitored by Treasury Back office Department and Risk Management Division; 
- Regular reports to the management body on limits observance and on the evolution of the risk profile;  
- Stress test scenarios to assess the impact of possible adverse evolutions of interest rates on returns. 

 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the current or future risk of negative impact on profits and capital, determined by the Bank’s inability to 
meet its liabilities when they become due. 
The Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Framework defines the way to manage the liquidity, the reporting system, 
and the preventive and corrective actions which should be taken to avoid crisis situations. 
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The Bank's liquidity management process, as carried out within the Bank and monitored by a team from Treasury and 
Financial Markets Division and Risk Management Division includes: 

- Day-to-day funding managed by monitoring future cash flows in various currencies and in total to ensure that 
requirements can be met. These include replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. 
The Bank maintains an active presence in global money markets to enable this to happen; 

- Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any 
unforeseen interruption to cash flow; 

- Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements;  

- Performing periodic stress tests on liquidity; 

- Establishing funding plans to be applied in case of a liquidity crisis and testing them periodically; 

- Monitoring the cost of funds of the bank and the factors that lead to it decreasing/increasing; and 

- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
 
The Bank performs on a regular basis, stress testing simulations in order to assess the effect of extreme possible conditions 
in its liquidity and has in place a Contingency Funding Plan that ensure the early identification and the prompt handling of 
a liquidity crisis, through predetermined procedures and alternative courses of action. 
 
Operational Risk 
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from 
external events, and includes legal risk. 
 
The Bank acknowledges its exposure to operational risk, which stems from its daily operations and the implementation of 
both business and strategic goals. Operational risk is assumed and managed at a structural level, as close as possible to the 
source of the risk by the development of a common and comprehensible “culture” regarding operational risk management 
across all organizational levels. 
 
The management of operational risk covers all business and support functions of the Bank targeting at both the control 
and mitigation of the risk. The operational risk management framework, documented through methodologies and 
processes, is consistent to the identification, measurement, monitoring, control and mitigation of risk. 
 
The operational risk management framework includes the Risk and Control Self-Assessment, the operational risk events / 
losses collection, the monitoring of the action plans, the key risk indicators, and the calculation of the internal capital. 
 
The Business Continuity Plan (BCP), constitutes a clear and organized approach for the mitigation of any negative impact 
that may affect the business continuity under crisis conditions. The implementation of the Business Continuity Plan ensures 
the smooth and uninterrupted operation of the Bank, the effective treatment of operational risk and the full compliance 
with the regulatory framework. 
 
The operational risk management framework includes the systematic monitoring of data that are related to operational 
risk and the loss data collection process. Adequate information is provided at all levels of the organizational structure in 
order to facilitate effective decision-making. Insurance policies are in place in order to mitigate efficiently and effectively 
the exposure of the Bank to operational risk. 
 
Reputational risk 
Reputational risk is defined as the present or future risk of losses in returns or in capital due to adverse perception of the 
image of the Bank by customers, counterparties, shareholders, investors or regulators. 
With respect to the efficient management of reputational events, the Bank aims to:  
- Identify on a continuous basis the potential triggers of reputational risk;  
- Monitor the key risk indicators that commensurate the level of risk; 
- Maintain a structure to be responsible for the identification of reputational risk triggers and of adequate measures 

for crisis management, for the coordination of actions taken by relevant persons in order to reduce/eliminate the 
effects of potential crisis and for the implementation or execution of executive decisions;  

- Ensure business continuity in unforeseen circumstances; 
- Monitor the image of First Bank in mass-media and identify any rumour that can result into reputational risks, and 

especially those rumours that can eventually affect the liquidity of the Bank. 
 
Strategic risk 
Strategic risk represents the current or future risk of negative impact on profits and capital determined by changes in the 
business environment or by not favourable business decisions, by the inadequate implementation of decisions or by the 
absence of reaction to the changes in the business environment. 
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The Bank manages the strategic risk through robust internal control mechanisms at the strategic level of its corporate 
governance. This covers all aspects and processes of the strategic decision-making. The Bank tightly and effectively 
monitors the economic outlook and the business environment in which it operates. Budgets and business planning are 
regularly readjusted in order to reflect the changing economic conditions. 
 
Leverage risk 
Leverage risk is the risk resulting from bank's vulnerability due to leverage or contingent leverage that may require 
unintended corrective measures to its business plan, including distressed selling of assets which might result in losses or 
in valuation adjustments to its remaining assets. 
 
The main strategic objectives with potential impact on the risk of excessive leverage are:  
- maintaining the capital at pre-existent levels;  
- organic growth of capital by restoring the capacity to generate profit;  

The management of the risk of excessive leverage is performed by measuring and monitoring a specific indicator. 
 
Compliance risk 

Compliance risk is the current or future risk of affecting the profits and the capital, which may lead to significant financial 
losses or which may affect the reputation of a credit institution, as a consequence of infringements or non-compliance 
with the legal and regulatory framework, with the agreements, recommended practices or ethical standards.  

 
The Bank adopts specific policies and procedures to manage the compliance risk within the various compliance areas, as 
follows:  

- The management of conflicts of interests is a permanent priority, the personnel being responsible for the 
identification, reporting and management of the situations which could generate conflicts of interest;  

- The employees of the Bank, regardless the position they hold within the Bank, have the obligation to observe 
and comply with the policy and procedures regarding management of the risk of money laundering and 
terrorism financing;  

- The Bank has zero-tolerance regarding bribery and corruption 
- The Bank ensures a necessary framework regarding market abuse  
- The Bank takes all the necessary measures for the strict compliance with the legislation and for an applicable 

regulatory framework. 
 
Capital Management and Capital adequacy 
The Bank recognizes the importance of maintaining a strong capital base against risks undertaken. The capital adequacy 
management target is to assure a strong capital base, capable to support the Bank’s business/strategic plan(s). 
 
The Bank calculates capital requirements against all types of risks it undertakes and reports on its capital adequacy in full 
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements. The risk and capital adequacy disclosures are at all time 
transparent, credible and reliable while adhering to best practices. 
 
Every activity that exposes the Bank to credit, market and operational risks subject to capital requirements is adequately 
captured and processed in the Bank’s systems. Capital adequacy is managed in a dynamic manner by considering prevailing 
and forward-looking economic conditions. 
 
In accordance with Article 148 of the Emergency Ordinance no. 99/2006 on credit institutions and capital adequacy, as 
subsequently amended and NBR Regulation no. 5/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions, the Bank has in 
place a process for internal assessment of capital adequacy to risks (ICAAP). The internal process for the assessment of 
capital adequacy to risks is integrated in the administration and management process of the Bank and in its decision-
making culture. The Bank performs periodically an evaluation of internal capital adequacy to risks by comparing the 
available own funds with internal capital requirements. The general framework for ICAAP is updated annually and the 
capital adequacy monitoring is performed on a quarterly basis. 
 
IT Infrastructure and Security Risk 

Being a financial institution, First Bank is exposed to multiple IT risks – among them: 
- IT security risk - defined by malware or DDoS cyber-attacks, unauthorized access to systems or confidential 

data, data loss through theft or encryption, unavailability of systems, etc. 
- Infrastructure associated risks– defined through the infrastructure and application capacity to respond to the 

business needs 
 
The need of digitalization but also for the continuous evolution of the way in which cyber attackers perform attacks on 
government and private institutions - maintain the bank in front of permanent challenges to combat all the increasingly 
sophisticated actions. 
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In order to respond effectively to all these challenges, First Bank has defined a framework for IT security risk management 
by: 

- defining and maintaining policies and procedures up to date in accordance with the requirements and 
recommendations of regulatory institutions, with the bank's internal regulations, as well as in accordance with 
the principles of international guides of good practice; 

- implementation and optimization of the most modern and efficient IT security technologies; 
- defining and improving control processes;  
- performing security scans, penetration tests on critical applications, resilience tests     
- regular training and awareness of employees in compliance with security requirements for the use of 

computer systems. 
 
During 2021, the IT risks management framework (focus on infrastructure and security) was improved through the 
following actions: 

- The modus operandi inside the IT division was redefined – through the lenses of internal organization  
- The IT headcount increased with a number of new roles, positions that were addressed to an extent 
- The main datacentre relocation was started, incorporating the replacement of main telecommunication 

solution 
- DynaTrace system was implemented in order to support the mobile / internet banking application 
- The single source of data project was started, in order to address the reporting risks highlighted by the Nation 

Bank of Romania. It is focused both on internal and external reports.  
- The storage infrastructure was upgraded in order to cope with the existing and forecasted load on the systems 
- The procedures regarding the collection and monitoring logs from the IT systems and the security scans of the 

information systems - have been updated; 
- The security plans for the following applications have been developed/updated: Internet and Mobile Banking, 

Electronic Payment Systems and video bank system;  
- The Business Continuity Plan (BCP) has been updated and tested based on contingency simulation exercises 

or concrete actions such as the relocation of the primary data centre 
- IT security system optimizations were performed by reviewing and updating rules and policies in accordance 

with new scenarios and attack vectors (Email Security Gateway, Traffic Monitor, EndPoint Protection, SIEM); 
- Penetration tests were performed on Internet and Mobile Bankig, Ipotecarium, SME and KYC applications;  
- The cyber resilience test was carried out for attacks on the IT infrastructure used to process payments through 

which a theft of data from inside the bank was simulated. The execution of the cyber resilience test scenario 
was carried out through a table-top exercise and an open discussion through an online meeting, in which key 
representatives from First Bank participated  

- For the internal E-learning platform, the first training material for Information Security was developed, a 
training that all bank employees have the obligation to go through and promote through an evaluation test; 

- Awareness campaigns for bank employees to comply with IT security measures have been intensified; 
 

8. Business development - innovation  
 

During 2021, FirstBank continued its digitalization roadmap, with the same stated purpose, of providing its customers with 
a digital experience with human interaction, improving the Mobile apps and internet banking platform. As a testimony of 
our efforts, our apps are highly appreciated by customers both in Apple Store and in Google Pay obtaining high ratings (at 
25.03.2022 - 4.8 in App Store and 4.4 on Google Play). 
 
In accordance with the proposed strategy, the Bank delivered several important projects:  

a) In March 2021 we added a new series of functionalities to the mobile banking application: transaction history, 
beneficiary definition, re-initiation of payments, collection confirmations.  

b) In May 2021 we launched Mortgage E2E digital app – Ipotecarium, an easy, digital flow for mortgage 
applications, with electronic signing of documents, available both in Video Banking and in branches. This 
process significantly reduced the number of customer’s branch visits to sign all documentation, clients 
benefiting from a private virtual space that facilitates documents signing and transfer.  

c) In June 2021 we implemented for First Bank customers who own Fitbit or Garmin smartwatches the possibility 
to make payments at POS terminals that accept contactless payments, using only the device on their wrist.  

d) In August 2021, a series of new functionalities were implemented in the mobile banking application: 

• "Top up" functionality, with which our customers can instantly transfer money to their account with 
FirstBank from any card issued in Romania. 

• Alerts & Push notifications for credit/debit events at account level as well as notifications for other owned 
products, this way being able to inform customers about the events on their accounts more easily and in 
a more modern way. 

• First Bank in Huawei App Gallery 
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e) In August 2021, the KYC E2E customers’ data update web portal for both individual and legal customers was 

finalized, allowing customers to go through a simple and safe process remotely, without any interaction with 
the branch, 24/7 

f) In august 2021, there have been embedded into Micro Creditum application fund-based products (IMM Invest 
Program and standard FNGCIMM Program), being added to the existing lending products portfolio in the new 
dedicated application (who partially automated micro lending flow) 

g) In September 2021 we changed the design of the cards in the First Bank portfolio.  Through this redesign, the 
image of the new cards reflects the rebranding of First Bank and its modern look. They turn into artistic 
accessories, which transmit to our customers our values, as well as the story of modern American artists, who 
revolutionized the history of art 

h) Starting in September 2021, First Bank cards could be enrolled in Google Pay, allowing Android users to make 
any contactless payments 

i) Starting in November 2021, First Bank cards could be enrolled in Apple Pay, allowing Apple users to make any 
contactless payments. In the same month, another major development was the integration of marketing with 
Google and Facebook. This development has allowed us to better target potential customers online. 

 
Furthermore, in 2022, we intend to focus on improving customer experience with functionalities like single sign on, 
whereby we will facilitate our customers to authenticate in the app and approve transactions with only one set of 
credentials (biometric or other) for multiple profiles of individuals or legal entities. This will enhance the synergy between 
legal entity and the person with signing rights as an individual consumer. We will further improve our self-service 
capabilities to allow our customers to manage to large extent their relationship with us from their mobile device. 

 

9. Human Resources 
 
At 31 December 2021, the total number of employees was 1039, with 980 active employees and 59 suspended contracts, 
compared to 1063, with 955 active employees (excluding suspended contracts) the previous year. At 31 December 2019, 
the total number of employees was 924 with 885 active employees. In 2021 the ratio between Head Office staff and 
network staff was 59% in the HO and 41% in the Network.  
 
In 2021 the Human Resources Division that had transformed its operating model the year before had as focus the 
consolidation of the management systems introduced, by a full adoption thereof in the organization’s processes and 
employee lifecycle.  
 
Employee engagement and eNPS became relevant KPIs at management level and witnessed an increase from 6.8 / 10 in 
2020 at the first measurement in October, to 7.5 / 10 in October 2021.  
 
Cost control and forecasting for staff was kept under strict control and yielded an under-budget execution at the end of 
the year also aided by a still intensive turnover. Turnover remained a concern especially in the network where the footprint 
shrinkage had an echo in the employee morale. We started working on a specific project to address network employee 
turnover and successfully finalized the first pillar at the end of the year. 
 
People development was chosen as a differentiator in the talent market therefore the allocated budget / employee was 
above the banking market median during 2021. Also, new skills were introduced and developed with FirstBank employees 
such as: Design Thinking, a large range of soft skills, functional skills. The Manager role program where almost 200 
managers participated as mandatory blended learning program was a landmark for the managerial and leadership 
development for the year.  
 
The one stop shop platform for internal employee’s communication and activation gained traction and was adopted by 
the organization.  
 
A very important area for Human Resources in 2021 was Regulatory. HR updated most of its policies and procedures (over 
95%) and aligned all its practices to the new NBR Regulation 11/2020.   
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Appendix: 1 NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

 
Description of the business model 
The Bank offers a large range of products and services, which covers a wide diversity of saving products, financing for individuals 
and companies, factoring, financial leasing, co-financing for European funds and capital market services. The Bank has a fully-
fledged digital platform providing access to a wide spectrum of banking services.  
 
The Bank operates under a customer-focused business model, having the customer in the heart of all activities. The Bank 
focuses on individual customers, small and mid-sized companies aiming to deliver exceptional customer service. The customer 
service will be the foundation of the relationship the Bank wants to develop with its clients 
 
The main pillars of our Strategy are the following: 

- Customer-centric delivery, with deep customer knowledge; 
- High quality human resource operating to high levels of effectiveness; 
- Technology deployed for innovative front-end propositions and efficient back end using data and analytics; 
- Disciplined and compliant execution and governance providing consistent and sustainable profitability. 

 
The Bank aims to secure its long-term competitiveness by achieving operational excellence. The objective remains to deliver 
organic capital generation through sustainable profitability. The Bank targets a strong capital position, striving to maintain 
adequate capital buffers aligned to its risk profile. The Bank aims to secure a stable liquidity position, having as main pillar 
customers’ deposits, maximizing on core deposits through high quality and effective servicing. 
 
The Bank wants to attract, retain and engage qualified professionals, capable of providing high quality services to customers 
and guaranteeing the sustainability and the success of the business. 
 
Our mission 
Our mission is to serve as a reliable partner for our customers, responsibly providing safe, simple and handy financial products 
and services.  
 
We are here to offer the best customer experience, while opening the door to new opportunities and consolidating the future 
together. 
 
We are committed to dedicating our people, technology and expertise to a common goal: to help the customers, shareholders 
and communities we serve to grow. 
 
We believe in integrity, client first, passion for sustainable results, teamwork, innovation, community involvement. 
 
Brand 
In 2021, First Bank aimed to improve consumers' perception and interest in its brand.  
 
After the peak recorded in October 2020, brand awareness for First Bank saw a slight decline (from 12% total spontaneous in 
June to 10% in October 2021), in line with the entire market. This seems to be a more general market trend in the last period – 
meaning banks are not so much of a priority for consumers and occupy less of consumers’ mind space (linked to lower media 
spending in the entire sector in 2021)- Covid pandemic context. Still, at 10% spontaneous awareness, First Bank ranks 10th on 
the market, first among medium/small sized banks. 
 
On a positive note, the brand starts to crop up in first mentions (top of mind awareness) in Bucharest and among clients with 
above average income. 
 
Advertising awareness for First Bank records a slight uptick in the last period (from 5% to 6% in spontaneous and from 15% to 
18% in overall awareness). 
In terms of image, First Bank manages to maintain a clear image: a modern bank, innovating, orientated towards technology. 
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Corporate Social Responsibility 
At First Bank, integrity, transparency, security and giving back are some of our main values. This helps us to innovate and deliver 
smart and easy-to-use services and products for our clients. Also, this means tailoring an inclusive, inspiring, and safe 
environment and culture for our employees while also encouraging them to support those who are in need. 
 
We are always focused on making important contributions to society, both by offering people effective banking services and 
products and by developing CSR programs. In 2021, children in need were in our focus and thus our colleagues offered 
Christmas presents to children in care institutions who wrote letters to the Bank of Clothes initiative. Also, other call to actions 
for our colleagues to donate to children were launched last year, Magic Association being one of the benefiters. We continue 
to work collaboratively with our business partners to support their own CSR agendas. 
 

i. Delivering for our clients 
 
We create value for our clients by delivering what they expect in the most convenient way, making processes smarter and 
customer experiences better. We do this by using smart technology and the skills and expertise of our people. 
 
We listen and respond to what our clients tell us, understanding their changing needs and working with them to ensure we 
meet their expectations. We strive to deliver operational excellence and are committed to maintaining and improving the 
services we provide to our clients. 
 
To provide us with an understanding of key client satisfaction, we have implemented regular feedback mechanisms. This helps 
us to identify where we need to work harder and where there is the potential to add value to our clients’ operations. 
 

ii. Our people and culture 
 
Attracting and retaining talent: 
To recruit and retain the best talent we need to provide a workplace that is inclusive, inspiring and supportive. We want our 
employees to be empowered and motivated, enabling them to make better decisions and respond to our clients’ needs 
effectively. In this respect, we have created an environment in which every employee may have access to a variety of 
developmental actions. For the high potential and talented employees, we continued the mentoring program where selected 
mentors and mentees participated at different developmental actions and had specific objectives to improve the leadership 
capabilities.  
 
Attracting talents is a challenge for the most industries; therefore, we have developed policies that promote an objective 
assessment of internal and external candidates according to the selection criteria established. Priority is given to existing 
employees as part of the Bank’s efforts to support and promote its own human resources. In this respect, all openings are 
announced to the employees and they are encouraged to apply. There are developed transparent selection criteria and there 
are clear definitions of job categories and hierarchical levels, as well as the potential career path.  
 
The recruitment process is based on adequate procedures, free of discrimination, utilising specific candidate selection systems 
by using modern appraisal and selection instruments. These instruments may vary according to the candidate’s educational 
and experience level and include both competency tests and professional tests. 
 
Embedding our values: 
We have a common set of values which are reflected in our policies and embedded across our business. These values and their 
associated behaviors shape who we are as a business and underpin our success. Our ethical code was developed in line with 
our values setting out our commitments and ensuring that our employees speak up if they see behaviors that are not consistent 
with our values. 
 
Talent management: 
We work hard to build and retain strong, stable teams and leadership. We use this in conjunction with our performance 
management system to identify high performing individuals. We recognize that to deliver excellent service to our clients we 
need to ensure that our employees in our operations are equipped with the right skills. We develop training for our people 
including the induction, class and e-learning programs. These programs give employees the opportunity to develop the skills to 
create and sustain high performing teams and navigate the challenges they may face within their business.  
 

  



 

Translation from the original Romanian version. 

24 

Diversity and inclusion: 
Having a diverse workforce brings fresh perspectives and helps us to create truly innovative solutions that benefit our clients 
and help improve our own market competitiveness. We are committed to developing an inclusive culture that reflects the 
diversity of our clients, their customers and the communities in which we work.  
 
Health and safety: 
By making sure that we take care of the health and safety of our people we reduce risks across our business, protecting our 
reputation and that of our clients. We have an established health and safety management system and all our employees have 
to complete training as part of their induction.  
 
Employee wellbeing: 
We recognize that a healthy, motivated workforce is good for business, reducing sickness absence and increasing retention 
rates. We're focused on helping our people to more easily manage their work and personal lives. Our HR policies are designed 
to help our people recharge, be there for their families, meet their commitments and support their personal challenges.  
 
Reward and recognition: 
We want to retain the best talent across our business and believe in recognizing and rewarding employees who put our values 
into practice. The remuneration policy aims to create a framework for the remuneration and supports performance-driven 
culture, which brings the Bank’s objectives in line with the stakeholder’s objectives (employees, management and 
shareholders) and motivates employees to continue acting on the Bank’s best interest.  
 
Employee engagement: 
Listening to and valuing the opinions of our people is good for productivity and it helps us shape our future business. We engage 
with our employees through several different ways, ensuring they receive regular updates including those relating to the 
performance of our business. We actively encourage their feedback as they have a clear view of our operations and their ideas 
can help us deliver for our clients. 
 
Collective bargaining and freedom of association:  
The Bank respects all principles governing human resources. All human resources regulations are driven by human rights’ 
principles.  The Bank offers equal opportunities to its employees and applies similar policies no matter sex, race, color, religion, 
sexual orientation, nationality, physical aptitudes, etc. Equal opportunities refer to unitary, correct and impartial treatment to 
all employees and development of working conditions to consolidate and respect diversity, ensure dignity at work, in a broader 
vision of the society. Such principles are incorporated in the Collective Labor Contract.  
 

iii. Business conduct and ethics: 
 
Our reputation for integrity is one of our most important assets. We hold ourselves to standards that not only meet those 
required by the laws and regulations that apply to us, but also to our principles, which are rooted in exceeding our clients’ 
expectations. We believe in operating with integrity, both in our business decision making and the conduct of our employees. 
Our code of conduct sets out basic principles to guide employee conduct. The code is supported by employee conduct policies 
and programs and reinforced through regular training. 
We have zero tolerance in relation to illegal or unethical conduct and this is articulated in our relevant policies. 
 
Conflicts of interest 
The specific internal policy provides advice/ guidance to the Bank’s personnel to identify situations which could potentially 
generate conflicts of interest and the management of these situations, if the case. The Conflict of Interests Policy includes 
obligations that must be upheld by both the members of the management body of the Bank, that is, members of the Board of 
Directors and of the Executive Committee, and the employees of each structure. 
 
The management of the related risk relies on the following principles: tone at the top, separation of responsibilities, internal 
controls, testing and audit. An important part of this program is represented by the Annual Campaign regarding the disclosure 
of situations that could potentially generate conflicts of interests, when all Bank personnel must submit their statements to be 
analyzed at the Compliance level by using the dedicated platform, i.e. the Conflict of Interests Management Application.  
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Whistle Blowing 
The Whistle Blowing concept was developed and implemented in the Bank in order to proactively establish a communication 
channel for disclosing anonymously reports / complaints about a possible illegitimacy, serious irregularity or offence, which is 
detected regarding an employee, collaborator or affiliated person. A basic and inviolable attribute of the Whistle Blowing Policy 
is the protection of the anonymity and the confidentiality principle of the data of the individuals submitting such reports, as 
well as, the assurance that their current position and their future professional development shall not be affected as a result of 
the related audit report issued. The Whistle Blowing process is managed by the Bank’s Internal Audit function and has as 
beneficiaries the Audit and Risk Management Committees and Executive Committee. 
 
Anti-corruption  
First Bank performs its activity in accordance with the Romanian law, harmonized with the principles set by European applicable 
regulations, the UK Bribery Act (“UKBA”), and the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”). The Bank has zero-
tolerance regarding corrupted practices, including, but not limited to bribery and corruption. Bank staff are not allowed to 
offer, promise or accept anything of value (including gifts, hospitality or meals) to any person for the purpose of obtaining an 
improper advantage. Similarly, Bank staff may not claim or accept such improper payments or benefits.  
 
Preventing, detecting and reporting bribery and any other corrupted practices are the responsibilities of all the Bank’s 
personnel. Furthermore, all Bank personnel must sign an Anticorruption Certification on an annual basis in order to formally 
agree with all the rules of the Anticorruption Policy and to report any potential violations. During 2021, the Anticorruption 
Procedural Framework of First Bank was developed continuously. Periodical checks were performed as part of the Compliance 
Assurance Testing with focus on Third Party risk and integrity of the employees from the perspective of corruption risk.  
 
Anti-Money Laundering/Counter Terrorism Financing 
The Bank has set up AML / CTF policies and procedures in accordance with the relevant legislation and best practices. We target 
the long-term success and stability by attracting and managing funds obtained only from legal sources. 
 
In this respect, the Bank adopts policies and procedures regarding the management of the risk related to money laundering 
and terrorism financing. The policies and procedures in place include, among other, the continued development of compliance 
and risk management measures, ongoing monitoring of policies and procedures implementation, implementation of applicable 
legislation, as well as the financial sector regulations and best practices. All this gives assurance that the services and products 
offered by the Bank will not be used for the purposes of money laundering and / or terrorist financing, or violations of the 
provisions on the application of international sanctions. 
 
These regulations apply to all employees, who are required to make all the efforts to ensure that the products and the services 
of the Bank are not used for money laundering and terrorism financing. 
 
Personal data protection 
Protecting personal data is important for observing data subjects’ fundamental rights and freedoms, for ensuring the 
compliance with legal obligations and for safeguarding Bank’s reputation. 
 
In this respect, in line with General Data protection Regulation requirements (“GDPR”), the Bank has implemented technical 
and organizational measures that include, among other, implementing policies and procedures for the processing of personal 
data such data protection policy, procedure for handling and assessing data breaches, procedure for handling the requests of 
data subjects regarding the exercise of the rights provided by the GDPR, procedure regarding data protection impact 
assessment), issuing guidelines for processing personal data of the employees, informing the data subjects about the processing 
of their data,  implementing technical and organizational measures for ensuring the security of the personal data, implementing 
technical features for collecting and managing data subjects’ consents for profiling and marketing purposes, aligning Bank’s 
working procedures with GDPR requirements, providing training and awareness programs. 
 
Digital security 
The Bank is fully compliant with all Romanian regulations regarding the IT security. The digital security is under the responsibility 
of Chief Information Security Officer. To fight cybercrime, the Bank has implemented solutions to protect the assets and 
transactions of its customers (Individuals and Corporates). The Bank constantly strives to adapt its IT security measures to 
enhance the protection of its customers against continuously growing information security threats. 
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iv. Running a resource-efficient business 
 
We are committed to tackling climate change and protecting our natural resources, and we are therefore taking a proactive 
approach to good environmental management. We know that our environmental performance is important to customers, 
employees and other stakeholders and can create financial savings to support the long-term sustainability of our business. 
 
Being a business mainly based on office work, our main impact on the environment comes from the carbon emissions generated 
by energy consumption and business travel, so we focus our efforts on this. In addition, although our water consumption is not 
significant, we have made efforts to conserve this resource. We also manage the use of resources and waste where possible. 
 
Direct impact on the environment 
We aim to reduce the environmental impact of our operations by managing energy, paper and water consumption, 
transportation services, and reducing our overall emissions and waste. In this regard, we are committed to: 
 

- Reduce energy consumption by focusing on energy efficiency solutions that optimize its use in the building and minimize 
the impact of data centers; 

o Headquarter - investments in lighting infrastructure by installing presence sensors and reducing by 30% 
the consumption of electricity 

o Headquarter - reducing the temperature in the office area in the cold season from 25 to 24 degrees Celsius 
and raising temperatures in hot weather season from 24 to 25 degrees Celsius. In this way we target a 5% 
reduction in electricity consumption dedicated to these processes 

o Headquarter - reduction and relocation of servers in superior locations in terms of energy (cloud type). In 
this way the electricity consumption is reduced by 30% 

o Headquarter - Scheduling the closure of monitors and stations outside working hours and thus reducing 
electricity consumption by 20% 

o In the network of branches - installation of programming and monitoring systems of energy consumption 
for the cold season, to reduce by 10% the consumption of natural gas and electricity 

o In the network of branches - change of air conditioning systems and reduction by 10% of electricity 
consumption 

o In the network of branches - replacement of lighting systems, from neon to LEDs and 30% reduction in 
electricity consumption 

- Reduce paper consumption and minimize the paper used for marketing and distribution activities whenever possible  

- We reduce the amount of waste we produce and recycle, including IT waste 

- We reduce emissions from our business travel by minimizing the number of long-distance trips of employees, stimulating 
the use of alternative means of communication. Whenever we cannot avoid business travel, we will seek to do so using 
the means of transportation with the least level of environmental impact 

- We are looking for suppliers who support us in this endeavor through business solutions and practices 

- Reducing the number of cars by 27% and using modern transport type sharing systems - UBER example  
 
We believe that changing our behavior is essential to reducing our impact on the environment. Therefore, we will continually 
seek to draw the attention of employees and business partners to the importance of making environmentally sound choices 
and following our principles in this regard. 
 
Indirect environmental impacts 
In addition to reducing our environmental footprint, we strive to minimize our indirect environmental impact by providing 
products and services that promote environmentally sound behavior. We want to incorporate corporate responsibility 
considerations into our business activities. Environmental issues are taken into account for the development of new products, 
as well as inclusion in the criteria we use for credit decisions. 
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